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PART

In addition to historical information this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of

Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The forward-

looking statements are not historical facts but rather are based on current expectations estimates and

projections about our business and industry and our beliefs and assumptions Words such as anticipate

believe estimate expect intend plan will and variations of these words and similar expressions

identify forward-looking statements These statements are not guarantees offuture performance and are subject

to risks uncertainties and other factors many of which are beyond our control are difficult to predict and could

cause actual results to dffer materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements

These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to those described in Item 1A Risk Factors and

elsewhere in this report Forward-looking statements that were believed to be true at the time made may

ultimately prove to be incorrect or false We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of

any revision to these forward-looking statements Given these risks and uncertainties readers are cautioned not

to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

KANA Software Inc the Company or KANA offers an innovative approach to customer service with

cost-effective solutions that enhance the quality of multi-channel customer service interactions Built on open

standards for high degree of adaptability and integration KANA solutions intelligently automate the processes

needed to successfully serve our clients customers so that our clients can deliver higher value service at lower

cost increasing customer retention and loyalty We provide an integrated solution which enables organizations to

deliver consistent managed service across all channels including e-mail chat call centers and Web self-service

ensuring consistent service experience across communication channels We are headquartered in Menlo Park

California with offices throughout the United States as well as Europe and Japan

We were incorporated in July 1996 in California and reincorporated in Delaware in September 1999

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to we our and us collectively refer to KANA our

predecessor and our subsidiaries and their predecessors Our principal executive offices are located at 181

Constitution Drive Menlo Park California 94025 and our telephone number is 650 614-8300 Our Internet

website is located at http//www.kana.com

Our Strategy

Deliver world-class products solutions to Global 2000 enterprises and enable these organizations to

improve customer loyalty and retention increase corporate revenue and reduce the cost of service We believe

that significant percentage of an enterprises cost of providing service to its customers resides in efficiently and

effectively managing and resolving individual customer questions and problems or cases These cases must be

received routed tracked and resolved by customer service agents While many enterprises possess technology

capable of routing and tracking cases the actual resolution of customer issues is largely unautomated and

therefore is particularly costly Our knowledge-powered customer service solutions focus on automating the

service experience across multiple channels The majority of our license revenues are for applications that are

used by our customers agents Assisted Service or directly by their customers Web Self-Service empowering

them with knowledge and information to resolve their issues

Partner with the worlds leading systems integrators Our strategy is to focus our efforts on the sale of

software and support and to enter into strategic relationships with leading systems integrators in order to provide

our customers with wide range of implementation systems integration and consulting services Our

professional services organization was augmented in 2007 by our acquisition of eVergance Partners LLC



eVergance consulting and services firm that provides our systems integrator partners with additional

resources and subject matter expertise on our applications Our customers can benefit from these systems

integrators deep knowledge of our products as well as their industry expertise and proven integration success In

addition these systems integrators employ larger sales forces than we do and we generally coordinate our sales

efforts with them

Deliver industry-specific applications Some industries such as banking telecommunications and

healthcare have exceptionally high volumes of customer interactions and providing consistent and accurate

feedback to customers of companies in these industries has become increasingly difficult as the products and

offerings of such companies have become increasingly complicated We continue to expand our portfolio of

applications through our professional services and systems integrator relationships

Products

We provide suite of customer service software solutions Around the world our multi-channel customer

service solutions are helping Global 2000 companies provide more intelligent effective interactions with

customers helping them build loyal and lasting customer relationships while reducing costs in the contact center

Our suite of multi-channel solutions is built on open standards for high degree of adaptability and

flexibility Our solutions provide critical link between call centers and transactional back end systems allowing

organizations to have effective efficient interactions with customers across points of contact including Web
telephone and e-mail and throughout the enterprise We employ robust reporting tools across our entire product

family to allow companies to continually analyze and improve their customer and partner relationships These

features enable Global 2000 companies and other enterprises to reduce the cost of information access for their

employees customers and partners while creating profitable customer relationships

Our customers can deploy our multi-channel solutions as complete suite or as separate applications Our

solutions include the following products

KANA IQBringing together self-service application for customers and an assisted-service solution

for contact center agents KANA IQ is sophisticated knowledge management application that guides

customers and agents through the process of finding answers enabling them to quickly and accurately

locate the information they need

KANA ResponseKANA Response is robust e-mail management system which intelligently

automates the
process

of managing high-volume email and Web forms in the contact center

KANA Response LiveKANA Response Live delivers comprehensive live chat and Web page

co-browsing so that Web self-service customers can engage in online conversations with agents

KANA Contact CenterKANA Contact Center is multi-channel customer service application for

contact centers that provides an intelligent agent desktop with one-stop access to relevant customers

and service data multi-channel history request management and extranet workflow

Our applications are designed to easily integrate with other enterprise software and legacy systems They
can be installed on systems running Solaris AIX Linux or Windows operating systems and provide customers

with capabilities for personalization customer profile management inquiry management universal business

rules knowledge management and workflow They can be linked with customers legacy systems allowing

customers to design their systems to preserve previous investments Our service-oriented architecture uses data

modeling to make data located in external systems available in our application without requiring the data to be

moved or replicated Our applications are built on single Web-architected platform which offers service

oriented framework that provides our customers with full access to our applications using standard Web
browser and without requiring them to install additional software on their individual computers



Alliances

We enter into strategic relationships with leading systems integrators that have developed significant

expertise with our applications and are able to provide customers with wide range of consulting

implementation
and systems integration services In addition many of these systems integrators act as resellers

for our products and we rely on them for assistance in driving our sales efforts We believe that support for our

products by these systems integrators is increasingly important in influencing new customers decisions to

license our products In addition to our consulting services and systems integration subsidiary eVergance we

work with several third-party systems integrators and consulting firms including IBM Global Business Services

IBM These systems integrators have been integral to our success in selling our products to large-

organizations such as ATT Bank of America Cummins DVLA JetBlue Metlife 02 and TD Waterhouse

Services and Support

Customer Support Our customer support group uses our own applications to provide multi-channel global

support for our customers and partners

Professional Services Our worldwide consulting and education services group provides business and

technical expertise to support our customers and alliance partners Our consulting services group works closely

with our customers to address the people and process areas common to every enterprise deployment along with

systems integrators during implementations to lend technical experience and functional product expertise and to

assist the systems integrators in providing our customers with high-quality successful enterprise-wide

implementations Education services provide full set of training programs and materials for our customers and

partners including comprehensive set of courses for end users business consultants and developers which are

available through instructor-led Web-based and on-site classes

Sales

Our sales strategy is to focus on Global 2000 companies through our direct sales force We have commercial

sales teams that cover named accounts within geographical territories as well as vertical account manager for

the federal government We maintain direct sales personnel across North America and in Europe and Japan Our

Inside Sales Organization focuses on departmental strategy within the Global 2000 and the high end of the

mid-market We also have Renewals team that works with our existing customers to renew their maintenance

and support agreements

Customers

Our customers range from Global 2000 companies to growing companies who want to differentiate their

businesses through the delivery of superior customer service The following is list of customers that we believe

are representative of our overall customer base

Financial Services Communications

Bank of America ATT
Bank Leumi Brighthouse Networks

Barclays BSkyB

Capital One Corn Hem

ING Postbank COX Communications

JP Morgan Chase Hutchison 3G

Principal Financial Group 02

TD Ameritrade Sprint

TD Waterhouse UK Telekom Austria

Wells Fargo
Telenor

Time Warner Cable

T-Mobile



Health Care Government

Abbott Laboratories
City of AmsterdamlGemeente Amsterdam

Aetna Defense Information Systems Agency

Allergan Her Majesty Revenues Customs HMRC
Cigna HealthCare United States Postal Services

Highmark Inc

Kaiser Permanente

MetLife

IJnited HealthGroup

WeliPoint

High Technology Travel/Hospitality

Dell Computer Corp American Airlines

DST Systems Avis Budget Group
Garmin Best Western International

IBM Carlson Companies
Palm Disney

Siemens Icelandair

Sony JetBlue Airways

Xerox Northwest Airlines

Yahoo Priceline.com

Starwood Hotels Resorts

America West Airlines

Retail

American Girl

Avon.com

Barnes Noble

Best Buy

Carphone Warehouse

eBay Inc

Estee Lauder

Home Depot

JC Penney

Sears

Staples.com

Target

The Gap

Tiffany Company

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues in 2008 portion of our license and services

revenues in
any given quarter has been and we expect will continue to be generated from limited number of

customers We consider ourselves to be in single industry segmentspecifically the licensing and support of

our software applications Revenue classification is based upon customer location See Note 12 of the Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for geographic information

on revenues for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and long-lived assets for the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007

Research and Development

We believe that strong product development capabilities are essential to our strategy of enhancing our core

technology developing additional applications incorporating that technology and maintaining the

competitiveness of our product and service offerings We have invested significant time and resources in creating

structured process for undertaking all product development



Our success significantly depends on our ability to enhance our existing customer service solutions and to

develop new services functionality and technology that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs

of our existing and prospective customers The challenges of developing new products and enhancements require

us to commit substantial amount of resources We might not be able to develop or introduce new products on

timely or cost-effective basis or at all which could lead existing and potential customers to choose

competitors products

Our research and development expenses were $13.8 million $12.7 million and $10.8 million in 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively

Competition

The market for our products and services is intensely competitive evolving and subject to rapid

technological change We currently face competition for our products from software designed by our customers

in-house development teams and by third parties We expect these competing software applications to continue to

be major source of competition for the foreseeable future Our primary competitors for customer relationship

management CRM software platforms are larger more established companies such as Oracle We also face

competition from companies such as Chordiant Software Salesforce.com Consona eGain RightNow InQuira

and Pegasystems with respect to several specific applications we offer We may face increased competition upon

introduction of new products or upgrades from competitors

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our industry include having significant base of

customers recommending our products the breadth and depth of given solution product cost product quality

and performance customer service product scalability and reliability product features ability to implement

solutions and perception of financial position We believe that our products currently compete favorably with

respect to many of these factors and in particular that our Web-based architecture provides us with

competitive advantage because it allows for greater product scalability and rapid implementation However we

may not be able to maintain our competitive position against current and potential competitors especially those

with greater financial marketing service support technical and other resources and who may for example be

able to add features or functionality to their competing products more quickly or decide to sell their competing

products to their existing customer bases for other products

Seasonality

Our business is influenced by seasonal trends largely due to customer buying patterns These trends may

include higher license revenues in the fourth quarter as many customers complete annual budgetary cycles and

lower license revenues in the first quarter and summer months when many of our prospects and customers

experience lower sales Our professional services are negatively impacted in the fourth quarter due to the holiday

season in which fewer billable hours are available for our consultants In addition our international operations

experience slowdown in the summer months

Intellectual Property

We rely upon combination of patent copyright trade secret and trademark laws and contractual

restrictions such as confidentiality agreements and licenses to establish and protect our proprietary rights We

currently have five issued U.S patents three of which expire in 2018 and two of which expire in 2020 and

number of U.S patent applications pending We have also filed international patent applications corresponding to

some of our U.S applications In addition we have several trademarks that are registered or pending registration

in the U.S and abroad Although we rely on patent copyright trade secret and trademark laws to protect our

technology we believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel new product

development frequent product enhancements and reliable product maintenance are more essential to establishing

and maintaining technology leadership position



Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise
obtain and use our products or technology or to develop products with the same functionality as our products

Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult Also the laws of other countries in which we market our

products may offer little or no effective protection of our proprietary technology Furthermore our competitors
could

independently develop technologies equivalent to ours and our intellectual
property rights may not be

broad enough for us to prevent such competitors from selling products incorporating those technologies Reverse

engineering unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprietary technology could enable third

parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it which would significantly harm our business

Substantial litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in our industry We expect that software in

our industry may be increasingly subject to third-party infringement claims as the number of competitors grows
and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps Some of our competitors in the market
for customer communications software may have filed or may intend to file patent applications covering aspects
of their technology that they may claim our technology infringes Such competitors could make claim of

infringement against us with respect to our products and technology Third parties may currently have or may
eventually be issued patents upon which our current or future products or technology infringe Any of these third

parties might make claim of infringement against us See Item 1A Risk FactorsWe may become involved
in litigation over proprietary rights which could be costly and time consuming

Backlog

As of December 31 2008 and 2007 we had $16.4 million and $20.1 million respectively in backlog which
relates to firm orders with $86000 and $419000 respectively not expected to be recognized within one year
due to the timing of obligations in the underlying agreements The majority of these firm orders relate to annual

support contracts and were invoiced and recorded as deferred revenue as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 229 full-time employees compared to 225 full-time employees as of
December 31 2007 Of the 229 employees as of December 31 2008 69 were in our services and support group
60 were in sales and marketing 65 were in research and development and 35 were in finance legal information

technology IT and administration



ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

We operate in dynamic and rapidly changing business environment that involves substantial risks and

uncertainty including but not limited to the specific risks identified below The risks described below are not the

only ones facing our company Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial

may become important factors that impair our business operations Any of these risks could cause or contribute

to causing our actual results to differ materially from expectations Prospective and existing investors are

strongly urged to carefully consider the various cautionary statements and risks set forth in this report and our

other public filings

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Current uncertainty in global economic conditions makes it particularly dfficuIt to predict demand and other

related matters and makes it more likely that our actual results could differ materially from expectations

Our operations and performance depend on worldwide economic conditions which have recently

deteriorated significantly in the United States and other countries and may remain depressed for the foreseeable

future These conditions make it difficult for our customers and potential customers to accurately forecast and

plan future business activities and could cause our customers and potential customers to slow or reduce spending

on our products and services Furthermore during challenging economic times our customers may face issues

gaining timely access to sufficient credit which could impact their willingness to make purchases or their ability

to make timely payments to us If that were to occur we may experience
decreased sales be required to increase

our allowance for doubtful accounts and our days sales outstanding could be negatively impacted We cannot

predict the timing strength or duration of any economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovery worldwide

in the United States or in our industry These and other economic factors could have material adverse effect on

demand for our products and services on our ability to predict future operating results and on our financial

condition and operating results

In periods of worsening economic conditions our exposure to credit risk and payment delinquencies on our

accounts receivable significantly increases

substantial majority of our outstanding accounts receivables are not covered by collateral In addition our

standard terms and conditions permit payment within specified number of days following the receipt of our

product While we have procedures to monitor and limit exposure to credit risk on our receivables there can be

no assurance such procedures will effectively limit our credit risk and avoid losses As economic conditions

deteriorate certain of our customers have faced and may face liquidity concerns and have delayed and may delay

or may be unable to satisfy their payment obligations which would have material adverse effect on our

financial condition and operating results

We have history of losses and may not be able to generate sufficient revenues to achieve and maintain

profitability

Since we began operations in 1997 our revenues have not been sufficient to support our operations and we

have incurred substantial operating losses every year As of December 31 2008 our accumulated deficit was

approximately $4.3 billion which includes approximately $2.7 billion related to goodwill impairment charges

Our stockholders equity at December 31 2008 was $2.6 million We continue to commit substantial

investment of resources to sales product marketing and developing new products and enhancements and we will

need to increase our revenues to achieve profitability and positive cash flows Our expectations as to when we

can achieve positive cash flows and as to our future cash balances are subject to number of assumptions

including assumptions regarding improvements in general economic conditions and customer purchasing and

payment patterns many of which are beyond our control Our history of losses has previously caused some of

our potential customers to question our viability which has in turn hampered our ability to sell some of our

products Additionally our revenues have been affected by the current downturn in economic conditions both



generally and in our market As result of these conditions we have experienced and expect to continue to

experience difficulties in attracting new customers which means that even if sales of our products and services

grow we may continue to experience losses which may cause the price of our stock to decline

Our ability to continue as going concern is at risk

Our independent public accounting firm has issued an opinion on our consolidated financial statements that

states that the consolidated financial statements were prepared assuming we will continue as going concern and
further states that our recurring losses from operations negative working capital negative cash flow from

operations and accumulated deficit raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as going concern The

global economic downturn created substantially more difficult business environment in 2008 affecting our

liquidity and operating performance If our revenues do not improve and we are unable to reduce operating

expenses sufficiently and we do not obtain additional financing we may become unable to pay our operating

expenses on timely basis due to lack of sufficient liquidity We can give no assurances as to whether we will

be able to implement cost reduction initiatives increase revenues or obtain debt or equity financing in order to

provide sufficient liquidity for us to continue as going concern

The relatively large size of many of our expected license transactions could contribute to our failure to meet

expected sales in any given quarter and could materially harm our operating results

Our revenues and results of operations may fluctuate as result of variety of factors Our revenues are

especially subject to fluctuation because they depend on the completion of relatively large orders for our products
and related services The

average size of our license transactions is generally large relative to our total revenues
in any quarter particularly as we have focused on larger enterprise customers on licensing our more

comprehensive integrated products and have involved systems integrators in our sales process If sales expected
from specific customer in particular quarter are not realized in that quarter we are unlikely to be able to

generate revenue from alternate sources in time to compensate for the shortfall Fluctuations in our results of

operations may be due to number of additional factors including but not limited to our ability to retain and
increase our customer base changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors the timing and success of

new product introductions by us or our competitors the sales cycle for our products our fixed expenses the

purchasing and budgeting cycles of our clients and the decline in general economic industry and market

conditions

This dependence on large orders makes our revenues and operating results more likely to vary from quarter
to quarter and more difficult to predict because the loss of any particular large order is significant In recent

periods we have experienced increases in the length of typical sales cycle This trend may add to the

uncertainty of our future operating results and reduce our ability to anticipate our future revenues Moreover to

the extent that significant sales occur earlier than anticipated revenues for subsequent quarters may be lower

than expected As result our operating results could suffer if any large orders are delayed or canceled in
any

future period in part as result of this aspect of our business our quarterly revenues and operating results may
fluctuate in future periods and we may fail to meet the expectations of investors and public market analysts
which could cause the price of our common stock to decline

We may not be able to forecast our revenues accurately because our products have long and variable sales

cycle and we rely on systems integrators for sales

The long sales cycle for our products may cause license revenues and operating results to vary significantly

from period to period To date the sales cycle for most of our product sales has taken anywhere from to

months Our sales cycle typically requires pre-purchase evaluation by significant number of individuals within

our customers organizations Along with third parties that often jointly market our software with us we invest

significant amount of time and resources educating and providing information to prospective customers

regarding the use and benefits of our products Many of our customers evaluate our software slowly and



deliberately depending on the specific technical capabilities of the customer the size of the deployment the

complexity of the customers network environment and the quantity of hardware and the degree of hardware

configuration necessary to deploy our products

Furthermore we rely to significant extent on systems integrators to identify influence and manage large

transactions with customers and we expect this trend to continue as our industry consolidates Selling our

products in conjunction with our systems integrators who incorporate our products into their offerings can

involve particularly long and unpredictable sales cycle as it typically takes more time for the prospective

customer to evaluate proposals from multiple vendors In addition when systems integrators propose the use of

our products to their customers it is typically part of larger project which can require additional levels of

customer approvals We have little or no control over the sales cycle of an integrator-led transaction or our

customers budgetary constraints and internal decision-making and acceptance processes

As result of increasingly long sales cycles we have faced increased difficulty in predicting our operating

results for any given period and have experienced significant unanticipated fluctuations in our revenues from

period to period Any failure to achieve anticipated revenues for period could cause our stock price to decline

If we fail to generate sufficient revenues to support our business and require additionalfinancing failure to

obtain such financing would affect our ability to maintain our operations and to grow our business and the

terms of any financing we obtain may impair the rights of our existing stockholders

If we fail to generate sufficient revenues to support our business we may need to seek additional financing

to fund our operations or growth If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt

securities the percentage ownership of our stockholders would be reduced and the securities we issue might have

rights preferences and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders Moreover because of current

volatility in the global capital markets and among financial institutions including tightening in the capital and

credit markets if we were to seek funding from the capital or credit markets we may not be able to secure

funding on terms acceptable to us or at all

If adequate funds were not available on acceptable terms our ability to achieve or sustain positive cash

flows maintain current operations fund any potential expansion take advantage of unanticipated opportunities

develop or enhance products or services or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly

limited Furthermore any failure to raise sufficient capital in timely fashion could prevent us from growing or

pursuing our strategies or cause us to limit our operations and cause potential customers to question our financial

viability We had cash and cash equivalents of $7.0 million at December 31 2008 and as of such date had

contractual commitments of $10.2 million in 2009 It is possible that our cash position could decrease over the

next few quarters and some customers could become increasingly concerned about our cash situation and our

ongoing ability to update and maintain our products This could significantly harm our sales efforts

Our cash and cash equivalents could be adversely affected if the financial institutions in which we hold our

cash and cash equivalents fail

Our cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less

at the time of purchase We maintain the cash and cash equivalents with reputable major financial institutions

Deposits with these banks exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance limits or

similar limits in foreign jurisdictions While we monitor daily the cash balances in the operating accounts and

adjust the balances as appropriate these balances could be impacted if one or more of the financial institutions

with which we deposit fails or is subject to other adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets To date we

have experienced no loss or lack of access to our invested cash or cash equivalents however we can provide no

assurance that access to our invested cash and cash equivalents will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the

financial and credit markets



Our business relies heavily on customer service solutions and these solutions may not gain market

acceptance

We have made customer service solutions our main focus and have allocated significant portion of our

research and development and marketing resources to the development and promotion of such products If these

products are not accepted by potential customers our business would be materially adversely affected For our

current business model to succeed we believe that we will need to convince new and existing customers of the

merits of purchasing our customer service solutions over traditional CRM solutions and competitors customer

service solutions Many of these customers have previously invested substantial resources in adopting and

implementing their existing CRM products whether such products are ours or are those of our competitors We

may be unable to convince customers and potential customers of the benefits of purchasing substantial new
software packages that provide our specific customer service capabilities If our strategy of offering customer

service solutions fails we may not be able to sell sufficient quantities of our product offerings to generate

significant license revenues and our business could be harmed

Our expenses are generally fixed and we will not be able to reduce these
expenses quickly if we fail to meet

our revenue expectations

Most of our expenses such as employee compensation are relatively fixed in the short term Other expenses

like leases are fixed and are more long term Moreover our forecast is based in part upon our expectations

regarding future revenue levels As result in any particular quarter our total revenues can be below expectation

and we could not proportionately reduce operating expenses for that quarter Accordingly such revenue

shortfall would have disproportionate negative effect on our expected operating results for that quarter

If we fail to grow our customer base or generate repeat business our operating results could be harmed

Our business model generally depends on the sale of our products to new customers as well as on expanded
use of our products within our customers organizations If we fail to grow our customer base or generate repeat

and expanded business from our current and future customers our business and operating results will be

seriously harmed In some cases our customers initially make limited purchase of our products and services for

pilot programs These customers may not purchase additional licenses to expand their use of our products If

these customers do not successfully develop and deploy initial applications based on our products they may
choose not to purchase deployment licenses or additional development licenses In addition as we introduce new
versions of our products new product lines or new product features our current customers might not require the

additional functionality we offer and might not ultimately license these products Furthermore because the total

amount of maintenance and support fees we receive in any period depends in large part on the size and number of

licenses that we have previously sold any downturn in our software license revenues would negatively affect our

future services revenue Also if customers elect not to renew their
support agreements our services revenue

could decline significantly If customers are unable to pay for their current products or are unwilling to purchase

additional products our revenues would decline Additionally substantial percentage of our sales come from

repeat customers If significant existing customer or group
of existing customers decide not to repeat business

with us our revenues would decline and our business would be harmed

We face substantial competition and may not be able to compete effectively

The market for our products and services is intensely competitive evolving and subject to rapid

technological change From time to time our competitors reduce the prices of their products and services

substantially in certain cases to obtain new customers Competitive pressures could make it difficult for us to

acquire and retain customers and could require us to reduce the price of our products Any such changes would

likely reduce margins and could adversely affect operating results

Our customers requirements and the technology available to satisfy those requirements are continually

changing Therefore we must be able to respond to these changes in order to remain competitive Changes in our
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products may also make it more difficult for our sales force to sell effectively In addition changes in customers

demand for the specific products product features and services of other companies may result in our products

becoming uncompetitive We expect the intensity of competition to increase in the future Furthermore we could

lose market share if our competitors introduce new competitive products add new functionality acquire

competitive products reduce prices or form strategic alliances with other companies We may not be able to

compete successfully against current and future competitors and competitive pressures may seriously harm our

business

Our competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of products and services offered We currently

face competition with our products from systems designed in-house and by our competitors We expect that these

systems will continue to be major source of competition for the foreseeable future Our primary competitors for

electronic CRM platforms are larger more established companies such as Oracle We also face competition from

Chordiarit Software Salesforce.com Consona eGain RightNow Inquira and Pegasystems with respect to

specific applications we offer We may face increased competition upon introduction of new products or

upgrades from competitors or if we expand our product line through acquisition of complementary businesses or

otherwise As we have combined and enhanced our product lines to offer more comprehensive software

solution we are increasingly competing with large established providers of customer management and

communication solutions as well as other competitors Our combined product line may not be sufficient to

successfully compete with the product offerings available from these companies which could slow our growth

and harm our business

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories significantly greater financial technical

marketing and other resources significantly greater name recognition and larger installed base of customers

than we have As result our competitors may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or changing

opportunities technologies standards or client requirements or devote greater resources to the promotion and

sale of their products and services than we can In addition many of our competitors have well-established

relationships with our current and potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our industry We may

lose potential customers to competitors for various reasons including the ability or willingness of competitors to

offer lower prices and other incentives that we cannot match It is possible that new competitors or alliances

among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share We also expect that competition

will increase as result of recent industry consolidations as well as anticipated future consolidations

We rely on marketing technology and distribution relationships for the sale installation and support of our

products that may generally be terminated at any time and if our current and future relationships are not

successful our growth might be limited

We rely on marketing and technology relationships with variety of companies including systems

integrators and consulting firms that among other things generate leads for the sale of our products and provide

our customers with implementation and ongoing support If we cannot maintain successful marketing and

technology relationships or if we fail to enter into such additional relationships we could have difficulty

expanding the sales of our products and our growth might be limited

portion of our revenues depends on leads generated by systems integrators and their recommendations of

our products If systems integrators do not successfully market our products our operating results will be

materially harmed In addition many of our direct sales are to customers that will be relying on systems

integrators to implement our products and if systems integrators are not familiar with our technology or able to

successfully implement our products our operating results will be materially harmed We expect to continue

increasing our leverage of systems integrators as indirect sales channels and if this strategy is successful our

dependence on the efforts of these third parties for revenue growth and customer service will remain high Our

reliance on third parties for these functions has reduced our control over such activities and reduced our ability to

perform such functions internally If we come to rely primarily on single systems integrator that subsequently

terminates its relationship with us becomes insolvent or is acquired by another company with which we have no
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relationship or decides not to provide implementation services related to our products we may not be able to

internally generate sufficient revenues or increase the revenues generated by our other systems integrator

relationships to offset the resulting lost revenues Furthermore systems integrators typically suggest our solution

in combination with other products and services some of which may compete with our solution Systems

integrators are not required to promote any fixed quantities of our products are not bound to promote our

products exclusively and may act as indirect sales channels for our competitors If systems integrators choose not

to promote our products or if they develop market or recommend software applications that compete with our

products our business will be harmed

In addition to relying on systems integrators to recommend our products we also rely on systems integrators

and other third-party resellers to install and support our products If the companies providing these services fail to

implement our products successfully for our customers the customer may be unable to complete implementation

on the schedule that it had anticipated and we may have increased customer dissatisfaction or difficulty making
future sales as result We might not be able to maintain our relationships with systems integrators and other

indirect sales channel partners and enter into additional relationships that will provide timely and cost-effective

customer support and service If we cannot maintain successful relationships with our indirect sales channel

partners we might have difficulty expanding the sales of our products and our growth could be limited In

addition if such third parties do not provide the support our customers need we may be required to hire

subcontractors to provide these professional services Increased use of subcontractors would harm our margins

because it costs us more to hire subcontractors to perform these services than it would to provide the services

ourselves

Because certain customers account for substantial portion of our revenues the loss of significant customer

could cause substantial decline in our revenues

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our revenues in 2006 2007 or 2008 However if we lose

number of major customers or if contracts are delayed or cancelled or we do not contract with new major

customers our revenues and net loss would be adversely affected In addition customers that have accounted for

significant revenues in the past may not generate revenues in any future period and our failure to obtain new
significant customers or additional orders from existing customers could materially affect our operating results

We may not receive significant revenues from our current research and development efforts for several years
if at all

Developing and localizing software is expensive and the investment in product development often involves

long payback cycle We have and expect to continue making significant investments in software research and

development and related product opportunities Enhancing our products and pursuing new product developments

require high levels of expenditures for research and development that could adversely affect our operating results

if not offset by revenue increases We believe that we must continue to dedicate significant amount of resources

to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive position However we do not expect to

receive significant revenues from these investments for several years if at all

If our cost reduction and resfructuring efforts are ineffective our revenues and profltabilily may be hurt

During the year ended December 31 2008 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring

activities to reduce operating costs The expense related to our reduction in work force was approximately

$737000 and expense related to ceasing use of two of our offices was approximately $64000 We also wrote off

approximately $263000 of capitalized costs related to an internal use software project that was abandoned

Additionally during the year ended December 31 2008 we recorded restructuring recovery of $482000 as

result of the extension of sublease on one of the properties in our restructuring accrual In September 2007 we
agreed with the landlord of one of the facilities included in our restructuring accrual to surrender the remaining

term of the lease in exchange for lump sum cash payment As result of this agreement we recorded additional
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restructuring expense of approximately $319000 We also undertook various cost reduction and restructuring

activities in July 2007 The expense related to our reduction in work force was approximately $240000 and

expense related to ceasing use of one of our offices was approximately $8000 These cost reduction and

restructuring activities may not produce the full efficiencies and benefits we expect or the efficiencies and

benefits might be delayed There can be no assurance that these efforts as well as any potential future cost

reduction and restructuring activities will not adversely affect our business operations or customer perceptions

or result in additional future charges

We may be unable to hire and retain the skilled personnel necessary to develop and grow our business

We rely on the continued service of our senior management and other key employees and the hiring of new

qualified employees In the software industry there is substantial and continuous competition for highly skilled

business product development technical and other personnel Given the concern over our long-term financial

strength we may not be successful in recruiting and integrating new personnel and retaining and motivating

existing personnel which could lead to increased turnover and reduce our ability to meet the needs of our current

and future customers Because our stock price declined drastically in recent years and has not experienced any

sustained recovery from the decline stock-based compensation including options to purchase our common

stock may have diminished the effectiveness as employee hiring and retention devices If we are unable to retain

qualified personnel we could face disruptions to operations loss of key information expertise or know-how and

unanticipated additional recruitment and training costs If employee turnover increases our ability to provide

customer service and execute our strategy would be negatively affected

For example our ability to increase revenues in the future depends considerably upon our success in training

and retaining effective direct sales personnel and the success of our direct sales force We might not be

successful in these efforts Our products and services require sophisticated sales efforts We have experienced

significant turnover in our sales force including domestic senior sales management and may experience further

turnover in future periods It generally takes new salesperson nine or more months to become productive and

they may not be able to generate new sales Our business will be harmed if we fail to retain qualified sales

personnel or if newly hired salespeople fail to develop the necessary sales skills or develop these skills more

slowly than anticipated Additionally we continue to need to recruit experienced developers as result of our

back-shoring initiative

If we fail to respond to changing customer preferences in our market demand for our products and our ability

to enhance our revenues will suffer

If we do not continue to improve our products and develop new products that keep pace with competitive

product introductions and technological developments satisfy diverse and rapidly evolving customer

requirements and achieve market acceptance we might be unable to attract new customers Our industry is

characterized by rapid and substantial developments in the technologies and products that enjoy widespread

acceptance among prospective and existing customers The development of proprietary technology and necessary

service enhancements entails significant technical and business risks and requires substantial expenditures and

lead-time We might not be successful in marketing and supporting our products or developing and marketing

other product enhancements and new products that respond to technological advances and market changes on

timely or cost-effective basis In addition even if these products are developed and released they might not

achieve market acceptance We have experienced delays in releasing new products and product enhancements in

the past and could experience similardelays in the future These delays or problems in the installation or

implementation of our new releases could cause us to lose customers

Our failure to manage multiple technologies and technological change could reduce demand for our products

Rapidly changing technology and operating systems changes in customer requirements and evolving

industry standards might impede market acceptance of our products Our products are designed based upon
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currently prevailing technology to work on variety of hardware and software platforms used by our customers

However our software may not operate correctly on evolving versions of hardware and software platforms

programming languages database environments and other systems that our customers use If new technologies

emerge that are incompatible with our products or if competing products emerge that are based on new

technologies or new industry standards and that perform better or cost less than our products our key products

could become obsolete and our existing and potential customers could seek alternatives to our products We must

constantly modify and improve our products to keep pace with changes made to these platforms and to database

systems and other back-office applications and Internet-related applications Furthermore software adapters are

necessary to integrate our products with other systems and data sources used by our customers We must develop

and update these adapters to reflect changes to these systems and data sources in order to maintain the

functionality provided by our products As result uncertainties related to the timing and nature of new product

announcements introductions or modifications by vendors of operating systems databases CRM software Web
servers and other enterprise and Internet-based applications could delay our product development increase our

product development expense or cause customers to delay evaluation purchase and deployment of our analytics

products If we fail to modify or improve our products in response to evolving industry standards our products

could rapidly become obsolete

Our success depends upon our ability to develop new products and enhance our existing products on timely

basis

The challenges of developing new products and enhancements require us to commit substantial investment

of resources to development and we might not be able to develop or introduce new products on timely or cost-

effective basis or at all which could be exploited by our competitors and lead potential customers to choose

alternative products To be competitive we must develop and introduce on timely basis new products and

product enhancements for companies with significant e-business customer interactions needs Our ability to

deliver competitive products may be negatively affected by the diversion of resources to development of our

suite of products and responding to changes in competitive products and in the demands of our customers If we

experience product delays in the future we may face

customer dissatisfaction

cancellation of orders and license agreements

negative publicity

loss of revenues and

slower market acceptance

Furthermore delays in bringing new products or enhancements to market can result for example from loss

of institutional knowledge through reductions in force or the existence of defects in new products or their

enhancements

Failure to license
necessary third-party software incorporated in our products could cause delays or

reductions in our sales

We license third-party software that we incorporate into our products These licenses may not continue to be

available on commercially reasonable terms or at all Some of this technology would be difficult to replace The

loss of any of these licenses could result in delays or reductions of our applications until we identify license and

integrate or develop equivalent software If we are required to enter into license agreements with third parties for

replacement technology we could face higher royalty payments and our products may lose certain attributes or

features In the future we might need to license other software to enhance our products and meet evolving

customer needs If we are unable to do this we could experience reduced demand for our products
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Defects in third-party products associated with our products could impair our products functionality and

injure our reputation

The effective implementation of our products depends upon the successful operation of third-party products

in conjunction with our products Any undetected defects in these third-party products could prevent the

implementation or impair the functionality of our products delay new product introductions or injure our

reputation

Given that our stock price is near its historical low we may be subject to takeover overtures that will divert the

attention of our management and Board and require us to incur expenses for outside advisors

Given that our stock price is near its historical low we may be subject to takeover overtures Evaluating and

addressing these overtures would require the time and attention of our management and Board divert them from

their focus on our business and require us to incur additional expenses on outside legal financial and other

advisors all of which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of

operations

Our common stock is currently quoted on the OTCBB

Our common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ Stock Market effective at the opening of business on

October 17 2005 From October 17 2005 to December 2006 our common stock was quoted on the Pink

Sheets and as of December 2006 our common stock has been quoted on Over the Counter Bulletin Board

OTCBB The OTCBB is generally considered less efficient than The NASDAQ Stock Market Quotation of

our common stock on the OTCBB may reduce the liquidity of our securities limit the number of investors who

trade in our securities result in lower stock price and larger spread in the bid and ask prices for shares of our

common stock and could have an adverse effect on us Additionally we may become subject to the SEC rules

that affect penny stocks which are stocks below $5.00 per share that are not quoted on The NASDAQ Stock

Market These SEC rules would make it more difficult for brokers to find buyers for our securities and could

lower the net sales prices that our stockholders are able to obtain If our price of common stock remains low we

may not be able to raise equity capital

Our listing on the OTCBB and the declines in our stock price may greatly impair our ability to raise

additional necessary capital through equity or debt financing and significantly increase the dilution to our current

stockholders caused by any issuance of equity in financing or other transactions The price at which we would

issue shares in such transactions is generally based on the market price of our common stock and decline in the

stock price could result in our need to issue greater
number of shares to raise given amount of funding

In addition because our common stock is not listed on principal national exchange we are subject to Rule

5g-9 under the Exchange Act which imposes additional sales practice requirements on broker-dealers that sell

low-priced securities to persons
other than established customers and institutional accredited investors For

transactions covered by this rule broker-dealer must make special suitability determination for the purchaser

and have received the purchasers written consent to the transaction prior to sale Consequently the rule may

affect the ability of broker-dealers to sell our common stock and affect the ability of holders to sell their shares of

our common stock in the secondary market Moreover investors may be less interested in purchasing low-priced

securities because the brokerage commissions as percentage
of the total transaction value tend to be higher for

such securities and some investment funds will not invest in low-priced securities other than those which focus

on small-capitalization companies or low-priced securities
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Our stock price has been highly volatile and has experienced significant decline and may continue to be

volatile and decline

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated widely in the past and we expect that it will continue

to do so in the future as result of number of factors many of which are outside our control such as

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market

the impact of announcements related to the effects of the global economic downturn and programs
intended to address it

variations in our actual and anticipated operating results

changes in our earnings estimates by analysts

the volatility inherent in stock prices within the emerging sector within which we conduct business and

the volume of trading in our common stock including sales of substantial amounts of common stock

issued upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants

In addition stock markets in general have and particularly The NASDAQ Stock Market and the OTCBB
have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices of many
technology and computer software companies particularly Internet-related companies Such fluctuations have

often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies These broad market

fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of our common stock In the past following periods of

volatility in the market price of particular companys securities securities class action litigation has often been

brought against that company Securities class action litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of

our managements attention and resources

Since becoming publicly traded security listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market in September 1999 our

common stock has reached sales price high of $1698.10 per share and sales price low of $0.46 per share Our

common stock is currently quoted on the OTCBB and the last reported sales price of our shares on May 14 2009

was $0.72 per share

Our pending patents may never be issued and even if issued may provide little protection

Our success and ability to compete depend upon the protection of our software and other proprietary

technology rights We currently have five issued U.S patents three of which expire in 2018 and two of which

expire in 2020 and multiple U.S patent applications pending relating to our software None of our technology is

patented outside of the United States It is possible that
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any issued patents may not be broad enough to protect our proprietary rights

any issued patents could be successfully challenged by one or more third parties which could result in

our loss of the right to prevent others from exploiting the inventions claimed in those patents

current and future competitors may independently develop similar technology duplicate our products

or design around any of our patents and

effective patent protection may not be available in every country in which we do business

We rely upon trademarks copyrights and trade secrets to protect our propri etary rights which may not be

sufficient to protect our intellectual property

In addition to patents we rely on combination of laws such as copyright trademark and trade secret laws

and contractual restrictions such as confidentiality agreements and licenses to establish and protect our

proprietary rights However despite the precautions that we have taken

laws and contractual restrictions may not be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our technology or

deter others from developing similar technologies
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current federal laws that prohibit software copying provide only limited protection from software

pirates and effective trademark copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited

in foreign countries

other companies may claim common law trademark rights based upon state or foreign laws that

precede the federal registration of our marks and

policing unauthorized use of our products and trademarks is difficult expensive and time-consuming

and we may be unable to determine the extent of this unauthorized use

Also the laws of some other countries in which we market our products may offer little or no effective

protection of our proprietary technology Consequently we may be unable to prevent our proprietary technology

from being exploited abroad which could diminish international sales or require costly efforts to protect our

technology Reverse engineering unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprietary technology

could enable third parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it which would significantly

harm our business

We may become involved in litigation over proprietary rights which could be costly and time consuming

The software industry is characterized by the existence of large number of patents trademarks and

copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual

property rights and our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights against their

use Some of our competitors in the market for customer communications software may have filed or may intend

to file patent applications covering aspects
of their technology that they may claim our technology infringes

Such competitors could make claim of infringement against us with respect to our products and technology

Additionally third parties may currently have or may eventually be issued patents upon which our current or

future products or technology infringe and any
of these third parties might make claim of infringement against

us For example during 2006 and 2007 we were involved in litigation brought by Polaris IP LLC against us and

certain of our customers that claimed that certain of our products violate patents held by them

As we grow the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us increases We may not be able to

withstand any third-party claims and regardless of the merits of the claim any intellectual property claims could

be inherently uncertain time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle Many of our software license

agreements require us to indemnify our customers from any claim or finding of intellectual property

infringement We periodically receive notices from customers regarding patent license inquiries they have

received which may or may not implicate our indemnity obligations Any litigation brought by others or us

could result in the expenditure of significant financial resources and the diversion of managements time and

efforts In addition litigation in which we are accused of infringement might cause product shipment delays

require us to develop alternative technology or require us to enter into royalty or license agreements which might

not be available on acceptable terms or at all If an infringement claim is made against us we may not be able to

develop non-infringing technology or license the infringing or similar technology on timely and cost-effective

basis As result our business could be significantly harmed

We may face liability claims that could result in unexpected costs and damages to our reputation

Our licenses with customers generally contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product

liability claims such as disclaimers of warranties and limitations on liability for special consequential and

incidental damages In addition our license agreements generally limit the amounts recoverable for damages to

the amounts paid by the licensee to us for the product or service giving rise to the damages However some

domestic and international jurisdictions may not enforce these contractual limitations on liability We may be

subject to claims based on errors in our software or mistakes in performing our services including claims relating

to damages to our customers internal systems product liability claim could divert the attention of our

management and key personnel could be expensive to defend and could result in adverse settlements and

judgments
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We may face higher costs and lost sales if our software contains errors

We face the possibility of higher costs as result of the complexity of our products and the potential for

undetected errors Due to the critical nature of many of our products and services errors could be particularly

problematic In the past we have discovered software errors in some of our products after their introduction We
only have few beta customers that test new features and functionality of our software before we make these

features and functionalities generally available to our customers If we are not able to detect and correct errors in

our products or releases before commencing commercial shipments we could face

loss of or delay in revenues expected from new products and an immediate and significant loss of

market share

loss of existing customers that upgrade to new products and of new customers

failure to achieve market acceptance

diversion of development resources

injury to our reputation

increased service and warranty costs

legal actions by customers and

increased insurance costs

Any of the foregoing potential results of errors in our software could adversely affect our business financial

condition and results of operations

Our security could be breached which could damage our reputation and deter customers from using our

services

We must protect our computer systems and network from physical break-ins security breaches and other

disruptive problems caused by the Internet or other users Computer break-ins could jeopardize the security of

information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network which could adversely affect

our ability to retain or attract customers damage our reputation and subject us to litigation We have been in the

past and could be in the future subject to denial of service vandalism and other attacks on our systems by
Internet hackers Although we intend to continue to implement security technology and establish operational

procedures to prevent break-ins damage and failures these security measures may fail Our insurance
coverage

in certain circumstances may be insufficient to cover losses that may result from such events

We have significant international sales and are subject to risks associated with operating in international

markets

substantial proportion of our revenues are generated from sales outside North America exposing us to

additional financial and operational risks Sales outside North America represented 25% 25% and 32% of our

total revenues for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively We have established offices in the United States Europe
and Japan Sales outside North America could increase as percentage of total revenues as we attempt to expand

our international operations In addition to the additional costs and uncertainties of being subject to international

laws and regulations international operations require significant management attention and financial resources

as well as additional
support personnel To the extent our international operations grow we will also need to

among other things expand our international sales channel management and support organizations and develop

relationships with international service providers and additional distributors and systems integrators

International operations are subject to many inherent risks including

political social and economic instability including conflicts in the Middle East and elsewhere abroad

terrorist attacks and security concerns in general
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adverse changes in tariffs duties price controls and other protectionist laws and business practices that

favor local competitors

fluctuations in currency exchange rates

longer collection periods and difficulties in collecting receivables from foreign entities

exposure to different legal standards and burdens of complying with variety of foreign laws

including employment tax privacy and data protection laws and regulations

reduced protection for our intellectual property in some countries

increases in tax rates

greater seasonal fluctuations in business activity

expenses associated with localizing products for foreign countries including translation into foreign

languages

difficulty and cost of staffing and managing international operations and

import and export license requirements and restrictions of the United States and each other country in

which we operate

We believe that international sales will continue to represent significant portion of our revenue for the

foreseeable future Any of these factors may adversely affect our future international sales and consequently

affect our business financial condition and results of operations

We may suffer foreign exchange rate losses

Our international revenues and expenses are denominated in local currency Therefore weakening of the

U.S dollar to other currencies could make our products more costly to sell in foreign markets and could

negatively affect our operating results and cash flows The volatility of foreign currencies in certain regions most

notably the Japanese yen European Union euro and British pound have had and may in the future have

harmful effect on our revenue or operating results To the extent the international component of our revenues

grows our results of operations will become more sensitive to foreign exchange rate fluctuations

If we acquire companies products or technologies we may face risks associated with those acquisitions

In June 2007 we acquired all of the membership interests of eVergance We may not realize the anticipated

benefits of the eVergance acquisition or any other acquisition or investment For example since our inception

we have recorded $2.7 billion of impairment charges for the cost of goodwill obtained from acquisitions If we

acquire another company we will likely face risks uncertainties and disruptions associated with the integration

process including among other things difficulties in the integration of the operations technologies and services

of the acquired company the diversion of our managements attention from other business concerns the

potential loss of key employees of the acquired businesses and the failure of the acquired businesses products or

technologies to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs If we fail to successfully integrate other

companies that we may acquire our business could be harmed Also acquisitions including the acquisition of

eVergance can expose us to liabilities and risks facing the company we acquire such as lawsuits or claims

against us that are unknown at the time of the acquisition Furthermore we may have to incur debt or issue equity

securities to pay for any additional future acquisitions or investments the issuance of which could be dilutive to

our existing stockholders In addition our operating results may suffer because of acquisition-related costs or

amortization expenses or charges relating to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets These factors could

have an adverse effect on our business results of operations financial condition or cash flows
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Compliance with regulations governing public company corporate governance and reporting will result in

additional costs

Our continuing preparation for and implementation of various corporate governance reforms and enhanced

disclosure laws and regulations adopted in recent years requires us to incur significant additional accounting and

legal costs We are subject to accounting disclosures required by laws and regulations adopted in connection with

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the Sarhanes-Oxley Act In particular we are required to provide report on

our internal control over financial reporting required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Any
unanticipated difficulties in preparing for and implementing these and other corporate governance and rcporting

reforms could result in material delays in compliance or significantly increase our costs Any failure to timely

prepare for and implement the reforms required by new laws and regulations could significantly harm our

business operating results and financial condition

We have adopted anti-takeover defenses that could delay or prevent an acquisition of the Company

Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5000000 shares of preferred stock Without any

further vote or action on the part of the stockholders the Board of Directors has the authority to determine the

price rights preferences privileges and restrictions of the preferred stock This preferred stock if issued might

have preference over and harm the rights of the holders of common stock Although the ability to issue this

preferred stock provides us with flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes
it can also be used to make it more difficult for third party to acquire majority of our outstanding voting stock

We currently have no plans to issue preferred stock Similarly we have established stockholder rights plan that

is intended to protect our ability to utilize our net operating losses and which would also make it difficult for

third party to acquire significant number of shares of our common stock

Our certificate of incorporation bylaws and equity compensation plans include provisions that may deter an

unsolicited offer to purchase us These provisions coupled with the provisions of the Delaware General

Corporation Law may delay or impede merger tender offer or proxy contest Furthermore our Board of

Directors is divided into three classes only one of which is elected each year In addition directors are only

removable by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all classes of voting stock These factors may further

delay or prevent change of control of us

Risks Related to Our Industry

Future regulation of the Internet may slow our growth resulting in decreased demand for our products and

services and increased costs of doing business

State federal and foreign regulators could adopt laws and regulations that impose additional burdens on

companies that conduct business online These laws and regulations could discourage communication by e-mail

or other web-based communications particularly targeted e-mail of the type facilitated by our products which

could reduce demand for our products and services

The growth and development of the market for online services may prompt calls for more stringent

consumer protection laws or laws that may inhibit the use of Internet-based communications or the information

contained in these communications The adoption of any additional laws or regulations may decrease the

expansion of the Internet decline in the growth of the Internet particularly as it relates to online

communication could decrease demand for our products and services and increase our costs of doing business

or otherwise harm our business Any new legislation or regulations application of laws and regulations from

jurisdictions whose laws do not currently apply to our business or application of existing laws and regulations to

the Internet and other online services could increase our costs and harm our growth
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The imposition of sales and other taxes on products sold by our customers over the Internet could have

negative effect on online commerce and the demand for our products and services

The imposition of new sales or other taxes could limit the growth of Internet commerce generally and as

result the demand for our products and services Federal legislation that limits the imposition of state and local

taxes on Internet-related sales will expire on November 2014 Congress may choose to modify this legislation

or to allow it to expire in which case state and local governments would be free to impose taxes on electronically

purchased goods We believe that most companies that sell products over the Internet do not currently collect

sales or other taxes on shipments of their products into states or foreign countries where they are not physically

present However one or more states or foreign countries may seek to impose sales or other tax collection

obligations on out-of-jurisdiction companies that engage in e-commerce within their jurisdiction
successful

assertion by one or more states or foreign countries that companies that engage in e-commerce within their

jurisdiction should collect sales or other taxes on the sale of their products over the Internet even though not

physically in the state or country could indirectly reduce demand for our products

Privacy concerns relating to the Internet are increasing which could result in legislation that negatively

affects our business in reduced sales of our products

Businesses using our products capture information regarding their customers when those customers contact

them on-line with customer service inquiries Privacy concerns could cause visitors to resist providing the

personal data necessary to allow our customers to use our software products most effectively More importantly

even the perception of privacy concerns whether or not valid may indirectly inhibit market acceptance of our

products In addition legislative or regulatory requirements may heighten these concerns if businesses must

notify website users that the data captured after visiting certain websites may be used by marketing entities to

unilaterally direct product promotion and advertising to that user If consumer privacy concerns are not

adequately resolved our business could be harmed Government regulation that limits our customers use of this

information could reduce the demand for our products number of jurisdictions have adopted or are

considering adopting laws that restrict the use of customer information from Internet applications The European

Union has required that its member states adopt legislation that imposes
restrictions on the collection and use of

personal data and that limits the transfer of personally identifiable data to countries that do not impose

equivalent restrictions In the United States the Childrens Online Privacy Protection Act was enacted in October

1998 This legislation directs the Federal Trade Commission to regulate the collection of data from children on

commercial websites In addition the Federal Trade Commission has investigated the privacy practices of

businesses that collect information on the Internet These and other privacy-related
initiatives could reduce

demand for some of the Internet applications with which our products operate and could restrict the use of these

products in some e-commerce applications This could in turn reduce demand for these products

The success of our products depends on the continued growth and acceptance of the Internet as business

and communications tool and the related expansion of the Internet infrastructure

The future success of our products depends upon the continued and widespread adoption of the Internet as

primary medium for commerce communication and business applications Our business growth would be

impeded if the performance or perception of the Internet was harmed by security problems such as viruses

worms and other malicious programs reliability issues arising from outages and damage to Internet

infrastructure delays in development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of

Internet activity increased costs decreased accessibility and quality of service or increased government

regulation and taxation of Internet activity

The Internet has experienced and is expected to continue to experience significant user and traffic growth

which has at times caused user frustration with slow access and download times If Internet activity grows faster

than Internet infrastructure or if the Internet infrastructure is otherwise unable to support the demands placed on

it our business growth may be adversely affected
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General economic conditions could adversely affect our customers ability or willingness to purchase our

products which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations

Our customers consist of large and small companies in nearly all industry sectors and geographies Potential

new clients or existing clients could defer purchases of our products because of unfavorable macroeconomic

conditions such as rising interest rates fluctuations in currency exchange rates industry or national economic
downturns industry purchasing patterns and other factors Our ability to grow revenues may be adversely
affected by unfavorable economic conditions

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Menlo Park California where we lease approximately 45000
square feet under lease that expires in April 2010 In addition we lease offices in several cities throughout the

United States and internationally in the United Kingdom Ireland and Japan We believe the facilities we are now
using are adequate for our business requirements

We have total of approximately 21000 square feet of excess space available for sublease or renegotiation
The excess space is located in Princeton New Jersey Remaining lease commitment terms on this lease expires in

January 2011

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On January 24 2007 RightNow Technologies Inc RightNow filed suit in the Eighteenth Judicial

District Court of Gallatin County Montana against the Company and four former RightNow employees who had

joined the Company The suit alleges violation of certain provisions of employment agreements

misappropriation of trade secrets as well as other claims and seeks damages We believe we have meritorious

defenses to these claims and intend to defend against this action vigorously

The underwriters for the Companys initial public offering Goldman Sachs Co Lehman Bros
Hambrecht Quist LLC Wit Soundview Capital Corp as well as us and certain of our current and former

officers were named as defendants in federal securities class action lawsuits filed in the U.S District Court for

the Southern District of New York the District Court The cases allege violations of various securities laws

by more than 300 issuers of stock including us and the underwriters for such issuers on behalf of class of

plaintiffs who in our case purchased our stock between September 21 1999 and December 2000 in

connection with our initial public offering Specifically the complaints allege that the underwriter defendants

engaged in scheme concerning sales of our and other issuers securities in the initial public offering and in the
aftermarket In July 2003 we decided to join settlement negotiated by representatives of coalition of issuers

named as defendants in this action and their insurers In April 2005 the court requested modification to the

original settlement arrangement which was approved by us Although we believed that the plaintiffs claims had
no merit we had decided to accept the settlement proposal to avoid the cost and distraction of continued

litigation We were party to global settlement with the plaintiffs that would have disposed of all claims

against us with no admission of wrongdoing by us or any of our present or former officers or directors The
settlement agreement had been

preliminarily approved by the District Court However while the settlement was
awaiting final approval by the District Court in December 2006 the Court of Appeals reversed the District

Courts determination that six focus cases could be certified as class actions In April 2007 the Court of Appeals
denied the plaintiffs petition for rehearing but acknowledged that the District Court might certify more limited
class At September 26 2007 status conference the District Court approved stipulation withdrawing the

proposed settlement On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in the six focus cases to test
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the sufficiency of their class allegations On September 27 2007 the plaintiffs filed motion for class

certification in the six focus cases which was withdrawn on October 10 2008 On November 13 2007 the

defendants filed motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state claim which the District Court denied on

March 2008 Plaintiffs the issuer defendants including us and underwriter defendants and the insurance

carriers for the defendants have engaged in mediation and settlement negotiations The parties have entered into

written settlement agreement As part of this settlement our insurance carrier has agreed to assume the our entire

payment obligation under the terms of the settlement The proposed settlement was submitted to the District

Court for preliminary approval on April 2009 but there can be no guarantee that it will receive approval from

the District Court We believe that we have meritorious defenses to these claims If the proposed settlement is not

approved and the litigation continues against us we would continue to defend against this action vigorously

In October 2007 lawsuit was filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Washington by

Ms Vanessa Simmonds against certain of the underwriters of our initial public offering The plaintiff alleges that

the underwriters violated Section 16b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C section 78pb by

engaging in short-swing trades and seeks disgorgement of profits from the underwriters in amounts to be proven

at trial On February 25 2008 Ms Simmonds filed an amended complaint The suit names us as nominal

defendant contains no claims against us and seeks no relief from us This lawsuit is one of more than fifty

similar actions filed in the same court On July 25 2008 the underwriter defendants in the various actions filed

joint motion to dismiss the complaints In addition certain issuer defendants filed joint motion to dismiss the

complaints The parties entered into stipulation entered as an order by the Court that we are not required to

answer or otherwise respond to the amended complaint Accordingly we did not join in the motions to dismiss

This matter was dismissed with prejudice on March 12 2009 and plaintiff filed notice of appeal on March 31

2009

Other third parties have from time to time claimed and others may claim in the future that we have

infringed their past current or future intellectual property rights We have in the past been forced to litigate such

claims These claims whether meritorious or not could be time-consuming result in costly litigation require

expensive changes in our methods of doing business or could require us to enter into costly royalty or licensing

agreements if available As result these claims could harm our business

The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain and either unfavorable or favorable outcomes could

have material negative impact on our results of operations consolidated balance sheets and cash flows due to

defense costs and divert management resources

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has been trading on the OTCBB under the symbol KANA.OB since December
2006 The table below sets forth the high and low bid information for our common stock as reported on the

OTCBB for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal
years

High Low

Fiscal 2007

First Quarter
$3.70 $2.77

Second Quarter 377 2.75

Third Quarter
3.19 2.38

Fourth Quarter
3.64 2.35

Fiscal 2008

First Quarter
$2.40 $1.23

Second Quarter 1.65 1.07

Third Quarter
1.75 0.93

Fourth Quarter
1.09 0.46

Holders of Record

There were approximately 767 stockholders of record of our common stock as of February 27 2009 The
actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are

beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees This number of

holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our capital stock We currently intend to retain any earnings to fund

the development and growth of our business and therefore do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the

foreseeable future In addition our existing credit facilities prohibit the payment of cash or stock dividends on

our capital stock without the lenders prior written consent

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

See Note of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this Annual Report on
Form 8-K

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information
regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity incentive plans may be found in

the section captioned Equity Compensation Plan Information appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be

delivered to stockholders in connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is

incorporated herein by reference
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Stock Performance Graph

The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the

cumulative return of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Standard Poors Information Technology Index

SP Information Technology Index for the five years ended December 31 2008 The graph and table assume

that $100.00 was invested on December 31 2003 in each of our common stock the NASDAQ Composite Index

and the SP Information Technology Index and that all dividends were reinvested We have not paid or declared

any cash dividends on our common stock Stockholder returns over the period indicated should not be considered

indicative of future stockholder returns

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Among KANA Software Inc The NASDAQ Composite Index

And The SP Information Technology Index
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LI KANA Software Inc NASDAQ Composite .Q. SP Information Technology

$100.00 invested on December 31 2003 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends Fiscal years ending December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Kana Software Inc $100.00 56.08 39.76 93.47 71.22 $20.77

NASDAQCompositelndex $100.00 $110.08 $112.88 $126.51 $138.13 $80.47

SP Information Technology Index $100.00 $102.56 $103.57 $112.29 $130.61 $74.26

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary in any of our previous or future filings with the SEC the

foregoing information relating to the price performance of our common stock shall not be deemed to be filed

with the SEC or to be soliciting material under the Exchange Act and it shall not be deemed to be incorporated

by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to the extent we

specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations the consolidated financial statements

and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other information we have

filed with the SEC

-----....EY

.-

12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07
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The consolidated statements of operations data for the
years ended December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005

and 2004 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 and 2004 are derived

from our audited consolidated financial statements The diluted net loss per share computation excludes shares of

common stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of other securities including outstanding warrants and

options to purchase common stock and common stock subject to repurchase rights because their effect would be

antidilutive See Net Loss Per Share in Note of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included

in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for detailed explanation of the determination of the shares used

to compute basic and diluted net loss per share Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be

expected for any future period

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Revenues

License fees $17745 18071 19116 8094 14169
Services 47474 42723 34914 35034 34731

Total revenues 65219 60794 54030 43128 48900

Costs and expenses

Cost of license fees 1012 1239 2460 2995 2449
Cost of services 19675 16004 10439 8746 9834
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 500 288 133 133 119

Sales and marketing 22299 25261 19616 17682 25745
Research and development 13.818 12650 10765 13232 19579
General and administrative 10572 11900 10185 11404 8294
Impairment of internal use software 6326 1062

Restructuring costs net of recoveries 582 567 703 468 3400

Total costs and expenses 68458 67909 54301 60986 70482

Loss from operations 3239 7115 271 17858 21582
Interest and other income expense net 411 739 738 88 128

Registration rights penalty 1198
Loss before income tax expense 3650 7854 2207 17770 21454
Income tax expense 167 219 196 314
Net loss 3655 8021 2426 $17966 $21768

Basic and diluted net loss
per share 0.09 0.22 0.07 0.58 0.75

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per

share 41212 37085 34584 30814 28950

December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 6988 4306 5719 6216 13772
Marketable securities

6361

Working capital deficit 13841 11621 11044 18439 9657
Total assets 33817 35400 30335 35706 50361
Total long-term debt 13 110 242

Total stockholders equity deficit 2590 4406 3132 9794 3164
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2008

325

652

331

904

$2212

2004

346

646

82

157

$1231

Stock-based compensation expense which was allocated as follows

Cost of services

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

336 211

869 871

359 400

1309 1945 25

$2873 $3427
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In addition to historical information this report contains forwa rd-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 2E of the Exchange Act The forward-looking statements

are not historical facts but rather are based on current expectations estimates and projections about our
business and industry and our beliefc and assumptions Words such as anticipate believe estimate
expect intend plan will and variations of these words and similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements These statements are not guarantees offuture performance and are subject to risks
uncertantes and other factors many of which are beyond our control are difficult to predict and could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements These
risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to those described in Item IA Risk Factors and elsewhere

in this report Forward-looking statements that were believed to be true at the time made may ultimately prove to

be incorrect or false We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these

forward-looking statements Given these risks and uncertainties readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on such forward-looking statements

Overview

We offer an innovative approach to customer service with cost-effective solutions that enhance the quality
of niulti-channel customer interactions Built on open standards for high degree of adaptability and integration
our solutions intelligently automate the processes needed to successfully serve our clients customers so that our
clients can deliver higher value service at lower cost increasing customer retention and loyalty We provide an

integrated solution which enables organizations to deliver consistent managed service across all channels

including e-mail chat call centers and Web self-service ensuring consistent service experience across
communication channels

Our revenue is primarily derived from the sale of our software and related maintenance and support of the
software We also derive revenues from consulting training and other services Our products are generally
installed by our customers using either systems integrator such as IBM or Accenture or our professional
services group Our professional services group assists the systems integrators as subject matter experts and in

some cases will act as the prime contractor for implementation of our software In June 2007 we acquired
eVergance management consulting and

systems integration firm which expanded our professional services

groups capabilities and resources We also rely on IBM and other systems integrators to recommend and install

our software This provides leverage in the selling phase and also allows us to realize higher gross margins by
selling primarily software licenses and support which typically have higher margins than consulting and
implementation services in the past we supplied specialists who were subject matter experts to work with IBM
and other systems integrators While we continue this practice we are increasingly providing consulting and
implementation services directly to our customers These services may be provided to our existing customers
who would like us to review their implementations or to new customers who are not quite large enough to gain
the interest of large systems iniegrator to provide such services However in the case of most of the initial

installations of our applications that are generally installed by our customers using systems integrator these
services generally increase the cost of the project substantially by subjecting their purchase to more levels of

required approvals and scrutiny of projected cost savings in their customer service and marketing departments
This contributes to the difficulty that we face in predicting the quarter in which sales to expected customers will

occur and to the uncertainty of our future operating results To the extent that significant sales occur earlier or
later than anticipated revenues for subsequent quarters may be lower or higher respectively than expected

We have incurred substantial costs to develop our products and to recruit train and compensate personnel
for our engineering sales marketing client services and administration departments As result we have

incurred substantial losses since inception On December 31 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents of $7.0
million and $6.0 million outstanding under our line of credit As of December 31 2008 we had an accumulated
deficit of $4.3 billion and negative working capital of $13.8 million $12.9 million of our current liabilities
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consists of current deferred revenue primarily reflecting obligations to provide support
services under our

software licenses Losses from operations were $3.2 million and $7.1 million for 2008 and 2007 respectively

and net losses were $3.7 million and $8.0 million for 2008 and 2007 respectively Net cash used for operating

activities was $418000 and $8.4 million in 2008 and 2007 respectively These conditions among others raise

substantial doubt about the Companys ability to continue as going concern The consolidated financial

statements do not reflect any adjustments that might be required as result of this uncertainty

Our management believes that based on our current plans we will require additional financing to fund our

operations and our working capital and capital expenditure requirements through December 31 2009 If we are

unable to secure additional financing or if we experience lower than anticipated demand for our products we

will need to further reduce costs or secure additional debt or equity financing to meet our cash requirements

Any such equity issuances could be dilutive to our stockholders and any financing transactions may be on

unfavorable terms if at all

As of December 31 2008 we had 229 full-time employees which represents an increase from 225

employees at December 31 2007 and an increase from 181 employees at December 31 2006

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our

consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America GAAP The preparation of these consolidated financial statements

requires us to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the

consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes We base our estimates on historical experience and

on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances This forms the basis of

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources In

some cases changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period

Accordingly actual results could differ materially from our estimates

We believe the following discussion addresses our most critical accounting policies These critical

accounting policies require management to make difficult subjective and complex judgments and are most

important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations Please refer to Note of the Notes

to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further description of

our critical accounting policies

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

AICPA Statement of Position SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition SOP 97-2 as amended

Revenue from software license agreements is recognized when the basic criteria of software revenue

recognition have been met i.e persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery of the product has

occurred the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable We use the residual method described in

AICPA SOP 98-9 Modification of SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain

Transactions SOP 98-9 to recognize revenue when license agreement includes one or more elements to be

delivered at future date and vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements

exists Under the residual method the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining

portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as license revenue If evidence of the fair value of one or more

undelivered elements does not exist all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements

occurs or when fair value can be established

For all sales we use either signed license agreement signed amendment to an existing license agreement

signed order form binding purchase order where we either have signed master license agreement or an

order form signed by the Company or signed statement of work as evidence of an arrangement

Software delivery is primarily by electronic means If the software or other deliverable is subject to

acceptance for specified period after the delivery revenue is deferred until the acceptance period has expired or

the acceptance provision has been met
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When licenses are sold together with consulting services license fees are recognized upon delivery

provided that the basic criteria of software revenue recognition have been met payment of the license fees

is not dependent upon the performance of the consulting services and the consulting services do not provide

significant customization of the software products and are not essential to the functionality of the software that

was delivered We do not provide significant customization of our software products

Revenue arrangements with extended payment terms are generally considered not to be fixed or

determinable and we generally do not recognize revenue on these arrangements until the customer payments
become due and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met

Probability of collection is based upon assessment of the customers financial condition through review of

their current financial statements or publicly-available credit reports For sales to existing customers prior

payment history is also considered in assessing probability of collection We are required to exercise significant

judgment in deciding whether collectibility is reasonably assured and such judgments may materially affect the

timing of our revenue recognition and our results of operations

Services revenues include revenues for consulting services customer support and training and managed
services Consulting services revenues and the related cost of services are generally recognized on time and

materials basis For consulting services contracts that have fixed fee we recognize the license and professional

consulting services revenues using either the percentage-of-completion method or the completed contract method

as prescribed by AICPA SOP 81-I Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Product-

Type Contracts SOP 1-1 Our consulting arrangements do not include significant customization of the

software Customer support agreements provide technical support and the right to unspecified future upgrades on
an if-and-when available basis Customer support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the

support

period generally one year Training services revenues are recognized as the related training services are

delivered The unrecognized portion of amounts billed in advance of delivery for services is recorded as deferred

revenue Managed services revenues are recognized in accordance with the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin

SAB No 104 Revenue Recognition corrected copy SAB 104 Revenues from managed services are

recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement while application fees are recognized ratably over the sum

of the term of the arrangement and the term of expected renewals

Vendor-specific objective evidence for consulting and training services are based on the price charged when

an element is sold separately or in the case of an element not yet sold separately the price established by
authorized management if it is probable that the price once established will not change before market

introduction Vendor-specific objective evidence for support services is based on the price charged when an

element is sold separately or the slated contractual renewal rates

Accounting for Internal-Use Software

Internal-use software costs including fees paid to third parties to impieineiii the software are capitalized

beginning when we have determined various factors are present such as that technology exists to achieve the

performance requirements we have made decision as to whether we will purchase the software or develop it

internally and we have authorized funding for the project Capitalization of software costs ceases when the

software implementation is substantially complete and is ready for its intended use and the capitalized costs are

amortized over the softwares estimated useful life generally five years using the straight-line method

When events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of internal-use software might not be recoverable

we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the amortization of the asset balance over its

remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows The amount of impairment if

any is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the projected discounted future operating cash

flows and is recognized as write down of the asset In addition if it is no longer probable that the computer
software being developed will be placed in service the asset is adjusted to the lower of its carrying value or fair
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value if any less direct selling costs Any such adjustment would result in an expense in the period recorded

which could have material adverse effect on our consolidated statements of operations In the quarter ended

September 30 2008 we expensed approximately $263000 of capitalized costs related to an internal use software

project that was abandoned This amount is included in the restructuring costs net of recoveries line on the

consolidated statement of operations

Restructuring

In 2001 we recorded significant liabilities in connection with our restructuring program These reserves

included estimates pertaining to contractual obligations related to excess leased facilities in Menlo Park

California Princeton New Jersey Framingham Massachusetts and Marlow in the United Kingdom Remaining

lease commitments will terminate in January 2010 and January 2011 We are seeking to sublease or renegotiate

the obligations associated with the excess space We have subleased some of the excess space but in all cases

the sublease income is less than the rent we pay the landlord We had $1.2 million in accrued restructuring costs

as of December 31 2008 which was our estimate as of that date of the exit costs of these excess facilities We

have worked with real estate brokers in each of the markets where these properties are located to help us estimate

the amount of the accrual This process involves significant judgments regarding these markets If we determine

that any of these real estate markets has deteriorated further additional adjustments to this accrual may be

required which would result in additional restructuring expenses
in the period in which such determination is

made Likewise if any of these real estate markets strengthen and we are able to sublease the properties earlier

or at more favorable rates than projected or if we are otherwise able to negotiate early termination of obligations

on favorable terms adjustments to the accrual may be required that would increase income in the period in which

such determination is made In December 2006 we determined that we may not be able to sublease leased

facility in Princeton New Jersey and we changed our assumption of subleasing this excess space We recorded

restructuring charge of $739000 in the year
ended December 31 2006 mainly related to this change in estimate

of sublease assumption that was not subject to any contractual arrangement In 2006 there was also

restructuring recovery
of $36000 due to the change in estimates of termination of certain employees Lease

obligations for Framingham Massachusetts and Marlow in the United Kingdom terminated during 2007

In July 2007 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce operating costs

The expense related to our reduction in work force was approximately $240000 and the expense related to

ceasing use of one of our offices was approximately $8000

In September 2007 we agreed with the landlord of one of the facilities included in our restructuring accrual

to surrender the remaining term of the lease in exchange for lump sum cash payment As result of this

agreement we recorded an additional restructuring expense
of approximately $319000 The lump sum cash

payment was primarily made by surrender of the existing lease deposit of $2.1 million

In March 2008 we were notified by the subtenant of one of the facilities included in the restructuring

accrual of their intent to lease additional space and extend their sublease through the end of our lease term As

result of this agreement we recorded restructuring recovery
of approximately $482000 The agreement was

executed in May 2008

In July 2008 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce operating costs

The expense related to this reduction in work force was approximately $737000 and the expense related to

ceasing use of two of our offices was approximately $64000 Additionally we expensed approximately

$263000 of capitalized costs related to an internal use software project that was abandoned

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We regularly evaluate all potential indicators of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets but at

minimum test goodwill and intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis Our judgments regarding the
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existence of impairment indicators are based on market conditions and operational performance Future events

could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that goodwill and other intangible assets

associated with our acquired businesses are impaired

The remaining amount of goodwill as of December 31 2008 is $12.4 million We continue to assess

whether any potential indicators of impairment of goodwill have occurred and have determined that no such

indicators have arisen since June 30 2008 the date of our annual goodwill impairment test Any further

impairment loss could have material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations

income Taxes

We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate as part of the process of

preparing our consolidated financial statements This process involves us estimating our actual current tax

exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items such as net

operating loss carryforwards and stock-based compensation for tax and accounting purposes These differences

result in deferred tax assets and liabilities We then assess the likelihood that our net deferred tax assets will be

recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely than not we
establish valuation allowance We concluded that full valuation allowance was required for all periods

presented While we have considered future taxable income in assessing the need for the valuation allowance in

the event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of

its net recorded amount an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be made increasing our income in the

period in which such determination was made

Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code the amounts of and benefits from net operating loss carryforwards

may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances Events which cause limitations in the amount of net

operating losses that we may utilize include but are not limited to cumulative ownership change of more than

50% of the Company as defined over three-year period The portion of the net operating loss and tax credit

carryforwards subject to potential limitation has not been included in deferred tax assets

On January 2007 we adopted FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income

Taxesan interpretation of FASB Statement 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 establishes single model to address

accounting for uncertain tax positions FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing

minimum recognition threshold tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial

statements FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties

accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition During the implementation we identified evaluated and

measured the amount of income tax benefits to be recognized for all material income tax positions The net

deferred income tax assets recognized under FIN 48 did not materially differ from the net deferred tax assets

recognized before adoption and therefore we did not record an adjustment related to the adoption of FIN 48 At

the adoption date of January 2007 we had $145000 of unrecognized tax benefits all of which would affect

our effective tax rate if recognized At December 31 2008 we had $120000 of unrecognized tax benefits These

amounts are included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets

Contingencies and Litigation

We are subject to lawsuits and other claims and proceedings We assess the likelihood of any adverse

judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as ranges of probable losses determination of the amount of

loss contingency required if any for these matters are made after careful analysis of each individual matter The

required loss contingencies may change in the future as the facts and circumstances of each matter changes

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R which requires the measurement
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and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors including

employee stock options based on estimated fair values SFAS 123R supersedes our previous accounting under

Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees APB 25 for years

beginning in fiscal year 2006 We also apply the provisions of SAB No 107 Share-Based Payment

SAB 107 in our accounting for stock-based compensation

SFAS 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value of employee stock-based awards on the date of

grant using an option pricing model The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statements of operations Employee

stock-based compensation expense for each of the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $2.2

million $2.8 million and $2.8 million respectively

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

included compensation expense
for stock-based awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of December 31

2005 based on the fair value on the grant date estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions of SFAS

No 123 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation Our stock-based compensation expense also includes

compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to December 31 2005 based on

the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R As stock-based

compensation expense recognized in our results of operations for 2008 2007 and 2006 was based on awards

ultimately expected to vest it was reduced for estimated forfeitures SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be

estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from

those estimates

We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate method for determining the

estimated fair value for stock-based awards The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the use of highly

subjective and complex assumptions which determine the fair value of stock-based awards including the

options expected term and the price volatility of the underlying stock

For stock options granted to non-employees we recognize compensation expense in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue EITF No 96-18 Accounting for Equity

Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or

Services which require such equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value on the measurement date The

measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic fair value adjustments as the underlying equity

instruments vest We amortize compensation expense related to non-employee stock options in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Interpretation No 28 Accounting for Stock Appreciation

Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans FIN 28 We extended the vesting period of

approximately 1000000 stock options held by four terminated employees who had agreements to provide

consulting services In October 2006 we extended the exercise period of approximately 211000 vested stock

options of former employee as the result of termination agreement During the year
ended December 31

2006 we granted total of 57500 stock options to four non-employees who had agreements to provide

consulting services As result of these stock option modifications to former employees and the stock option

grants to consultants we recorded non-employee stock-based compensation expense
of $4000 $31000 and

$632000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Also see Stock-based Compensation in Note of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in

Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We discuss the potential impact of recent accounting pronouncements in Note of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected data for the periods presented Percentages are expressed as

percentage of total revenues

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues

License fees 27% 30% 35%
Services 70

Total revenues 100% 100% 100%

Costs and expenses

Cost of license fees 2% 2% 5%
Cost of services 30 26 19

Amortization of acquired intangible assets

Sales and marketing 34 42 36

Research and development 21 21 20

General and administrative 16 20 19

Restructuring

Total costs and expenses 105% 112% 101%

Stock-based compensation included in the expense line items

Cost of services 1%
Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Less than 1%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Revenues

Total revenues increased by 7% to $65.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $60.8 million

for the year ended December 31 2007 primarily as result of higher services revenues in 2008 compared to

2007

License revenues include licensing fees only and exclude associated support and consulting revenues The

majority of our licenses to customers are perpetual and associated revenues are recognized upon delivery

provided that all revenue recognition criteria are met as discussed in Revenue Recognition under Critical

Accounting Policies and Estimates above License revenues decreased by 2% to $17.7 million for 2008 from

$18.1 million for 2007 This decrease in license revenues was based in part on additional levels of approvals

inside our customers organizations that resulted in longer sales cycles and reduced levels of overall demand

brought on as result of macro economic conditions While we are focused on increasing license revenues we
are unable to predict such revenues from period to period with any degree of accuracy because among other

things the market for our products is unpredictable and intensely competitive and our sales cycle is long and

unpredictable

Services revenues consist of support revenues and professional services revenues and fees Support revenues

relate to providing customer support product maintenance and updates to our customers Professional services
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revenues relate to providing consulting training and implementation services to our customers including

managed services Services revenues increased by 11% to $47.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008

compared to $42.7 million for 2007 Support revenues are the largest component of services revenues and in

2008 support revenues increased slightly The other part
of services revenues is professional services fees that

increased in 2008 from 2007 primarily due to the additional services fees generated by eVergance

Revenues from international sales were $16.4 million or 25% of total revenues in the year
ended

December 31 2008 and $15.3 million or 25% of total revenues in the year ended December 31 2007 Our

international revenues were derived from sales in Europe and Asia Pacific

Costs and Expenses

Total cost of revenues increased by 21% to $21.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $17.5

million for the year ended December 31 2007

License Fees Cost of license fees consists primarily of third party software royalties and costs of product

documentation Cost of license fees as percentage of license revenue was 6% in 2008 compared to 7% in 2007

The decrease was primarily due to lower third party royalty costs We expect that our cost of license fees as

percentage of sales will vary based on changes in the mix of products we sell and the timing of upgrades We are

not able to predict when customers will choose to upgrade their software which will then cause us to incur

royalty costs We are continuing to look at cost-effective alternatives for some original equipment manufacturer

OEM products embedded in our products

Services Cost of services consists primarily of salaries and related expenses
for our customer support

consulting and training services organization and allocation of facility costs and system costs incurred in

providing customer support and managed services Cost of services increased to 41% of services revenues or

$19.7 million for 2008 compared to 37% of services revenues or $16.0 million for 2007 Both totals include

stock-based compensation of $325000 and $336000 for 2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in service

margins in 2008 compared to 2007 was due to an increase in contractors costs as we built up the service

organization including its expansion through our acquisition of eVergance to support
increased revenues As of

December 31 2008 we had 69 employees in support and consulting compared to 68 employees as of

December 31 2007

Cost of services may increase or decrease depending on the demand for these services The expenses may

also be affected by the amount type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options

cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets The amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded in 2008

and 2007 was related to $2.5 million of intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of

eVergance in June 2007 Amortization totaled $500000 and $288000 for the years
ended December 31 2008

and 2007 respectively

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for

sales and marketing personnel and promotional expenditures including public relations advertising trade shows

and marketing materials Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 12% to $22.3 million for the year
ended

December 31 2008 from $25.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007 Both totals include employee

stock-based compensation of $652000 and $869000 for 2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in expenses

was partially attributable to decrease in average sales personnel of 5% from an average in 2007 of 64

employees to an average of 61 employees during 2008 and decrease in marketing programs

Sales and marketing expenses may increase or decrease depending primarily on the amount of future

revenues and our assessment of market opportunities and sales channels The expenses may also be impacted by
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the amount type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to

employees and consultants leaving the Company

Reseai-ch and Development Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and
related costs for research and development employees and contractors and enhancement of existing products and

quality assurance activities Research and development expenses increased by 9% to $13.8 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 from $12.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 Both totals include stock-

based compensation of $331000 and $359000 for 2008 and 2007 respectively The increase in expenses was

primarily attributable to increased employee headeount partially offset by reduced number of contractors As of

December 31 2008 we had 65 employees in research and development compared to 53 employees as of

December 31 2007 23% increase

Research and development expenses including related headcount may increase or decrease depending

primarily on the amount of future revenues customer needs and our assessment of market demand The

expenses may also be impacted by the amount type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount
of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company

General andAdministrative General and administrative
expenses consist primarily of compensation and

related costs for finance legal human resources and corporate governance Information technology and facilities

costs are allocated among all operating departments General and administrative expenses decreased by 11% to

$10.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $11 .9 million for the year ended December 31 2007
Both totals include stock-based compensation of $904000 and $1.3 million for years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 respectively The decrease in expenses was primarily due to higher legal fees incurred in 2007 that did

not reoccur in 2008 offset by higher audit and consulting fees in 2008 due to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance As of

December 31 2008 we had 35 employees in general and administrative and information technology compared to

41 employees as of December 31 2007 15% decrease

General and administrative expenses may increase or decrease depending primarily on the amount of future

revenues and corporate infrastructure requirements including insurance professional services taxes and other

administrative costs The expenses may also be impacted by the amount type and valuation of stock options

granted as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company

Restructuring Costs In July 2007 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to

reduce operating costs The expense related to our reduction in work force was approximately $240000 and

expense related to ceasing use of one of our offices was approximately $8000

In September 2007 we agreed with the landlord of one of the facilities included in our restructuring accrual

to surrender the remaining term of the lease in exchange for lump sum cash payment As result of this

agreement we recorded additional restructuring expense of approximately $319000 The lump sum cash

payment was primarily made by surrender of the existing lease deposit of $2.1 million

In March 2008 we were notified by the subtenant of one of the facilities included in the restructuring

accrual of their intent to lease additional space and extend their sublease through the end of our lease term As

result of this agreement we recorded restructuring recovery of approximately $482000 The agreement was

executed in May 2008

In July 2008 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce operating costs

The expense related to this reduction in work force was approximately $737000 and the expense related to

ceasing use of two of our offices was approximately $64000 Additionally we expensed approximately

$263000 of capitalized costs related to an internal use software project that was abandoned
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The following table summarizes our restructuring activities for the years
ended December 31 2008 and

2007 in thousands

Severance

and Internal Use

Facilities Related Software Total

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2006 6102 6102

Restructuring charge
327 240 567

Payments made 5645 240 5885

Sublease payments received 1968 1968

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2007 2752 2752

Restructuring charge recoveries 418 737 263 582

Payments made 1632 737 2369

Non-cash adjustment
263 263

Sublease payments received
478 478

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2008 1180 1180

Interest and Other Income Expense Net

Interest and other income expense net consists primarily of interest income and interest expense Interest

income consists primarily of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and was approximately $27000 and

$87000 for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in interest income related

to lower cash and cash equivalents balances in 2008 compared to 2007 Interest expense
relates primarily to our

line of credit and notes payable and was approximately $369000 and $858000 for the years ended December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in interest expense
related to lower average borrowings against the

line of credit in 2008 compared to 2007 For the year ended December 31 2007 interest and other income

expense net also consists of $383000 of bank fees related to certain loans

Income Tax Expense

We have incurred net operating losses on consolidated basis for all
years

from inception through

December 31 2008 Accordingly we have recorded valuation allowance for the full amount of our gross

deferred tax assets as the future realization of the tax benefit is not currently more likely than not In 2008 and

2007 certain of our foreign subsidiaries were profitable based upon application of our intercompany transfer

pricing agreements which resulted in us reporting income tax expense in those foreign jurisdictions totaling

approximately $87000 and $167000 for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively During

2008 we also recorded an adjustment to release approximately $25000 of excess FIN 48 reserve and an

adjustment to record refundable research and development credit of approximately $57000

As of December 31 2008 we had operating loss carryforwards for federal and California income tax

purposes
of approximately $458 million and $127 million respectively The federal and state net operating loss

carryforwards if not offset against future taxable income will expire by 2029 We also had foreign net operating

loss carryforwards of approximately $8 million The foreign losses expire at various dates and some can be

carried forward indefinitely

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2007 and 2006

Revenues

Total revenues increased by 13% to $60.8 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 from $54.0 million

for the year
ended December 31 2006 primarily as result of higher services revenues in 2007 compared to

2006
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License revenues include licensing fees only and exclude associated support and consulting revenues The
majority of our licenses to customers are perpetual and associated revenues are recognized upon delivery
provided that all revenue recognition criteria are met as discussed in Revenue RecognitionS under Critical

Accounting Policies and Estimates above License revenues decreased by 5% to $18.1 million for 2007 from
$19.1 million for 2006 This decrease in license revenues was based in part on additional levels of approvals
inside our customers organizations that resulted in longer sales cycles brought on as result of macro economic
conditions While we are focused on increasing license revenues we are unable to predict such revenues from

period to period with any degree of accuracy because among other things the market for our products is

unpredictable and intensely competitive and our sales cycle is long and unpredictable

Services revenues consist of support revenues and professional services revenues and fees Support revenues
relate to providing customer support product maintenance and updates to our customers Professional services

revenues relate to providing consulting training and implementation services to our customers including
managed services Services revenues increased by 22% to $42.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007

compared to $34.9 million for 2006 Support revenues are the largest component of services revenues and in

2007 support revenues increased because there was greater focus on support renewals by team dedicated to

renewals that was not employed by us in 2006 The other part of services revenues is professional services fees

that increased in 2007 from 2006 primarily due to five large long-term consulting projects in 2007 and the

additional services fees generated by eVergance

Revenues from international sales were $15.3 million or 25% of total revenues in the year ended
December 31 2007 and $17.1 million or 32% of total revenues in the year ended December 31 2006 Our
international revenues were derived from sales in Europe and Asia Pacific

Costs and Expenses

Total cost of revenues increased by 35% to $17.5 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $13.0
million for the year ended December 31 2006

License Fees Cost of license fees consists primarily of third party software royalties and costs of product
documentation Cost of license fees as percentage of license revenue was 7% in 2007 compared to 13% in

2006 The decrease was primarily due to lower third party royalty costs We expect that our cost of license fees

as percentage of sales will vary based on changes in the mix of products we sell and the timing of upgrades We
are not able to predict when customers will choose to upgrade their software which will then cause us to incur

royalty costs We are continuing to look at cost-effective alternatives for some original equipment manufacturerOEM products embedded in our products

Services Cost of services consists primarily of salaries and related expenses for our customer support

consulting and training services organization and allocation of facility costs and system costs incurred in

providing customer support and managed services Cost of services increased to 37% of services revenues or
$16.0 million for 2007 compared to 30% of services revenues or $10.4 million for 2006 Both totals include

stock-based compensation of $336000 and $211000 for 2007 and 2006 respectively The decrease in service

margins in 2007 compared to 2006 was due to an increase in consulting costs as we built up the service

organization to support increased revenues As of December 31 2007 we had 68 employees in support and

consulting 25 of which were result of the acquisition of eVergance compared to 48 employees as of

December 31 2006 42% increase

Cost of services may increase or decrease depending on the demand for these services The
expenses may

also be affected by the amount type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options
cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company

Amortization ofAcquired Intangible Assets The amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded in 2007

was related to $2.5 million of intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of eVergance in June
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2007 The amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded in 2006 was related to $400000 of intangible

assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of Hipbone Inc in February 2004 Amortization totaled

$288000 and $133000 for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses
consist primarily of compensation and related costs for

sales and marketing personnel and promotional expenditures including public relations advertising trade shows

and marketing materials Sales and marketing expenses
increased by 29% to $25.3 million for the year

ended

December 31 2007 from $19.6 million for the year
ended December 31 2006 Both totals include stock-based

compensation of $869000 and $871000 for 2007 and 2006 respectively The increase in expenses was primarily

attributable to an increase in average
sales personnel of 24% from an average in 2006 of 37 employees to an

average
of 46 employees during 2007 and an increase in marketing programs

Sales and marketing expenses may increase or decrease depending primarily on the amount of future

revenues and our assessment of market opportunities and sales channels The expenses may also be impacted by

the amount type
and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to

employees and consultants leaving the Company

Research and Development Research and development expenses
consist primarily of compensation and

related costs for research and development employees and contractors and enhancement of existing products and

quality assurance activities Research and development expenses increased by 18% to $12.7 million for the year

ended December 31 2007 from $10.8 million for the year
ended December 31 2006 Both totals include stock-

based compensation of $359000 and $400000 for 2007 and 2006 respectively The increase in expenses was

primarily attributable to increased employee headcount partially offset by reduced number of contractors As of

December 31 2007 we had 53 employees in research and development compared to 37 employees as of

December 31 2006 43% increase

Research and development expenses including related headcount may increase or decrease depending

primarily on the amount of future revenues customer needs and our assessment of market demand The

expenses may also be impacted by the amount type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount

of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and

related costs for finance legal human resources corporate governance and bad debt expense Information

technology and facilities costs are allocated among all operating departments
General and administrative

expenses increased by 17% to $11.9 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 from $10.2 million for the

year
ended December 31 2006 Both totals include stock-based compensation of $1.3 million and $1.9 million

for years
ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively The increase in expenses was primarily due to an

increase in average personnel of 17% from an average in 2006 of 30 employees to an average of 35 employees

during 2007 Additionally we incurred approximately $362000 of expense related to outside Sarbanes-Oxley

consultants As of December 31 2007 we had 41 employees in general and administrative and information

technology compared to 31 employees as of December 31 2006 32% increase

General and administrative expenses may increase or decrease depending primarily on the amount of future

revenues and corporate
infrastructure requirements including insurance professional services taxes bad debt

expense and other administrative costs The expenses may also be impacted by the amount type and valuation of

stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving

the Company

Restructuring Costs In December 2006 we determined that we may not be able to sublease leased facility

in Princeton New Jersey and changed our assumption of subleasing this excess space During the year
ended

December 31 2006 we recorded $739000 of restructuring costs mainly related to this change in estimate of

sublease payment that was not subject to any contractual arrangement In 2006 there was also restructuring

recovery of $36000 due to the change in estimates of termination of certain employees
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In July 2007 we implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce operating costs

The expense related to our reduction in work force was approximately $240000 and expense related to ceasing
use of one of our offices was approximately $8000

In September 2007 we agreed with the landlord of one of the facilities included in our restructuring accrual

to surrender the remaining term of the lease in exchange for lump sum cash payment As result of this

agreement we recorded additional restructuring expense of approximately $319000 The lump sum cash

payment was primarily made by surrender of the existing lease deposit of $2.1 million

The following table summarizes our restructuring activities for the years ended December 31 2007 and
2006 in thousands

Severance

and
Facilities Related Total

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2005 7270 282 7552
Restructuring charge recoveries 739 36 703

Payments made 3557 246 3803
Sublease payments received 1650 1650

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2006 6102 6102
Restructuring charge recoveries 327 240 567

Payments made 5645 240 5885
Sublease payments received 1968 1968

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2007 2752 2752

The remainder of the restructuring payments will be paid relatively evenly from 2009 through 2011

Interest and Other Income Expense Net

Interest and other income expense net consists primarily of interest income and interest expense and

changes in fair value of warrant liabilities Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on cash and cash

equivalents and was approximately $87000 and $172000 for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006
respectively The decrease in interest income related to lower cash and cash equivalents balances in 2007

compared to 2006 Interest expense relates primarily to our line of credit and was approximately $858000 and

$207000 for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively The increase in interest
expense related

to increased borrowings against the line of credit in 2007 compared to 2006 Interest and other income expense
net also consists of $383000 of bank fees for the year ended December 31 2007 and an increase in the fair value

of warrant liabilities of approximately $774000 for the year ended December 31 2006

Registration Rights Penalty

In June 2005 we completed private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance of

1631541 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 815769 shares of common stock to NightWatch
Capital Partners LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd collectively the

Investors for
gross proceeds of approximately $2.4 million

In September 2005 we completed private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance of

2626912 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 945687 shares of common stock to the Investors for

gross proceeds of approximately $4.0 million

In May 2006 we amended the registration agreement related to the June and September 2005 private

placements collectively referred to as Private Placements to extend the registration deadline of the shares of
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common stock and underlying shares of common stock of the warrants issued to the Investors to September 30

2006 from January 27 2006 in exchange for the issuance of 593854 shares of common stock to the Investors

$337000 and $695000 were recorded as non-operating expenses during the first and second quarter of 2006

respectively The September 30 2006 registration deadline was not met and an additional 59383 shares of

common stock was issued to the Investors The shares were valued at approximately $166000 based on the fair

market value of our common stock on September 30 2006 less 10% discount to reflect that unregistered stock

was issued This amount was recorded as non-operating expense during the third quarter of 2006 On

November 2006 we completed the registration of the shares of common stock and shares of common stock

underlying the warrants issued to the Investors

Income Tax Expense

We have incurred net operating losses on consolidated basis for all years
from inception through

December 31 2007 Accordingly we have recorded valuation allowance for the full amount of our gross

deferred tax assets as the future realization of the tax benefit is not currently more likely than not In 2007 and

2006 certain of our foreign subsidiaries were profitable based upon application of our intercompany transfer

pricing agreements which resulted in us reporting income tax expense in those foreign jurisdictions totaling

approximately $167000 and $219000 for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively
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Quarterly Results of Operations in thousands except per share data

The following tables set forth summary of our unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the eight

quarters in the period ended December 31 2008 The information has been derived from our unaudited

condensed consolidated financial statements that in managements opinion have been prepared on basis

consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report and

include all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair presentation of this

information when read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto The

operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period

Revenues

License fees

Services

Total revenues

Costs and expenses

Cost of license fees

Cost of services

Amortization of acquired intangible assets

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Restructuring costs recoveries

Total costs and expenses

Income loss from operations

Interest and other income expense net

Income loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss

Basic net income loss per share

Shares used in computing basic net income loss

per share

Diluted net income loss per share

Shares used in computing diluted net income

loss per share

As Percentage of Total Revenues

Revenues

Licensefees

Services

Total revenues

Costs and expenses

Cost of license fees

Cost of services

Amortization of acquired intangible assets

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Restructuring costs recoveries

Total costs and expenses

Less than 1%

Quarter Ended

Dec 31 Sept 30 June 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30 June 30 Mar 31
2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

2740 5310 3972

10887 11344 12681

13627 16654 16653

5723 5151 5793 3511 3616

12562 12375 11048 9882 9418

18285 17526 16841 13393 13034

222 232 146 412 297

4.241 4676 5340 5418 5.015

125 125 125 125 124

5733 5294 5028 6244 5965

3650 3408 3426 3334 2782

2139 2.608 2641 3184 2643

______
1064

______
482

16110 17407 16706 18235 16826
______

2483 753 53 50 700

153 91 64 103 127
_______ _______ _______

2636 844 117 53 573 1235 3489 3.703
84 43 20 26 34 32 54 47

2552 887 137 79 539 1267 3543 3750

0.06 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.03 0.10 0.10

41213 41212 41212 41211 38876 37061 36382 36019

0.06 0.02 $0.00 0.00 0.01 0.03 0.10 0.10

41213 41212 41212 41211 39967 37061 36382 36019

20% 32% 24% 31% 29% 34% 26%

80 68 76 69 71 66 74

100 100 100 100 100 100 100

31 28 32 30 29 25 27

42 32 30 34 34 38 50

27 20 21 18 16 19 23

16 16 16 17 15 16 23

118 104 100 100 96 104 125

415 240 287

4253 3668 3068

125 24 15

6443 6660 6193

3133 3083 3652

2634 3120 3503

567

17570 16795 16718

729 3402 3684
506 87 19

28%

72

100

24

48

28

27

128

42



Stock-based compensation expense
which was allocated as follows

Quarter Ended

Dec 31 Sept 30 June 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept.30 June 30 Mar.31

2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Cost of services 69 71 82 $103 $110 $102 56 68

Sales and marketing
152 160 176 164 211 194 225 239

Research and development
71 87 96 77 98 120 72 69

General and administrative 237 243 207 217 210 315 290 494

$529 $561 $561 $561 $629 $731 $643 $870

The amount and timing of our operating expenses generally will vary from quarter to quarter depending on

our level of actual and anticipated business activities Our revenues and operating results are difficult to forecast

and will fluctuate and we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results will not necessarily

be meaningful As result you should not rely upon them as an indication of future performance

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31 2008 we had $7.0 million in cash and cash equivalents compared to $4.3 million as of

December 31 2007 As of December 31 2008 we had negative working capital of $13.8 million $12.9 million

of our current liabilities consists of current deferred revenue primarily reflecting obligations to provide support

services under our software licenses

History and recent trends We have had negative cash flow from operating activities in each year since

inception To date we have funded our operations primarily through issuances of common stock and to lesser

extent cash acquired in acquisitions Cash used in operations was $418000 in 2008 $8.4 million in 2007 and

$1.7 million in 2006 The amount of cash used in our operations is significantly affected by our headcount and

our sales During 2008 and 2007 we had net increase of employees and 44 employees respectively Staffing

is expected to change from time to time based upon number of factors including anticipated demand for our

products and the balancing of roles between employees and outsourced staffing During the years
ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 we had negative cash flow from operations of $418000 and $8.4 million

respectively which reflects among other things the effect of our net loss during each period Our cash

collections during any quarter are driven primarily by the amount of sales booked in the previous quarter and we

cannot be certain that we will meet our revenue expectations in any given period

Primary driver of cash flow Our ability to generate cash in the future depends upon our success in

generating sufficient sales transactions especially new license transactions We expect our support renewals in

2009 to continue to be relatively flat from 2008 Since our new license transactions are relatively small in

number and are difficult to predict we may not be able to generate new license transactions as anticipated in any

particular future period From time to time changes in assets and liabilities such as changes in levels of accounts

receivable and accounts payable may also affect our cash flows

Operating cash flow We had negative cash flow from operating activities of $418000 for the year ended

December 31 2008 which included $3.7 million net loss $2.9 million decrease in deferred revenue and

$1.6 million decrease in accrued restructuring partially offset by non-cash charges of $2.2 million for stock

compensation expense $1.3 million of depreciation $1.7 million decrease in accounts receivable and provision

for doubtful accounts of $0.8 million Our operating activities used $8.4 million and $1.7 million of cash and

cash equivalents for the years
ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively These expenditures were

primarily attributable to net losses experienced during these periods and reductions in accrued restructuring

offset in part by non-cash charges related to stock based compensation
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Investing cash flow Our investing activities used $1.1 million of cash for the year ended December31
2008 primarily for the purchase of property and equipment Our investing activities used $2.8 million of cash for

the year ended December 31 2007 which consisted of the purchase of property and equipment and the

acquisition of eVergance Our investing activities used $860000 of cash during 2006 for the purchase of

property and equipment

Financing cash flow Our financing activities provided $4.6 million of cash for the year ended December 31
2008 and consisted primarily of $6.9 million of net borrowings under our line of credit and borrowings of

$160000 on notes payable offset in
part by the repayments of $2.4 million on notes payable Our financing

activities provided $9.9 million of cash for the year ended December 31 2007 and consisted primarily of $10.4
million in proceeds from issuances of common stock $639000 of net borrowings under our line of credit and

borrowings of $361000 on notes payable offset in part by the repayments of $1.5 million on notes payable Of
the $10.4 million in proceeds from issuances of common stock approximately $8.9 million was derived from

registered direct offering of 4.0 million shares of our common stock completed in November 2007 after

deducting the placement agents fees and offering expenses associated with the offering Our financing activities

provided $2.0 million of cash for the
year ended December 31 2006 and consisted primarily of $2.9 million in

proceeds from issuances of common stock decrease in restricted cash of $5.9 million and borrowings of

$819000 on notes payable offset in part by the repayment of borrowings under our bank line of credit of $7.4
million and the repayments of $250000 on notes payable

Contractual obligations On November 30 2005 we established banking relationship with Bridge Bank
NA Bridge entering into Business Financing Agreement and Intellectual Property Security Agreement
with Bridge under which we had access to loan facility of $7.0 million We have since amended our agreement
with Bridge most recently on March 28 2008 when we entered into Second Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Agreement with Bridge increasing the loan facility to $10.0 million March Loan Facility The
March Loan Facility is formula based revolving line of credit that is limited to 80% of eligible receivables

subject to sublimit of $2.5 million that is available for stand-by letters of credit foreign exchange contracts or
cash management products Existing equipment advances under our line of credit were converted into term loan

as of March 26 2008 in the amount of $1.6 million which is payable in 33 monthly installments of principal plus
interest An additional $500000 borrowed under the additional equipment financing provision was converted
into 36 month term loan on September 30 2008 The total combined borrowing under the March Loan Facility
and sublimits cannot exceed $10.0 million The March Loan Facility is secured by all of our assets and expires

February 27 2010 at which time the entire balance under the formula-based line of credit will be due Interest for

the formula-based revolving line of credit the existing equipment advances and the additional equipment
financing accrues at the Wall Street Journals WSJ Prime Lending Rate plus 1.25% The March Loan Facility

contains certain restrictive covenants including but not limited to certain financial covenants such as maintaining
profitability net of stock-based compensation and maintenance of certain key ratios If we are not in compliance
with the covenants of the March Loan Facility Bridge has the right to declare an event of default and all of the

outstanding balances owed under the March Loan Facility would become immediately due and payable On
March 17 2009 we entered into Loan and Security Modification Agreement to the March Loan Facility that

provided one-time waiver of certain financial covenants for the quarter ended December 31 2008 On May 13
2009 we obtained

non-binding financing proposal from Bridge for modification of the March Loan Facility

that would provide one-time waiver of certain financial covenants for the quarter ended March 31 2009 and the

month ended April 30 2009 The proposal sets the total loan facility amount to $6.0 million and extends the

maturity date to June 30 2010 As requirement of the May 13 2009 proposal from Bridge availability under
the existing revolving line of credit will be used to prepay all amounts currently outstanding under the existing
term loans for equipment Additionally modifications would be made to the existing restrictive covenants and
certain covenants would be added related to raising additional capital This proposal is not binding and is subject
to further negotiation to approval by the lenders loan committee and execution of definitive loan documents

Accordingly we can give no assurances as to whether we will enter into any such loan documents or as to their

terms
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As of December 31 2008 we had $1.1 million outstanding under the March Loan Facility equipment loan

This amount is repayable in 25 monthly installments of principal and interest We had $459000 outstanding

under the additional equipment financing facility This amount is repayable in 33 monthly installments of

principal and interest These loans are included with other non-bank debt in the consolidated balance sheet under

the heading of notes payable These loans are included in current liabilities based on the terms of the May 13

2009 proposal We also have drawn $6.0 million against the formula based revolving line of credit The available

balance of the March Loan Facility was also lowered by $116000 to secure letter of credit related to building

lease leaving an available balance of $2.3 million as of December 31 2008 Subsequent to December 31 2008

we repaid $572000 on January 12 2009 and $2.7 million on March 2009

Our future payments due under debt and lease obligations and other contractual commitments as of

December 31 2008 are as follows in thousands

Payments Due By Period

Less than More than

Total year years years years

Contractual obligations

Line of credit 6000 6000

Notes payable 1834 1821 13

Non-cancelable operating lease obligations 3722 2619 1103

Less Sublease income 954 448 506

Other contractual obligations 6726 1023 3173 2530

Total $17328 $11015 $3783 $2530

Includes leases for properties included in the restructuring liability

Includes only subleases that are under contracts as of December 31 2008 and excludes future estimated

sublease income for agreements not yet signed

Represents payments on legal settlement minimum payments to vendors for future royalty fees and

consulting services

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements As of December 31 2008 we did not have any significant off-balance-

sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303a4ii of SEC Regulation S-K

Employee Equity Incentive Plans See Note and Note of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding employee equity incentive

plans and stock-based compensation for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 Information

regarding equity incentive plans should be read in conjunction with the information appearing under the heading

Executive Compensation and Related Information and Equity Compensation Plan Information appearing in

the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders which is incorporated herein by reference

Outlook We believe that based on our current plans we will require additional financing to fund our

operations through December 31 2009 In addition if we do not experience anticipated demand for our products

we will need to further reduce costs or raise further financing to meet our cash requirements We can give no

assurances as to whether we will be able to implement cost reduction initiatives increase revenues or obtain debt

or equity financing in order to provide sufficient liquidity for us to continue as going concern
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If adequate funds were not available on acceptable terms our ability to achieve or sustain positive cash

flows maintain current operations fund any potential expansion take advantage of unanticipated opportunities

develop or enhance products or services or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly

limited Our expectations as to our future cash flows and our future cash balances are subject to number of

assumptions including anticipated increases in our revenues improvements in general economic conditions and

customer purchasing and payment patterns many of which are beyond our control
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We develop products in the United States and sell these products in North America Europe and Asia In the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 revenues from customers outside of the United States

approximated 25% 25% and 32% respectively of total revenues Generally our sales are made in the local

currency
of our customers As result our financial results and cash flows could be affected by factors such as

changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets We rarely use

derivative instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk As such we are exposed to market risk from

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates principally from the exchange rate between the U.S dollar and

the Japanese yen European Union euro and British pound We manage exposure to variability in foreign

currency exchange rates primarily due to the fact that liabilities and assets as well as revenues and expenses are

denominated in the local currency However different durations in our funding obligations and assets may

expose us to the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations We have not entered into any derivative instrument

transactions to manage this risk The volatility of foreign currencies in certain regions most notably the Japanese

yen European Union euro and British pound have had and may in the future have harmful effect on our

revenue or operating results To the extent the international component of our revenues grows our results of

operations will become more sensitive to foreign exchange rate fluctuations Based on our overall foreign

currency rate exposure at December 31 2008 we do not believe that hypothetical 10% change in foreign

currency rates would materially adversely affect our financial position or results of operations Based on our

overall debt position at December 31 2008 we do not believe that changes in interest rates would materially

adversely affect our financial position or results of operations We do not consider our cash equivalents to be

subject to interest rate risk due to their short maturities
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

summary of our unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the eight quarters in the period ended

December 31 2008 is provided in Item above under the heading Quarterly Results of Operations
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Kana Software Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kana Software Inc and its subsidiaries

the Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations

stockholders equity deficit and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2008

Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15a2 These consolidated financial

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to have

nor have we been engaged to perform an audit of the Companay internal control over financial reporting Our

audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of Kana Software Inc and its subsidiaries as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2008

in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our

opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the consolidated financial

statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will

continue as going concern As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Companys

recurring losses from operations negative working capital negative cash flow from operations and accumulated

deficit raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as going concern Managements plans as to these

matters are also discussed in Note The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that

might arise from the outcome of this uncertainty

Is Burr Pilger Mayer LLP

San Jose California

May 15 2009
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except share data

December 31

2008 2007

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6988 4306

Accounts receivable net of allowance of $217 and $204 at December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively 7556 10247

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 2030 2391

Total current assets 16574 16944

Restricted cash long-term 751 771

Property and equipment net 1923 2292

Goodwill 12415 12500

Acquired intangible assets net 1726 2226

Other assets 428 667

Total assets 33817 35400

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Line of credit 6000 1177

Notes payable 1821 1873

Accounts payable 3618 2943

Accrued liabilities 5084 5486

Accrued restructuring 946 1261

Deferred revenue 12946 15825

Total current liabilities 30415 28565

Deferred revenue long-term 86 297

Accrued restructuring long-term 234 1491

Notes payable long-term 13 110

Other long-term liabilities 479 531

Total liabilities 31227 30994

Commitments and contingencies Note

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.00 par value 5000000 shares authorized no shares

issued and outstanding

Common stock $0.00 par value 250000000 shares authorized

41212791 and 40910481 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 41

Common stock subscription 94Q

Additional paid-in capital 4320743 4317582

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 684 311
Accumulated deficit 4317510 4313855

Total stockholders equity 2590 4406

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 33817 35400

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues

License fees $17745 $18071 $19116

Services 47474 42723 34914

Total revenues 65219 60794 54030

Costs and expenses

Cost of license fees 1012 1239 2460

Cost of services 19675 16004 10439

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 500 288 133

Sales and marketing 22299 25261 19616

Research and development 13818 12650 10765

General and administrative 10572 11900 10185

Restructuring costs net of recoveries 582 567 703

Total costs and expenses
68458 67909 54301

Loss from operations 3239 7115 271
Interest and other income expense net 411 739 738

Registration rights penalty 1198

Loss before income tax expense 3650 7854 2207
Income tax expense 167 219

Netloss $3655 $8021 $2426

Basic and diluted net loss per share 0.09 0.22 0.07

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share 41212 37085 34584

Stock-based compensation included in the expense
line items

Cost of services 325 336 211

Sales and marketing
652 869 871

Research and development 331 359 400

General and administrative 904 1309 1945

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFiCIT
In thousands except share data

Accumulated Total

Common Stock Common Stock Subscription
Additional Other Stockholders

Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Loss Deficit Deficit

Balances at

December 31 2005 33.923783 34 $4293063 517 54303408 59794
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of stock

options 1395263 2944 2945

Registration rights

penalty 653237 1197 1198

Reclassification of warrant

liability 1.864 1864

Employee stock-based

compensation 2795 2.795

Non-employee stock based

compensation 632 632

Comprehensive loss

Foreign currency

translation

adjustment 346 346
Net loss 2426 2426

Total comprehensive

loss 2772

Balances at

December 312006 35972.283 36 4302495 171 4305834 3132
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of stock

options 638198 1476 1.477

Issuance of common stock

netoffeesof$26l 4000000 8911 8.915

Common stock issued and

issuable in acquisition

of eVergance 300000 300000 949 950 1899

Stock options issued and

issuable in acquisition

of eVergance 377 877

Employee stock-based

compensation 2842 2.842

Non-employee stock based

compensation 31 31

Comprchensive loss

Foreign currency

translation

adjustment 482 482
Net loss 8021 8021

Total curriprehensive

loss 8503

Balances at

December31 2007. 40910481 41 300000 949 4317582 311 4313855 4406
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICITContinued
In thousands except share data

Accumulated Total

Common Stock Common Stock Subsci-iption

Additional Other Stockholders

__________________ ________________________ Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Equity

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Loss Deficit Deficit

Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of stock

options 2.3 10

Common stock issued and

issuable in acquisition

of eVergance 300000 300000 949 949

Employee stock-based

compensation 2208 2208

Non-employee stock based

compensation

Comprehensive loss

Foreign currency

translation

adjustment 373 373

Net loss
3655 3655

Total comprehensive

loss
4028

Balances at

December 312008 41212.791 $41 $4320743 $684 $43175l0 2590

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In thousands

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $3655 8021 $2426
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 1275 1015 1453
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 46
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 500 288 133

Employee and non-employee stock-based compensation 2212 2873 3427
Provision for doubtful accounts 814 49

Restructuring costs 302 327 703

Registration rights penalty 1198
Other non-cash charges 118 201 47

Change in fair value of warrant
liability 774

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 1701 479 2350
Prepaid expenses and other assets 600 1940 1134
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 188 2.2 19 4.036
Accrued restructuring 1610 3741 2492
Deferred revenue 2863 675 722

Net cash used in operating activities 418 8433 1661
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 1.169 1.951 860
Acquisition net of cash acquired 85 918
Restricted cash 20 74

Net cash used in investing activities 1064 2795 860
Cash flows from financing activities

Net borrowings repayments under line of credit 6885 639 7400
Borrowings on notes payable 160 361 819

Repayments on notes payable 2425 1.454 250
Restricted cash 5900
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock and warrants 10392 2945

Net cash provided by financing activities 4620 9938 2014

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 456 123 10

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 2682 1413 497
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4306 5719 6216

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6988 4306 5719

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid during the year for interest 236 703 376

Cash paid during the year for income taxes 118 236 713

Noncash activities

Issuance of common stock and stock options in connection with the acquisition of

eVergance 2776

Non-cash issuance of debt in acquisition of eVergance 2358

Debt assumed in acquisition of eVergance 538

Reclassification of warrant
liability 1864

Conversion of line of credit to notes payable 2062

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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KANA SOFTWARE INC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note Kana Software Inc and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Kana Software Inc and its subsidiaries the Company or KANA were incorporated in July 1996 in

California and reincorporated in Delaware in September 1999 KANA develops markets and supports customer

communications software products The Company sells its products primarily in North America Europe and

Asia through its direct sales force and third party integrators

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis which contemplates the

realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business As of December 31 2008

the Company had an accumulated deficit of $4.3 billion and has experienced recurring losses Historically the

Company has financed its operations through combination of debt financings proceeds from common stock

offerings and sale of its products The Company expects to finance future cash needs primarily through sale of

its products and from proceeds from equity or debt financings however it cannot be assured that such financings

will be available on acceptable terms or at all The Company continues to take steps to lower the expenses

related to cost of revenues sales and marketing research and development and general and administrative areas

of the Company

Since 1997 the Company has incurred substantial costs to develop its products and to recruit train and

compensate personnel for our engineering sales marketing client services and administration departments As

result the Company has incurred substantial losses since inception On December 31 2008 the Company had

cash and cash equivalents of $7.0 million and borrowings outstanding under line of credit of $6.0 million due in

February 2010 and borrowings outstanding under notes payable of $1.8 million due in 2009 As of December 31

2008 the Company had an accumulated deficit of $4.3 billion negative working capital of $13.8 million and

stockholders equity of $2.6 million Losses from operations were $3.2 million and $7.1 million for 2008 and

2007 respectively Net cash used for operating activities was $418000 and $8.4 million in 2008 and 2007

respectively These conditions among others raise substantial doubt about the Companys ability to continue as

going concern The consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments that might be required as

result of this uncertainty

During the third quarter
of 2008 the Company reduced headcount by 14 employees to reduce expenses

Additionally during the second quarter of 2009 the Company reduced headcount by 25 employees to better

align its cost structure with its revenues The Company is continuing to find ways to lower costs without

materially changing support for their customers The Companys management believes that based on its current

plans the Company will require additional financing to fund the Companys working capital and capital

expenditure requirements through December 31 2009 However if the Company experiences lower than

anticipated demand for its products it will need to further reduce costs issue equity securities or borrow money

to meet its cash requirements Any such equity issuances could be dilutive to the Companys stockholders and

any financing transactions may be on unfavorable terms

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KANA and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All

significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes On an ongoing basis the Company evaluates

estimates including those related to revenue recognition stock-based compensation provision for doubtful

accounts fair value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill useful lives of property and equipment income
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taxes restructuring costs and contingencies and litigation among others The Company bases estimates

on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results could differ materially from those

estimates under different assumptions or conditions

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2007 presentation to conform to the 2008 presentation none

of which had an effect on net loss total assets or total stockholders equity Also the consolidated statement of

operations footnote for stock-based compensation includes both employee and non-employee stock-based

compensation for all
years presented The consolidated statement of operations footnote had previously disclosed

only employee stock-based compensation

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

AICPA Statement of Position SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition SOP 97-2 as amended

Revenue from software license agreements is recognized when the basic criteria of software revenue

recognition have been met i.e persuasive evidence of an agreement exists delivery of the product has occurred

the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable The Company uses the residual method described in

AICPA SOP No 98-9 Modification of SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain

Transactions SOP 98-9 to recognize revenue when license agreement includes one or more elements to be

delivered at future date and vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements

exists Under the residual method the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining

portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as license revenue If evidence of the fair value of one or more

undelivered elements does not exist all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements

occurs or when fair value can be established

For all sales the Company uses either signed license agreement signed amendment to an existing license

agreement signed order form binding purchase order where the Company either has signed master license

agreement or an order form signed by the Company or signed statement of work as evidence of an

arrangement

Software delivery is primarily by electronic means If the software or other deliverable is subject to

acceptance for specified period after the delivery revenue is deferred until the acceptance period has expired or

the acceptance provision has been met

When licenses are sold together with consulting services license fees are recognized upon delivery

provided that the basic criteria of software revenue recognition have been met payment of the license fees

is not dependent upon the performance of the consulting services and the consulting services do not provide

significant customization of the software products and are not essential to the functionality of the software that

was delivered The Company does not provide significant customization of its software products

Revenue arrangements with extended payment terms are generally considered not to be fixed or

determinable and the Company generally does not recognize revenue on these arrangements until the customer

payments become due and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met

Probability of collection is based upon assessment of the customers financial condition through review of

their current financial statements or publicly-available credit reports For sales to existing customers prior
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payment history is also considered in assessing probability of collection The Company is required to exercise

significant judgment in deciding whether collectibility is reasonably assured and such judgments may materially

affect the timing of our revenue recognition and our results of operations

Services revenues include revenues for consulting services customer support and training and managed

services Consulting services revenues and the related cost of services are generally recognized on time and

materials basis For consulting services contracts that have fixed fee the Company recognizes the license and

professional consulting services revenues using either the percentage-of-completion method or the completed

contract method as prescribed by AICPA SOP No 81-1 Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and

Certain Product-Type Contracts SOP 81-1 The Companys consulting arrangements do not include

significant customization of the software Customer support agreements provide technical support and the right

to unspecified future upgrades on an if-and-when available basis Customer support revenues are recognized

ratably over the term of the support period generally one year Training services revenues are recognized as the

related training services are delivered The unrecognized portion of amounts billed in advance of delivery for

services is recorded as deferred revenue Managed services revenue is recognized in accordance with the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 104 Revenue

Recognition corrected copy SAB 104 Revenues from managed services are recognized ratably over the

term of the arrangement while application fees are recognized ratably over the sum of the term of the

arrangement and the term of expected renewals

Vendor-specific objective evidence for consulting and training services are based on the price charged when

an element is sold separately or in the case of an element not yet sold separately the price established by

authorized management if it is probable that the price once established will not change before market

introduction Vendor-specific objective evidence for support services is based on the price charged when an

element is sold separately or the stated contractual renewal rates

Accounts Receivable and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are stated at cost net of allowances for doubtful accounts The Company makes

judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and records allowances when collection becomes

doubtful Allowance charges are recorded as operating expenses These estimates are based on assessing the

credit worthiness of our customers based on multiple sources of information and analysis of such factors as our

historical collection experience and industry and geographic concentrations of credit risk

The accounts receivable aging is reviewed on regular basis and write-offs are recorded on case by case

basis net of any amounts that may be collected

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less

at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents The Company classifies its marketable securities as available for

sale These items are carried at fair value based on the quoted market prices with unrealized gains and losses

reported as separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss in stockholders equity

deficit To date unrealized and realized gains or losses have not been material The cost of securities sold is

based on the specific identification method There were no marketable securities at December 31 2008 and 2007

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Companys financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts

receivable accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their relatively short
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maturities or payment terms Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for lines of credit and

notes payable with similar terms the carrying value of the Companys line of credit and note payable obligations

approximate fair value

Certain Risks and Concentrations

Financial instruments subjecting the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and

cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with financial

institutions that management believes are creditworthy Deposits in these institutions are generally in excess of

federally insured amounts or similaramounts in foreign jurisdictions

The Companys customers are primarily concentrated in the United States and Europe To reduce credit risk

the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations on its customers financial condition and generally requires

no collateral to support its accounts receivable The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts

based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers historical trends and other information and to date

such losses have been within managements expectations As of December 31 2008 one customer represented

12% of accounts receivable As of December 31 2007 one customer represented 15% of accounts receivable

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 no customer represented more than 10% of

total revenues

Restricted Cash

The Company maintained $751000 and $771000 in long-term restricted cash as of December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively primarily for the Companys leased facilities

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically assesses potential impairment of its long-lived assets with estimable useful lives

which include property and equipment and acquired intangible assets in accordance with the provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of

Long-Lived Assets SFAS 144 An impairment review is performed whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Factors the Company considers important

which could trigger an impairment review include but are not limited to significant under-performance relative

to historical or projected future operating results significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets

or the strategy for the Companys overall business and significant industry or economic trends When the

Company determines that the carrying value of the long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the

existence of one or more of the above indicators the Company determines the recoverability by comparing the

carrying amount of the asset to net future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate The

impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the asset

The Company recognized impairment charges for certain internal-use software in 2008 as detailed below under

Capitalized Software Development CostsInternal-Use The Company did not recognize any impairment

charges in 2007

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and identified

intangible assets acquired in business combinations Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated at least annually

for impairment or when change in facts and circumstances indicate that the fair value of the goodwill may be

below its carrying value

The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level Reporting Unit at least

annually and more frequently if events merit The Company performs this test in accordance with SFAS No 142
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142 The Company has determined that it has only one

reporting segment and one Reporting Unit Accordingly goodwill is tested for impairment in two-step process

First the Company determines if the carrying amount of the Reporting Unit exceeds the fair value of the

Reporting Unit which may initially indicate that goodwill could be impaired If the Company determines that

such impairment could have occurred it would compare the implied fair value of the goodwill as defined by

SFAS 142 to its carrying amount to determine the impairment loss if any No impairment of goodwill was

identified in 2008 2007 or 2006

Properly and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets which are three years for

computer equipment software and furniture and fixtures the shorter of ten years or the life of the lease for

leasehold improvements and five years for internal-use software Upon retirement or sale the cost and related

accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gain or loss is reflected in operations

Improvements that extend the life of specific asset are capitalized while normal maintenance and repairs are

charged to operations as incurred

Capitalized Software Development CostsInternal-Use

Software development costs for internal-use software are capitalized pursuant to the provisions of SOP 98-1

Accounting for Software Development Costs Such costs include internal costs as well as costs incurred to

purchase third party software and are capitalized beginning when the Company has determined certain factors

are present including among others that technology exists to achieve the performance requirements buy versus

internal development decisions have been made and the Companys management has authorized the funding of

the project Capitalization of software costs ceases when the software is substantially complete and is ready for

its intended use The resulting asset is amortized over its five-year estimated useful life using the straight-line

method

When events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of internal-use software might not be recoverable

the Company will assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the amortization of the asset

balance over its remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows The amount

of impairment if any is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the projected discounted future

operating cash flows and is recognized as write-down of the asset In addition when it is no longer probable

that the software being developed will be placed in service the asset will be recorded at the lower of its carrying

value or fair value if any less direct selling costs

In the quarter ended September 30 2008 the Company expensed approximately $263000 of capitalized

costs related to an internal use software project that was abandoned The Company has recorded this expense in

restructuring costs in the accompanying statement of operations see Note Additionally in the quarter ended

December 31 2008 the Company ceased using $561000 of other internal use software that had been fully

amortized prior to 2008

Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold Leased or Otherwise Marketed

Software development costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility of the underlying

software product is achieved After technological feasibility is established software development costs are

capitalized until general availability of the product Capitalized costs are then amortized on the greater of straight

line basis over the estimated product life or the ratio of current revenue to total projected product revenue To

date technological feasibility and general availability of such software have occurred simultaneously and

software development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant Accordingly the Company has

not capitalized any software development costs
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Restructuring Activities

During 2001 the Company had recorded facilities consolidation charge for its estimated future lease

commitments on excess facilities net of estimated future sublease income The estimates used in calculating the

charge are reviewed on quarterly basis and are revised if estimated future vacancy rates and sublease rates vary

from the Companys original estimates To the extent that new estimates vary adversely from the original

estimates the Company may incur additional losses that are not included in the accrued balance at December

2008 Conversely unanticipated improvements in vacancy rates or sublease rates or termination settlements for

less than the Companys accrued amounts may result in reversal of portion of the accrued balance and

benefit on the Companys statement of operations in future period

The restructuring accrual was recorded pursuant to provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue

EITF Issue No 94-3 Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to

Exit an Activity including Certain Costs Incurred in Restructuring EITF 94-3 and continues to be

evaluated pursuant to the requirements thereof For facilities vacated and employees terminated after December

2002 the corresponding restructuring charge was recorded pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No 146

Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities SFAS 146

Stock-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No 123 revised 2004
Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation

expense in the statement of operations for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors

including employee stock options based on estimated fair values

Employee stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123R in the consolidated statements

of operations was $2.2 million $2.8 million and $2.8 million of the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 The estimated fair value of the Companys stock-based awards less expected forfeitures is amortized over

the awards vesting period on straight-line basis

SFAS 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant

using an option-pricing model The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in the Companys statements of operations Employee

stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 included compensation expense
for share-based payment awards granted
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the pro forma provisions of SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation SFAS 123 The

Companys stock-based compensation expense also includes compensation expense for the share-based payment

awards granted subsequent to December 31 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with

the provisions of SFAS l23R Since stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements

of operations for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to

vest it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of

grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates

For stock options granted to non-employees the Company recognizes compensation expense
in accordance

with the provisions of SFAS 123 and EITF Issue No 96-18 Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued

to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services which require such

equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value on the measurement date The measurement of stock-based

compensation is subject to periodic fair value adjustments as the underlying equity instruments vest The

Company amortizes compensation expense related to non-employee stock options in accordance with Financial

Accounting Standards Board FASB Interpretation No 28 Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and

Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans FIN 28
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In 2005 and 2006 the Company extended the vesting period of approximately 1000000 stock options held

by four terminated employees who had agreements to provide consulting services In October 2006 the

Company extended the exercise period of approximately 211000 vested stock options of former employee as

the result of termination agreement During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company granted 57500

stock options to four non-employees who had agreements to provide consulting services As result of these

stock option modifications to former employees and the stock option grants to consultants the Company
recorded non-employee stock-based compensation expenses of $4000 $31000 and $632000 for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively allocated as follows in thousands

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Sales and marketing expense 15 $119

Research and development expense 44

General and administrative expense 16 469

$31 $632

The 2006 stock option grants to consultants were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with

assumptions similar to those utilized for employee options as discussed in Note

See Note Stockholders Equity Deficit for additional information on stock options

Foreign Currency

Generally the functional currency of our international subsidiaries is the local currency The financial

statements of these subsidiaries are translated to U.S dollars using month-end exchange rates for assets and

liabilities and average exchange rates for revenues costs and expenses Translation gains and losses are recorded

in accumulated other comprehensive income loss as component of stockholders equity deficit

Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate changes denominated in other than the local

currency are included in general and administrative expenses in the statements of operations and are not

considered material for all periods presented

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred Advertising expense was $379000 $369000 and

$275000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenses
consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel

responsible for the research and development of new products and services as well as significant improvements

to existing products and services The Company expenses research and development costs as they are incurred

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to

differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective

tax bases valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount where realization is more

likely than not

In June 2006 the FASB issued Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan

interpretation of FASB Statement 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income

61



taxes recognized in an enterprises financial statements in accordance with SFAS No 109 Accounting for

Income Taxes It prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement

recognition and measurement of tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return FIN 48 also provides

guidance on derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods

disclosure and transition See Note 11 for additional information on FIN 48

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of outstanding shares of common

stock Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common

stock and when dilutive shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options and warrants deemed

outstanding using the treasury stock method Outstanding warrants and stock options of approximately 10341000

12402000 and 11347000 at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively have been excluded from the

calculation of diluted net loss per share as all such securities were anti-dilutive for all periods presented

Comprehensive Income Loss

The Company reports comprehensive income loss in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 130

Reporting Comprehensive Income which establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income loss and

its components in the financial statements The components of other comprehensive income loss consists of net

income loss and foreign currency
translation adjustments Comprehensive income loss and the components of

accumulated other comprehensive income loss are presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of

stockholders equity deficit

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP
FAS 157-3 FSP FAS 157-3 Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset in Market That is Not

Active FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements

SFAS No 157 in market that is not active FSP FAS 157-3 addresses how management should consider

measuring fair value when relevant observable data does not exist FSP FAS 157-3 also provides guidance on

how observable market information in market that is not active should be considered when measuring fair

value as well as how the use of market quotes should be considered when assessing the relevance of observable

and unobservable data available to measure fair value FSP FAS 157-3 is effective upon issuance for companies

that have adopted SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements The adoption of FSP FAS 157-3 did not have

material impact on the Companys results of operations financial position or cash flows

In June 2008 the FASB ratified Emerging Issue Task Force EITF Issue No 07-5 Determining whether

an Instrument or Embedded Feature is indexed to an Entitys Own Stock EITF 07-5 EITF 07-5 is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods

within those fiscal
years Early application is not permitted EITF 07-5 provides new two-step model to be

applied in determining whether financial instrument or an embedded feature is indexed to an issuers own stock
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evaluating the impact that the adoption of EITF 07-5 will have on its consolidated financial statements

In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP No FAS 157-2 Effective Date of FASB Statement No 157

FSP FAS 157-2 to partially defer SFAS No 157 FSP FAS 157-2 defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the

financial statements on recurring basis at least annually to fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal

years beginning after November 15 2008 The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of

FSP FA5 157-2 will have on its consolidated financial statements
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In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations

SFAS 141R SFAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and

measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed any non-controlling

interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable

the evaluation of the nature and financial effects of the business combination SFAS l4lR is effective as of the

beginning of an entitys first fiscal year beginning after December 15 2008 and will be adopted by the Company
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009 SFAS 141R is to be applied prospectively to business combinations for

which the acquisition date is on or after January 2009 The Company expects SFAS l4lR will have an impact

on its accounting for future business combinations once adopted but the effect is dependent upon the acquisitions

that are made in the future

Note Business Combinations

On May 2007 the Company executed definitive agreement with the members of eVergance Partners

LLC eVergance to acquire all of their membership interests On June 14 2007 the Closing Date the

Company agreed to issue to the former members of eVergance an aggregate of 600000 shares of its common

stock the Stock and an aggregate of 400000 non-equity plan options to purchase shares of its common stock

the Options Twenty-five percent of the Stock was issued as of the Closing Date and an additional twenty-

five percent was issued on each of three seven and nine months after the Closing Date The fair value of Stock

was determined using value of $3.17 which was the average closing price of the Companys common stock

two days before and after the announcement date of May 2007 less 10% discount to reflect that unregistered

stock was issued and issuable The unissued stock was accounted for as common stock subscription in the

consolidated balance sheet Twenty-five percent of the Options were exercisable as of the Closing Date and it

was agreed that an additional twenty-five percent would be exercisable three six and nine months after the

Closing Date The Options have an exercise price per
share equal to the closing sale price of the Companys

common stock on June 13 2007 which was $3.07 as quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board

OTCBB The fair value of the options was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using

assumptions of risk-free interest rate of 4.76% expected volatility of 53% the ten year contractual term and no

expected dividends The fair value of the common stock underlying the options was discounted as discussed

above The options granted have been excluded from the summaries of options outstanding in Note and had

fair value of $2.19 per share upon grant In addition the Company paid cash of $762000 and issued promissory

notes having total principal amount of $2.5 million to the eVergance members The aggregate
consideration for

the transaction was as follows in thousands

Cash consideration 762

Present value of notes payable to members of eVergance 2358

Fair value of common stock issued and issuable 1899

Fair value of options issued and issuable 877

Direct acquisition costs 156

Total consideration $6052

The Company relied on an exemption from registration provided by Section 42 of the Securities Act of

1933 as amended the Securities Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder The former members of

eVergance represented to KANA that they were accredited investors as defined in Rule 501a promulgated in

the Securities Act and that they were purchasing the Stock for their own account and not with present view

towards the public sale or distribution thereof

eVergance is management consulting and systems integration firm offering end-to-end consulting services

for customer relationship management optimization knowledge management and web self-service deployments

Through this acquisition the Company will significantly expand its professional services portfolio to meet

growing demand for consulting and implementation services Under the terms of the definitive agreement related

to the acquisition the purchase consideration consisted of cash stock and options issued
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This transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting The Company allocated the

purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the

acquisition date giving consideration to an independent appraisal To the extent that the purchase price exceeded

the fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed goodwill was recorded The intangible assets acquired in

connection with the acquisition are being amortized over five-year period

The following is summary of the initial allocation of the purchase price in thousands

Tangible assets

Current assets 865

Property and equipment 134

Other assets 19

Total tangible assets acquired 1018

Liabilities

Current liabilities 1268
Long-term liabilities 75

Total liabilities assumed 1343

Fair value of net tangible liabilities acquired 325

Intangible assets consisting of

Customer relationships 2500

Total intangible assets acquired 2500

Goodwill 3877

Total consideration 6052

Subsequent to the initial allocation of the purchase price above in the quarter ended June 30 2008 goodwill

was reduced by $85000 due to the collection of an account receivable that was written off prior to the acquisition

of eVergance

The consolidated financial statements include the operating results of eVergance from the date of

acquisition Pro forma results of operations for the eVergance acquisition have not been presented because the

effect of the acquisition was not material to the Companys financial results

Note Financial Statement Detail

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value and consisted of the following

in thoiisink

December 31

2008 2007

Cash $2899 $3304

Money market funds 4089 1002

$6988 $4306
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Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the
following in thousands

Deposits

Prepaid royalties

Accrued payroll and related
expenses

Accrued
royalties

Other accrued liabilities

Interest income

Interest
expense

Change in warrant liability

Other

December 31

2007

12660

843

3420

_______
824

17747

_______
15455

_______ 2292

Prepaid royalties

Other prepaid expenses

Property and equipment net consisted of the following in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

469 510

1561 1881

2030 2391

2008

Computer equipment and software
9726

Furniture and fixtures
669

Leasehold improvements
3147

Internal-use software

13542
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

11619

1923

Amortization of internal-use software was $0 $37000 and $112000 for the years ended December 312008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Other assets consisted of the
following in thousands

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following in thousands

Interest and other income expense net consisted of the following in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

293 233

135 434

428 667

December 31

2008 2007

2460 2667
958 1034

1666 1785

5084 $5486

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

27 87 $172

369 858 207
774

69 32 71

$4l1 $739 $738
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Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Consideration paid in connection with acquisitions is required to be allocated to the acquired assets

including identifiable intangible assets and liabilities acquired Acquired assets and liabilities are recorded based

on the Companys estimate of fair value which requires significant judgment with respect
to future cash flows

and discount rates For intangible assets other than goodwill the Company is required to estimate the useful life

of the asset and recognize its cost as an expense
over the useful life The Company uses the straight-line method

to expense long-lived assets including identifiable intangibles Amortization of goodwill ceased as of January

2002 upon the Companys adoption of SFAS 142 Instead the Company is now required to test goodwill for

impairment under certain circumstances and write down goodwill when it is deemed to be impaired

The Company regularly evaluates its business for potential indicators of impairment of goodwill and

intangible assets The Companys judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on

market conditions operational performance of the business and considerations of any events that are likely to

cause impairment Future events could cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that

goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the Companys acquired businesses are impaired The

Company currently operates in one reportable segment which is also the only reporting unit for the purposes
of

SFAS 142

The Company performs its annual impairment test on June 30 and concluded that goodwill was not impaired

as the fair value of the Company exceeded its carrying value including goodwill No events have occurred since

June 30 2008 that would require an interim impairment analysis of goodwill The Companys identifiable

intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the

carrying amount of an intangible may not be recoverable At December 31 2008 the Company determined that

goodwill was not impaired

Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization Amortization is computed

over the estimated useful lives of the assets which is five years
The Company reported amortization expense on

purchased intangible assets of $500000 $288000 and $133000 for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively Expected amortization expense is $500000 in 2009 $500000 in 2010 $500000 in 2011

and $226000 in 2012

The components of goodwill and other intangibles are as follows in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

Goodwill
12.415 12500

Intangibles

Customer relationships
2650 2650

Purchased technology
14650 14650

Less accumulated amortization
15.574 15074

Intangibles net
1726 2226

Note Line of Credit and Notes Payable

Line of Credit

On November 30 2005 the Company established banking relationship with Bridge Bank N.A Bridge

entering into Business Financing Agreement and Intellectual Property Security Agreement with Bridge under

which the Company had access to loan facility of $7.0 million The Company has since amended the agreement

with Bridge most recently on March 28 2008 when the Company entered into Second Amended and Restated

Loan and Security Agreement with Bridge under which the Company has access to loan facility of $10.0

million March Loan Facility The March Loan Facility is formula-based revolving line of credit based on
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80% of eligible receivables subject to sublimit of $2.5 million is available for stand-by letters of credit foreign

exchange contracts or cash management products Existing equipment advances under the line of credit were

converted into term loan as of March 26 2008 in the amount of $1.6 million which is payable in 33 monthly

installments of principal plus interest An additional $500000 borrowed under the additional equipment

financing provision was converted into 36 month term loan on September 30 2008 The total combined

borrowing under the March Loan Facility and sublimits cannot exceed $10.0 million The March Loan Facility is

collateralized by all of the Companys assets and expires February 27 2010 at which time the entire balance

under the formula-based line of credit will be due Interest for the formula based revolving line of credit the

existing equipment advances and the additional equipment financing accrues at the Wall Street Journals

WSJ Prime Lending Rate plus 1.25% which was 4.50% as of December 31 2008 The March Loan Facility

contains certain restrictive covenants including but not limited to certain financial covenants such as

maintaining profitability net of stock-based compensation and maintenance of certain key ratios If the Company

is not in compliance with the covenants of the March Loan Facility Bridge has the right to declare an event of

default and all of the outstanding balances owed under the March Loan Facility would become immediately due

and payable On March 17 2009 the Company entered into Loan and Security Modification Agreement to the

March Loan Facility that provided one-time waiver of these financial covenants for the quarter ended

December 31 2008 On May 13 2009 the Company obtained non-binding financing proposal from Bridge for

modification of the March Loan Facility that would provide one-time waiver of these financial covenants for

the quarter ended March 31 2009 and the month ended April 30 2009 The proposal sets the total loan facility

amount to $6.0 million and extends the maturity date to June 30 2010 As requirement of the May 13 2009

proposal from Bridge availability under the existing revolving line of credit will be used to prepay
all amounts

currently outstanding under the existing term loans for equipment Additionally modifications would be made to

the existing restrictive covenants and added certain covenants related to raising additional capital This proposal

is not binding and is subject to further negotiation to approval by the lenders loan committee and execution of

definitive loan documents Accordingly the Company can give no assurances as to whether it will enter into any

such loan documents or as to their terms In addition the Companys existing credit facilities prohibit the

payment of cash or stock dividends on its capital stock without the lenders prior written consent

As of December 31 2008 the Company had $1.1 million outstanding under the March Loan Facility

equipment loan This amount is repayable in 25 remaining monthly installments of principal and interest The

Company had $459000 outstanding under the additional equipment financing facility This amount is repayable

in 33 remaining monthly installments of principal and interest These loans are included with other non-bank

debt under the heading of notes payable in the consolidated balance sheet These loans are included in current

liabilities based on the terms of the May 13 2009 proposal that waived out of compliance conditions of certain

covenants and requires the Company to prepay the term loans from availability under the existing line of credit

The Company has also drawn $6.0 million against the formula based revolving line of credit The available

balance of the March Loan Facility was also lowered by $116000 to secure letter of credit related to building

lease leaving an available balance of $2.3 million as of December 31 2008

Notes Payable

As of December 31 2008 there was 1.8 million classified as current portion of notes payable and $13000

classified as long-term The notes payable consist of four obligations An equipment loan from Bridge with

interest at prime plus .25% as discussed above promissory note for the financing of software license

and support purchased and has fixed interest rate of 3.15% payable in five remaining monthly installments of

principal and interest capital lease obligation assumed from eVergance for office furniture and

equipment which had year term of which 18 months were remaining as of December 31 2008 and an

annual interest rate of 8.58% short-term financing of Directors and Officers insurance and has fixed

interest rate of 9.87% payable in remaining monthly installments of principal and interest
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Note Description Interest Rate Total Due

Note financing of equipment Prime pIus 1.25% $1595
Note financing of software 3.15% 72

Note financing of eVergance equipment 8.5 8% 38

Note financing of insurance 9.87% 129

$1834
______

Note Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations

The Company leases its facilities under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates

through January 2011 In connection with its existing leases the Company entered into letters of credit totaling

$864000 expiring in 2010 and 2011 The Companys letters of credit can be supported by either restricted cash
or the Companys line of credit

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows in thousands

Non-cancelable

Operating

Leases1
__________

Net

$2619 $2171

1050 583

_____ 14

______
$2.768

Rent
expense for properties in use net of sublease payments was approximately $1.7 million $1.6 million

and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Other Contractual Obligations

At December 31 2008 the Company had other future contractual obligations requiring payments of $1.0

million $1.6 million $1.6 million $1.7 million and $0.9 million for the
years ended December 31 2009 2010

2011 2012 and 2013 respectively with no required payments thereafter These contractual obligations represent

payments on legal settlement minimum payments to vendors for future royalty fees and consulting services

Litigation

On January 24 2007 RightNow Technologies Inc RightNow filed suit in the Eighteenth Judicial

District Court of Gallatin County Montana against the Company and four former RightNow employees who had

joined the Company The suit alleges violation of certain provisions of employment agreements
misappropriation of trade secrets as well as other claims and seeks damages The Company believes it has

meritorious defenses to these claims and intend to defend against this action vigorously

The underwriters for the Companys initial public offering Goldman Sachs Co Lehman Bros
Hambrecht Quist LLC Wit Soundview Capital Corp as well as the Company and certain current and former
officers of the Company were named as defendants in federal securities class action lawsuits filed in the U.S
District Court for the Southern District of New York the District Court The cases allege violations of various

Total

Payments Due By Period in

thousands

Due in 2009

$1595

72

25

______
129

_____
$1821

Due in 2010

13

13

Year Ending December 31

2009

2010

2011

Includes leases for properties included in the restructuring liability

Includes subleases that are under contracts as of December 31 2008

Less

Sublease

Income2

$448

467

39

$954

53

$3722
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securities laws by more than 300 issuers of stock including the Company and the underwriters for such issuers

on behalf of class of plaintiffs who in the case of the Company purchased the Companys stock between

September 21 1999 and December 2000 in connection with the Companys initial public offering

Specifically
the complaints allege that the underwriter defendants engaged in scheme concerning sales of the

Companys and other issuers securities in the initial public offering and in the aftermarket In July 2003 the

Company decided to join settlement negotiated by representatives of coalition of issuers named as defendants

in this action and their insurers In April 2005 the court requested modification to the original settlement

arrangement which was approved by the Company Although the Company believed that the plaintiffs claims

had no merit the Company had decided to accept the settlement proposal to avoid the cost and distraction of

continued litigation The Company was party to global settlement with the plaintiffs that would have disposed

of all claims against it with no admission of wrongdoing by the Company or any of its present or former officers

or directors The settlement agreement had been preliminarily approved by the District Court However while

the settlement was awaiting final approval by the District Court in December 2006 the Court of Appeals

reversed the District Courts determination that six focus cases could be certified as class actions In April 2007

the Court of Appeals denied the plaintiffs petition for rehearing but acknowledged that the District Court might

certify more limited class At September 26 2007 status conference the District Court approved stipulation

withdrawing the proposed settlement On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in the six

focus cases to test the sufficiency of their class allegations On September 27 2007 the plaintiffs filed motion

for class certification in the six focus cases which was withdrawn on October 10 2008 On November 13 2007

the defendants filed motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state claim which the District Court denied

on March 2008 Plaintiffs the issuer defendants including the Company and underwriter defendants and the

insurance carriers for the defendants have engaged in mediation and settlement negotiations The parties have

entered into settlement agreement As part of this settlement the Companys insurance carrier has agreed to

assume the Companys entire payment obligation under the terms of the settlement The proposed settlement was

submitted to the District Court for preliminary approval on April 2009 but there can be no guarantee
that it

will be finalized or receive approval from the District Court The Company believes that it has meritorious

defenses to these claims If the proposed settlement is not approved and the litigation continues against the

Company the Company would continue to defend against this action vigorously

In October 2007 lawsuit was filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Washington by

Ms Vanessa Simmonds against certain of the underwriters of the Companys initial public offering The plaintiff

alleges that the underwriters violated Section 16b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C section

78pb by engaging in short-swing trades and seeks disgorgement
of profits from the underwriters in amounts to

be proven at trial The suit names the Company as nominal defendant contains no claims against the Company

and seeks no relief from the Company This matter was dismissed with prejudice on March 12 2009 and

plaintiff filed notice of appeal on March 31 2009

On March 16 2006 Polaris IP LLC filed suit against the Company Sirius Satellite Radio Inc

Priceline.com Capital One Continental Airlines Inc and ETrade Financial in the U.S District Court for the

Eastern District of Texas alleging infringement of U.S Patent Nos 6411947 and 6278996 and seeking

injunctive relief damages and attorneys fees On March 23 2007 the parties entered into settlement

agreement and this matter was dismissed with prejudice on April 26 2007

Other third parties have from time to time claimed and others may claim in the future that the Company has

infringed their past current or future intellectual property rights The Company has in the past been forced to

litigate such claims These claims whether meritorious or not could be time-consuming result in costly

litigation require expensive changes in the Companys methods of doing business or could require the Company

to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements if available As result these claims could harm the

Companys business

The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain and either unfavorable or favorable outcomes could

have material negative impact on the Companys results of operations consolidated balance sheets and cash

flows due to defense costs and divert management resources
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Indeinn ification

Many of the Companys software license
agreements require the Company to indemnify its customers from

any claim or finding of intellectual property infringement The Company periodically receives notices from
customers regarding patent license inquiries they have received which may or may not implicate the Companys
indemnity obligations Any litigation brought by others or the Company could result in the expenditure of

significant financial resources and the diversion of managements time and efforts In addition litigation in

which the Company is accused of infringement might cause product shipment delays require the Company to

develop alternative technology or require the Company to enter into royalty or license agreements which might
not be available on acceptable terms or at all If successful claim of infringement was made against the

Company and the Company could not develop non-infringing technology or license the infringed or similar

technology on timely and cost-effective basis its business could be significantly harmed Such indemnification
provisions are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No Accounting for Contingencies SFAS In

prior periods the Company has incurred minimal costs related to such claims under such indemnifications

provisions accordingly the amount of such obligations cannot be reasonably estimated The Company did
however record settlement charge resulting from settlement of an infringement claim on the Companys
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2006 which was not considered material
There were no outstanding claims at December 31 2008

As permitted by Delaware law the Company has agreements whereby it indemnities its officers and directors

for certain events or occurrences while the officer is or was serving at the Companys request in such capacity The
term of the indemnification period is for the officers or directors lifetime The maximum potential amount of
future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification

agreements is unlimited
however the Company has director and officer insurance policy that limits its

exposure and enables the Company
to recover portion of

any such amounts As result of the Companys insurance policy coverage the Company
believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is insignificant Accordingly the Company
has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31 2008

Warranties

The Company generally provides warranty for its software products and services to its customers The
Companys products are generally warranted to perform substantially as described in the associated product
documentation for period of 90 days The Companys services are generally warranted to be performed
consistent with industry standards for period of 90 days from delivery In the event there is failure of such
warranties the Company generally is obligated to correct the product or service to conform to the warranty
provision or if the Company is unable to do so the customer is entitled to seek refund of the purchase price of
the product or service Such warranties are accounted for in accordance with SFAS The Company has not

provided for
warranty accrual as of December 31 2008 or 2007 because to date the Companys product

warranty expense has not been significant The Company assesses the need for warranty reserve on quarterly
basis and there can be no guarantee that warranty reserve will not become necessary in the future

Note Stockholders Equity Deficit

Issuance of Common Stock and Warrants

On November 21 2007 the Company completed direct offering of 4000000 shares of registered common
stock par value $0.00 at an initial price of $2.45 per share for

gross proceeds of $9.8 million The Company
received approximately $8.9 million in net proceeds after deducting the placement agents fees and offering
expenses The Company used portion of the net proceeds from this financing to repay $6.8 million of

borrowings under its loan agreement with Bridge and used the remaining portion for general corporate purposes
All of the shares of common stock were offered and sold by the Company pursuant to an effective registration
statement on Form S-3 File No 333-145742 filed with the SEC in November 2007

On June 14 2007 the Closing Date the Company agreed to issue to the former members of eVergance
an aggregate of 600000 shares of its common stock the Stock and an aggregate of 400000 non-equity plan
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options to purchase shares of our common stock the Options Twenty-five percent of the Stock was issued as

of the Closing Date and it was agreed that an additional twenty-five percent would be issued three seven and

nine months after the Closing Date The fair value of the Stock was determined using value of $3.17 which

was the average closing price of the Companys common stock two days before and after the announcement date

of May 2007 less 10% discount to reflect that unregistered stock was issued and issuable The unissued

stock was accounted for as common stock subscription in the consolidated balance sheet Twenty-five percent of

the Options were exercisable as of the Closing Date and it was agreed that an additional twenty-five percent

would be exercisable three six and nine months after the Closing Date The Options have an exercise price per

share equal to the closing sale price of the Companys common stock on June 13 2007 which was $3.07 as

quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board OTCBB The fair value of the options was determined using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model using assumptions of risk-free interest rate of 4.76% expected volatility

of 53% the ten year contractual term and no expected dividends The fair value of the common stock underlying

the Options was discounted as discussed above See Note for more information on this acquisition

In December 2007 the Company registered the Stock and shares of common stock underlying the Options

issued in connection with the acquisition of all membership interests of eVergance on Form S-3 Registration

Statement filed with the SEC

In June and September 2005 the Company completed private placement of unregistered securities for the

issuance of common stock and warrants In May 2006 the Company amended the Registration Agreement

related to the June and September 2005 private placements collectively referred to as the Private Placements

to extend the registration deadline of the shares of common stock and underlying shares of common stock of the

warrants issued to the investors to September 30 2006 from January 27 2006 and change the penalty for failure

to register the underlying shares of common stock from cash penalty to share-based payment in exchange for

the issuance of 593854 shares of common stock to the investors The shares were valued at approximately $1.0

million based on the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the date of the amendment less 10%
discount to reflect that unregistered stock was issued Registration rights penalties of $337000 and $695000

were recorded as non-operating expenses during the first and second quarters of 2006 respectively The

September 30 2006 registration deadline was not met and an additional 59383 shares of common stock was

issued to the investors The shares were valued at approximately $166000 based on the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on September 30 2006 less 10% discount to reflect that unregistered stock was

issued This amount was recorded as non-operating expense during the third quarter of 2006

On November 2006 the Company completed the registration of the shares of common stock and shares of

common stock underlying the warrants issued to the investors

In December 2003 the Company issued to customer warrant to purchase 230000 shares of common
stock at $5.00 per share The warrant was fully exercisable upon issuance and expired in December 2008

As of December 31 2008 the Company had the following warrants outstanding and exercisable

Warrant
Number of exercise

warrants price

June 2005 warrants expiring in September 2010 815769 $2.45

September 2005 warrants expiring in September 2010 945687 $1.97

October 2005 warrants expiring in October 2010 153130 $1.97

1914586

Stock Compensation Plans

The Companys 1999 Stock Incentive Plan the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as successor to the 1997

Stock Option Plan the 1997 Stock Option Plan provides for shares of the Companys common stock to be
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granted to employees independent contractors officers and directors Options are granted at an exercise price

equivalent to the closing fair market value on the date of grant All options are granted at the discretion of the

Companys Board of Directors and have term not greater than 10 years from the date of grant Options are

immediately exercisable when vested and generally vest monthly over four years

The following table summarizes activities under the equity incentive plans for the indicated periods

Weighted

Average
Number of Exercise

Shares Price

8673108 8.03

2212863 10.30

1395263 2.11

4136939 2.99

9201921 6.12

1750437 4.18

638198 2.31

3044500 3.12

9857786 5.78

2863315 6.52

2310 0.10

1034000 1.40

8026161 4.96

Balances December 31 2005

Options cancelled and retired

Options exercised

Options granted

Balances December 31 2006

Options cancelled and retired

Options exercised

Options granted

Balances December 31 2007

Options cancelled and retired

Options exercised

Options granted

Balances December 31 2008

Aggregate

Intrinsic

Value

$1472165

531343

2779

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term in years
___________

6.8 4894

6.6 4672

6.1 4199

Options vested and exerciseable and expected to be vested

and exerciseable at December 31 2008

Options vested and exerciseable at December 31 2008

6911560 5.19

5398403 5.18

At December 31 2008 the Company had 15906352 options available for grant under its option plans

At December 31 2008 the Company had $2.6 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation

expense net of estimated forfeitures related to stock options that will be recognized over the weighted average

remaining period of 2.2 years This amount excludes unrecognized stock-based compensation expense that

relates to non-employee stock options

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options as of

December 31 2008

Options Outstanding Options Vested and Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Remaining Exercise Exercise

Number Contractual Price Per Number Price Per

Outstanding Life in Years Share Exercisable Share

$11
in_i co 76 1N S3147 1.49

1.632.81 1000461 4.9 1.94 801056 1.88

2.95 2.95 3070772 7.3 2.95 2374850 2.95

3.003.13 1314063 8.0 3.09 579701 3.10

3.22 12.4 1161711 5.9 4.41 854019 4.80

14.41 566.25 239315 1.9 71.63 204630 58.34

735.00735.00 1000 0.9 735.00 1000 735.00

Total 8026161 6.8 4.96 5398403 5.18
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Employee stock-based compensation recognized in 2008 2007 and 2006 uses the Black-Scholes option

pricing model for estimating the fair value of options granted under the Companys equity incentive plans The

weighted average assumptions that were used to calculate the grant date fair value of the Companys employee

stock option grants for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 were as follows

Stock Options

2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.68% 4.66% 4.7 1%

Expected volatility 53% 51% 59%

Expected life in years

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rates for the options were taken from the Daily Federal Yield Curve Rates on the grant

dates for the expected life of the options as published by the Federal Reserve

The expected volatility was based upon historical data and other relevant factors such as the Companys

changes in historical volatility and its capital structure in addition to mean reversion

The forfeiture rate of employee stock options for 2008 2007 and 2006 was calculated using the Companys
historical terminations data

In the analysis of expected life the Company used an approach that determines the time from grant to

exercise for options that have been exercised and adjusts this number for the expected time to exercise for

options that have not yet been exercised The expected time to exercise for options that have not yet been

exercised is calculated from grant to the midpoint of contractual termination of the option and the later of

measurement date or vesting date All times are weighted by number of option shares in developing the expected

life assumption

The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2008 2007 and 2006 was $0.64 $1.51 and $1.62 per

share respectively

No options were granted with an exercise price below the fair market value during fiscal
years 2008 2007

and 2006

Note Warrant Liability

The warrants issued to the investors in June September and October 2005 collectively referred to as the

Warrants had cash penalties for the failure to register the underlying shares of common stock Pursuant to

EITF Issue No 00-19 Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to and Potentially Settled in

Companys Own Stock EITF 00-19 the Company recorded the Warrants as liabilities at their fair value

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with changes in value reported to other income or expense each

period For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 there was no income or expense recorded and for the

year ended December 31 2006 there was $774000 recorded to other expense for the change in fair value of the

Warrants

The Warrants required physical settlement but allowed for net-share settlement if the underlying shares of

common stock were not registered maximum of 1914586 shares of common stock could be issued to settle

the Warrants under net-share settlement

As noted above in Note in May 2006 the Company amended the Registration Agreement related to the

Private Placements to extend the registration deadline of the shares of common stock and underlying shares of
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common stock of the warrants issued to the investors The Company amended the penalty for failure to register

the underlying shares of common stock from cash to share-based payments with maximum limit of 59383

penalty shares issued Pursuant to EITF 00-19 with the elimination of these cash penalties and maximum limit

on penalty shares the fair value of the Warrants on the date of this amendment was reclassified to equity from

liability and gains or losses recorded to account for the contract at fair value during the period that the contract

was classified as liability were not reversed

Note Restructuring Costs

As of December 31 2008 the Company has $1.2 million in recorded restructuring liabilities related to

excess leased facilities exited in 2001 The restructuring reserve was recorded pursuant to the provisions of EITF

94-3 and continues to be evaluated pursuant to the requirements thereof

In December 2006 the Company determined that it may not be able to sublease leased facility in

Princeton New Jersey and changed its assumption of subleasing this excess space The Company recorded

restructuring charge of $739000 in the year ended December 31 2006 mainly related to this change in estimate

of sublease assumption that was not subject to any contractual arrangement In 2006 there was also

restructuring recovery of $36000 due to the change in estimates of termination of certain employees

In July 2007 the Company implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce

operating costs The expense related to the reduction in work force was approximately $240000 and expense

related to ceasing use of one of our offices was approximately $8000

In September 2007 the Company agreed with the landlord of one of the facilities included in the

restructuring accrual to surrender the remaining term of the lease in exchange for lump sum cash payment As

result of this agreement the Company recorded additional restructuring expense of approximately $319000 The

lump sum cash payment was primarily made by surrender of the existing lease deposit of approximately

$2.1 million

In March 2008 the Company was notified by the subtenant of one of the facilities included in the

restructuring accrual of their intent to lease additional space and extend their sublease through the end of our

lease term As result of this agreement the Company recorded restructuring recovery of approximately

$482000 The agreement was executed in May 2008

In July 2008 the Company implemented various cost reduction and restructuring activities to reduce

opeiaiig LUStS IIC CAC11C ICIdLCU LU tillS ICUULIIUII II WU1l IUILC WI tUAlll1U1LlY LJIJJ aiiu UlI Ap11I
related to ceasing use of two of our offices was approximately $64000 Additionally the Company expensed

approximately $263000 of capitalized costs related to an internal use software project that was abandoned

Should facilities operating lease rental rates continue to decrease in these markets or should it take longer

than expected to find suitable tenant to sublease these facilities the actual loss could exceed this estimate

Future cash outlays are anticipated through January 2011 unless the Company negotiates to exit the leases at an

earlier date Sublease payments received were approximately $478000 $2.0 million and $1.7 million in the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively
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summary of restructuring expenses payments and liabilities for the years ended December 31 2006
2007 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

Severance

and Internal Use
Facilities Related Software Total

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2005 7270 282 7552

Restructuring charge recoveries 739 36 703

Payments made 3557 246 3803
Sublease payments received 1650 1650

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2006 6102 6102

Restructuring charge recoveries 327 240 567

Payments made 5645 240 5885
Sublease payments received 1968 1968

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2007 2752 2752

Restructuring charge recoveries 418 737 263 582

Payments made 1632 737 2369
Non-cash adjustment 263 263
Sublease payments received 478 478

Restructuring accrual at December 31 2008 1180 1180

Note 10 Retirement Plan

The Company has 401k retirement plan which covers substantially all employees Eligible employees

may make salary deferral before tax contributions up to specified amount The Company at its discretion

may make additional matching contributions on behalf of the participants of the retirement plan The Company
made no contributions for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

eVergance has 401k retirement plan whereby the Company may voluntarily match employee

contributions at 100% up to 4% of eligible salary Since the acquisition date of June 14 2007 the Company
made contributions in the amount of $119000 in 2008 and $52000 in 2007

Note 11 Income Taxes

In June 2006 the FASB issued FIN 48 FIN 48 establishes single model to address accounting for uncertain

tax positions FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing minimum recognition threshold

tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements FIN 48 also provides guidance

on derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and

transition The Company adopted FIN 48 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN 48 the

Company did not recognize any increase or decrease in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits reconciliation

of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits which is included in other long-term liabilities on

the consolidated balance sheets is as follows in thousands

Balance at January 2007 $145

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 32

Additions for positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 32
Settlements

Balance at December 31 2007 $145
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Balance at January 2008 $145

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
26

Additions for positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years
51

Settlements

Balance at December 31 2008

The Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as component of income tax

expense During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company recognized approximately

$300 $16000 and $5000 in interest and penalties respectively The Company accrued approximately

$13000 and $44000 for the payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various state and foreign jurisdictions The

Company is currently open to audit under the statute of limitations by the Internal Revenue Service for the years

ended December 31 1994 through December 31 2008 and California tax authorities for the years ended

December 31 2000 through December 31 2008 due to carryforward of unutilized net operating losses The tax

years 2004-2008 remain open to examination by most foreign taxing jurisdiction to which the Company is

subject The Company does not anticipate significant changes to its uncertain tax positions through December 31

2009

The components of loss before income taxes are as follows in thousands

December 31

2008 2007 2006

United States $4023 $7862 $2609

International 373 402

Total $3650 $7854 $2207

The income tax expense
differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal rate as follows

in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Federal tax benefit at statutory rate $l241 $2670 $750

Current year net operating losses and temporary differences no tax benefit

recognized 569 2136 200
Stock-based compensation 463 493 253

Nondeductible warrant expense
670

Other permanent differences 209 41 27

Foreign taxes 87 167 219

U.S taxes 82

Total income tax expense
167 $219

In 2008 2007 and 2006 certain foreign subsidiaries were profitable based upon application of the Companys

intercompany transfer pricing agreements which resulted in income tax expense totaling approximately $87000

$167000 and $219000 respectively in those foreign jurisdictions
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Deferred tax assets consist of the following in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Accruals and reserves 1305 1582

Property and equipment 7226 6995

Credit carryforward 3481 2296

Stock based compensation 26754 25977

Other 678 613

Net operating loss 169745 174170

Gross deferred tax assets 209189 211633

Valuation allowance 209189 211633

Net deferred tax assets

The net change in the valuation allowance for the year ended December 31 2008 was decrease of

approximately $2.4 million mostly due to the expiration of prior net operating losses The net change in the

valuation allowance for the year ended December 31 2007 was an increase of approximately $2.4 million due to

current year losses net of the effect of the expiration of tax carryforwards and other assets Management believes

that sufficient uncertainty exists as to whether the deferred tax assets will be realized and accordingly

valuation allowance is required

portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertain to acquired net operating loss

carryforwards of approximately $8.6 million When recognized the tax benefit of these loss carryforwards will

be accounted for as credit to reduce goodwill or acquired intangibles if remaining rather than reduction of

income tax expense

As of December 31 2008 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and California

income tax purposes of approximately $458 million and $127 million respectively The federal and state net

operating loss carryforwards if not offset against future taxable income will expire by 2029 The Company also

had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $8 million The foreign losses expire at various

dates and some can be carried forward indefinitely The Company also had federal and state research credit

carryforwards of approximately $2.2 million and $1.94 million respectively The federal credits will expire by

2029 and the state credits have no expiration

Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code the amounts of and benefits from net operating loss carryforwards

may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances Events which cause limitations in the amount of net

operating losses that the Company may utilize in
any one year include but are not limited to cumulative

ownership change of more than 50% of the Company as defined over three-year period The portion of the net

operating loss and tax credit carryforwards subject to potential limitation has not been included in deferred tax

assets

portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carryforwards

resulting from tax deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately $6.3 million When

recognized the tax benefit of these loss carryforwards will be accounted for as credit to additional paid-in

capital rather than reduction of the income tax expense

The Company has deferred calculating U.S income tax on certain foreign earnings that are deemed to be

permanently reinvested overseas Determination of the unrecognized deferred tax liability is not currently

practicable and the amount is not expected to be material
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On September 30 2008 California enacted Assembly Bill 1452 which among other provisions suspends

net operating loss deductions for 2008 and 2009 and extends the carryforward period of any net operating losses

not utilized due to the suspension adopts the federal 20-year net operating loss carryforward period phases-in

the federal two-year net operating loss carryback periods beginning in 2011 and limits the utilization of tax

credits to 50% of taxpayers taxable income

In addition the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 Act signed into law in July 2008 allows

taxpayers to claim refundable AMT or research and development credit carryovers if they forgo bonus

depreciation on certain qualified fixed assets placed in service from the period between April and December

2008 The Company computed and recognized the credit based on fixed assets placed into service through the

nine months ended December 31 2008 The Company recorded net tax benefit of $56586 for U.S federal

refundable credit as provided by the Act

Note 12 Information About Geographic Areas

The Company considers itself to be in single industry segment specifically the licensing and support of its

software applications Revenue classification is based upon customer location Geographic information on

revenues for the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

North America $48785 $45449 $36894

Europe 15451 14511 16203

Asia Pacific 983 834 933

Total $65219 $60794 $54030

Geographic information on the Companys long-lived assets Property and Equipment net and Other

Assets based on physical location are as follows in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

United States $2306 $2854

International 45 105

Total $2351 $2959

Note 13 Fair Value MeasurementCash and Cash Equivalents

On January 2008 the Company adopted SFAS 157 which defines fair value establishes framework for

using fair value to measure assets and liabilities and expands disclosures about fair value measurements

SFAS 157 applies whenever other statements require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at fair

value SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 except for nonfinancial assets

and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on nonrecurring basis for

which application has been deferred for one year by the issuance of FSP FAS 157-2

fir lrp th9t int.ndpd te ingree th ndten 2nd rnmn2r2hilitv in

fair value measurements and related disclosures The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation

techniques that are used to measure fair value that are either observable or unobservable Observable inputs

reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained

from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect reporting entitys pricing based upon their own

market assumptions The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels

Level 1instrument valuations are obtained from real-time quotes for transactions in active exchange

markets involving identical assets
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Level 2instrument valuations are obtained from readily-available pricing sources for comparable

instruments

Level 3instrument valuations are obtained without observable market values and require high level of

judgment to determine the fair value

The following table summarizes the Companys financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on

recurring basis in accordance with SFAS 157 as of December 31 2008 in thousands

Quoted Prices

Active Markets of

Balance as of Identical Assets

December 31 2008 Level

Assets

Money market funds $4089 $4089

Liabilities

As of December 31 2008 the Company did not have any Level or Level assets or liabilities

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities SFAS No 159 which provides companies an option to report selected financial assets

and liabilities at fair value SFAS No 159 requires companies to provide information helping financial statement

users to understand the effect of companys choice to use fair value on its earnings as well as to display the fair

value of the assets and liabilities company has chosen to use fair value for on the face of the balance sheet

SFAS No 159 was effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted SFAS

No 159 in the first quarter of fiscal 2008 and did not elect the fair value option for any of its financial assets or

liabilities

Note 14 Related Party Transactions

On October 30 2006 the Company entered into consulting agreement the Consulting Agreement with

William Clifford member of the Companys Board of Directors Mr Clifford provided consulting services

to the Companys management as an independent contractor on matters pertaining to strategic planning and

business in addition to his role as member of the Board of Directors for period of twelve months that

commenced on January 24 2006 During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company recognized $59900
of expense relating to this agreement As of December 31 2007 the Company had an accrued liability of

$59900 in consideration for his consulting services pursuant to the terms of the Consulting Agreement This

amount was paid during the year ended December 31 2008

Note 15 Subsequent Event

On May 13 2009 the Company obtained non-binding financing proposal from Bridge for modification

of the March Loan Facility that would provide one-time waiver of certain financial covenants for the quarter

ended March 31 2009 and the month ended April 30 2009 The proposal set the total loan facility amount to

$6.0 million and extends the maturity date to June 30 2010 As requirement of the May 13 2009 proposal from

Bridge availability under the existing revolving line of credit will be used to prepay
all amounts currently

outstanding under the existing term loans for equipment Additionally modifications would be made to the

existing restrictive covenants and certain covenants related to raising additional capital would be added This

proposal is not binding and is subject to further negotiation to approval by the lenders loan committee and

execution of definitive loan documents
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9AT CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules l3a-l5e and 15d-15e under the Exchange Act

arc designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange

Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms

and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management including the Chief Executive

Officer and the Chief Financial Officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures

In connection with the preparation of this report our management under the supervision and with the

participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an evaluation of the

effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this report Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have

concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this

report

However subsequent to December 31 2008 we experienced material weakness in our disclosure controls

and procedures as result of delays in the completion of our financial statements for the year ended

December 31 2008 and the quarter ended March 31 2009 and the preparation and filing of our Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 and our Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the quarter

ended March 31 2009

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting Internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-l5f and 15df under the Exchange Act is process designed

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external
purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles GAAP Internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures which pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with GAAP provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are being

made only in accordance with appropriate authorization of management and the board of directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

In connection with the preparation of this report our management under the supervision and with the

participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an evaluation of the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report

based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO As result of that evaluation management

concluded that as of December 31 2008 our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on the

criteria set forth in the COSO framework

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered

public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting Managements report was not subject

to attestation by the Companys registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities

and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only managements report in this annual report
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Inherent Limitations over Internal Controls

Our system of controls is designed to provide reasonable not absolute assurance regarding the reliability

and integrity of accounting and financial reporting Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls

and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and fraud

control system no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute assurance

that the objectives of the control system will be met These inherent limitations include the following

Judgments in decision-making can be faulty and control and process
breakdowns can occur because of

simple errors or mistakes

Controls can be circumvented by individuals acting alone or in collusion with each other or by

management override

The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of

future events and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals

under all potential future conditions

Over time controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the

degree of compliance with associated policies or procedures and

The design of control system must reflect the fact that resources are constrained and the benefits of

controls must be considered relative to their costs

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems no evaluation of controls can provide absolute

assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud if any have been detected

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 during the 2007

year-end close we identified and reported material weakness in our internal control over our period-end

financial reporting This material weakness related to our ability to maintain effective controls over the

period-end reporting process including controls with respect to the review supervision and monitoring of

accounting operations for both domestic and international operations

During the year ended December 31 2008 we completed the implementation of corrective actions that we

felt were necessary to remediate the internal control deficiencies identified in the prior fiscal year These actions

included certain personnel actions the implementation of more rigorous period-end
financial reporting

policies and processes involving journal-entry approval supporting documentation account reconciliations

accrual review implementation of system generated controls to eliminate manual controls and increased

oversight of international reporting Based on the testing of the effectiveness of such activities we believe that

we have corrected the material weakness noted during the 2007 audit relating to the period-end financial

reporting process as of December 31 2008 However as stated above we determined that we had material

weakness in our disclosure controls and procedures relating to the timeliness of filing our 2008 Annual Report on

Form 10-K

Except for the changes described above there have been no changes during the Companys fiscal quarter

ended December 31 2008 in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting
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ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information with respect to this item may be found in the sections captioned Executive Officers

Proposal OneElection of Class Directors Code of Ethics and Conduct and Section 16a Beneficial

Ownership Reporting Compliance appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in

connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is incorporated herein by reference

Our Board of Directors has adopted Code of Ethics and Conduct applicable to all of our directors officers

and employees as required by applicable securities laws and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The

NASDAQ Stock Market copy of our Code of Ethics and Conduct is posted in the Corporate Governance

section of our Internet website at www.kana.com under Investor Relations

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned Executive Compensation and

Related Information appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection

with the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information with respect to this item may be found in the sections captioned Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management Executive Compensation and Related Information and Equity

Compensation Plan Information appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in

connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned Certain Relationships and

Related Transactions and Director Independence appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to

stockholders in connection with the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is incorporated

herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned Principal Accountant Fees and

Services appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection with the 2009

Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Financial Statements

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 49

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 50

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 51

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity Deficit for the Years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 52

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 54

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 55

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule Title Page

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 89

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable not required or the

information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

3.01 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-27 163 3.1 5/4/00

Incorporation as amended by the Certificate of

Amendment dated April 18 2000

3.02 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-8 333-64552 4.02 7/3/01

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

April UU1

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-3 333-77068 4.03 1/18/02

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on

December 112001

3.04 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended 8-A 000-27 163 3.04 1/31/06

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

November 21 2005

.i.UD menaeu ano estateu bylaws as amenciea 1U-t UUU-L lOi i.UD iIZöIUi

October 12 2001

3.06 Certificate of Designation of Series Junior 8-K 000-27 163 3.01 1/31/06

Participating Preferred Stock as filed with the

Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27 2006

4.01 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-l/A 333-82587 4.01 9/21/99

4.02 Form of Rights Certificate 8-K 000-27163 4.01 1/31/06
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

4.03 Rights Agreement dated as of January 26 2006 8-K 000-27 163 4.02 1/31/06

by and between Kana Software Inc and U.S

Stock Transfer Corporation

10.01 Kana Software Inc 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as 10-Q 000-27163 10.01 11/14/06

amended

10.02 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.01 3/14/00

Plan

10.03 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.02 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement4-year vesting

10.04 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.03 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement30-month vesting

10.05 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive 10-Q 000-27 163 10.02 11/14/06

Plan as amended

10.06 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive S-8 333-38480 4.09 6/02/00

Plan as amended related forms of

agreements

10.07 Broadbase Software Inc 1999 Equity Incentive S-4/A 333-4896 4.09 11/09/00

Plan as amended November 2000

10.08 Kana Software Inc 1997 Stock Option Plan 5-1 333-82587 10.1 7/09/97

10.09 Lease Agreement dated December 23 1999 l0-Q 000-27 163 10.03 5/11/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Bohannon

Trusts Partnership II

10.10 Amendment to Lease dated February 2007

between Bohannon Trusts Partnership II and Kana

Software Inc

10.11 Lease Agreement dated August 11 2000 10-Q 000-27163 10.4 11/13/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Robert

Wheatley and Roger Fields d.b.a

Properties

10.12 Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of 8-K 000-27163 99.1 11/21/02

Lease dated November 11 2002 between the

Registrant and Robert Wheatley and Roger

Fields d.b.a Properties

10.13 Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana 8-K/A 000-27 163 99.01 12/13/01

Software Inc TCV IV L.P and TCV IV

Strategic Partners L.P dated as of November 28

2001

10.14 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated 10-K 000-27 163 10.20 3/19/04

December 10 2003 between Kana Software Inc

and IBM
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Exhibit Description

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement

dated as of June 25 2005 by and among Kana

Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP
Master Fund Ltd

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 25

2005 by and among Kana Software Inc and

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RFIP Master Fund Ltd

10.17 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana

Software Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP
Master Fund Ltd in connection with the Common
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

June 25 2005

10.18 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement

dated as of September 29 2005 by and among
Kana Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP
Master Fund Ltd

10.19 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005 between Kana Software Inc

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.20 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana

Software Inc to Nightwatch Capital Partners LP

and NightWatch Capital Partners II LP in

connection with the Common Stock and Warrant

Purchase Agreement dated as of September 29
2005

10.21 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd in connection with

the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase

Agreement dated as of September 29 2005

10.22 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement

dated September 29 2005

10.23 Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase

Warrant issued by Kana Software Inc to

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP and NightWatch

dated September 29 2005

10.24 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant

issued by Kana Software Inc to RHP Master Fund
Ltd dated September 29 2005

Exhibit

Number

10.15

Incorporated by Reference

Filing Filed

Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 000-27163 10.01 6/30/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.02 6/30/05

8-K 000-27163 10.03 6/30/05

8-K 000-27163 10.01 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.02 10/03/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.03 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.04 10/03/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.05 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.06 10/03/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.07 10/03/05

86



Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as

of September 29 2005

10.26 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners II LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as

of September 29 2005

10.27 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd dated October 25

2005 in connection with the Common Stock and

Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.28 Second Amendment to Registration Rights

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among
Kana Software Inc NightWatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd

10.29 First Amendment to Registration Rights

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among
Kana Software Inc NightWatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd

10.30 Letter Agreement dated as of September 29

2005 by and among Kana Software Inc

NightWatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.31 Employment Offer Letter between Kana

Software Inc and Michael Fields dated as of

September 2005

10.32 Offer Letter to Jay Jones dated as of

August 14 2006

10.33 Employment Agreement dated May 2007

between Kana Software Inc and Mark

Angel

Exhibit

Number

10.25

Filing Filed

Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 000-27163 10.01 10/31/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.02 10/31/05

8-K 000-27163 10.03 10/31/05

8-K 000-27163 10.01 5/11/06

8-K 000-27163 10.02 5/11/06

10-Q 000-27163 10.08 7/06/06

8-K/A 000-27163 10.01 11/23/05

10-Q 000-27163 10.03 11/14/06

10-Q 000-27163 10.02 8/14/07
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.34 Offer Letter to Michael Shannahan dated as of 10-K 000-27163 10.37 3/17/08

February 28 2008

10.35 Offer Letter to Daniel Turano dated July 18 10-K/A 000-27 163 10.48 4/29/08

2006

10.36 Description of Director Cash Compensation 8-K 000-27163 10.01 4/25/06

Arrangements adopted April 20 2006

10.37 Second Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Agreement dated March 28 2008

between Kana Software Inc and Bridge Bank

N.A

10.38 Patent License and Settlement Agreement dated 10-Q 000-27163 10.02 5/14/07

March 23 2007 between Kana Software Inc

and Polaris IP LLC.i

10.39 Second Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Modification Agreement dated July 14

2008

10.40 Loan and Security Modification Agreement

dated March 17 2009

21.01 List of subsidiaries of Registrant

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

24.01 Power of Attorney included on page 90 of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of

2002

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

These certifications accompany KANAs Annual Report on Form 10-K they are not deemed filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of KANA
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act whether made before or after the date hereof and

irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Filed by Broadbase Software Inc

Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to portions of the exhibit Such portions were filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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SCHEDULE IlVALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
KANA SOFTWARE INC

Balance

at Amounts Balance

Beginning recorded in at End

of Year Expenses Deductions of Year

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Year ended December31 2008 $204 $814 $801 $217

YearendedDecember3l2007 $155 $160 $111 $204

Year ended December 31 2006 $149 90 84 $155
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the city of

Menlo Park state of California on May 15 2009

Kana Software Inc

is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Principal Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below

constitutes and appoints Michael Fields and Michael Shannahan and each of them his or her true lawful

attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution for him or her and in his or her name place and

stead in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file

the same with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange

Commission granted unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and authority to do and

perform each an every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all

intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said

attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or his or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to

be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Date May 15 2009 By Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Principal Executive Officer

Date May 15 2009 By Is MICHAEL SHANNAHAN

Michael Shannahan

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Date May 15 2009 By Is JERRY BArr

Jerry Batt

Director

Date May 15 2009 By Is STEPHANIE VINELLA

Stephanie Vinella

Director
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Date May 15 2009 By Is WILLIAM CLIFFORD

William Clifford

Director

Date May 15 2009 By Is JOHN NEMELKA

John Nemelka

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

3.01 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-27163 3.1 5/4/00

Incorporation as amended by the Certificate of

Amendment dated April 18 2000

3.02 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-8 333-64552 4.02 7/3/01

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

April 18 2001

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-3 333-77068 4.03 1/18/02

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on

December 112001

3.04 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended 8-A 000-27 163 3.04 1/31/06

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

November 21 2005

3.05 Amended and Restated Bylaws as amended 10-K 000-27 163 3.05 3/28/03

October 12 2001

3.06 Certificate of Designation of Series Junior 8-K 000-27 163 3.01 1/31/06

Participating Preferred Stock as filed with the

Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27

2006

4.01 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-l/A 333-82587 4.01 9/21/99

4.02 Form of Rights Certificate 8-K 000-27163 4.01 1/31/06

4.03 Rights Agreement dated as of January 26 2006 8-K 000-27163 4.02 1/31/06

by and between Kana Software Inc and U.S

Stock Transfer Corporation

10.01 Kana Software Inc 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as 10-Q 000-27 163 10.01 11/14/06

amended

10.02 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.01 3/14/00

Plan

10.03 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.02 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement4-year vesting

10.04 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.03 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

10.05 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive l0-Q 000-27163 10.02 11/14/06

Plan as amended

10.06 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive S-8 333-38480 4.09 6/02/00

Plan as amended related forms of agreements
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.07 Broadbase Software Inc 1999 Equity Incentive S-4/A 333-4896 4.09 11/09/00

Plan as amended November 2000
10.08 Kana Software Inc 1997 Stock Option Plan S-I 333-82587 10.1 7/09/97

10.09 Lease Agreement dated December 23 1999 10-Q 000-27163 10.03 5/11/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Bohannon

Trusts Partnership II

10.10 Amendment to Lease dated February 2007

between Bohannon Trusts Partnership II and Kana

Software Inc

10.11 Lease Agreement dated August 11 2000 0-Q 000-27163 10.4 11/13/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Robert

Wheatley and Roger Fields d.b.a

Properties

10.12 Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of 8-K 000-27 163 99.1 11/21/02

Lease dated November 11 2002 between the

Registrant and Robert Wheatley and Roger

Fields d.b.a Properties

10.13 Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana 8-K/A 000-27 163 99.01 12/13/01

Software Inc TCV IV L.P and TCV IV

Strategic Partners L.P dated as of November 28

2001

10.14 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated 10-K 000-27 163 10.20 3/19/04

December 10 2003 between Kana Software Inc

and IBM

10.15 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 6/30/05

dated as of June 25 2005 by and among Kana

Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of 8-K 000-27 163 10.02 6/30/05

June 25 2005 by and among Kana Software Inc

and Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.17 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana 8-K 000-27 163 10.03 6/30/05

Software Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd in connection with the

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement

dated as of June 25 2005

10.18 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 10/03/05

dated as of September 29 2005 by and among
Kana Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.19 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of 8-K 000-27 163 10.02 10/03/05

September 29 2005 between Kana Software Inc

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners 11 LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.20 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana 8-K 000-27163 10.03 10/03/05

Software Inc to Nightwatch Capital Partners LP

and NightWatch Capital Partners II LP in

connection with the Common Stock and Warrant

Purchase Agreement dated as of September 29

2005

10.21 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27 163 10.04 10/03/05

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd in connection with

the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase

Agreement dated as of September 29 2005

10.22 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement 8-K 000-27 163 10.05 10/03/05

dated September 29 2005

10.23 Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase 8-K 000-27 163 10.06 10/03/05

Warrant issued by Kana Software Inc to

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP and NightWatch

dated September 29 2005

10.24 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 000-27163 10.07 10/03/05

issued by Kana Software Inc to RHP Master Fund

Ltd dated September 29 2005

10.25 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 10/31/05

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

in cte-.1 Piirc.hp Wrrint ciipd hv ktii crftujirp RV ul11flJ7i lA 11 lflRl/flc.----
Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners II LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.27 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27163 10.03 10/31/05

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd dated October 25

2005 in connection with the Common Stock and

Wirnint Piirrhici Acrement ihited is nf

September 29 2005

10.28 Second Amendment to Registration Rights 8-K 000-27163 10.01 5/11/06

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among Kana

Software Inc NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.29 First Amendment to Registration Rights 8-K 000-27163 10.02 5/11/06

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among
Kana Software Inc NightWatch Capital

Partners LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP

and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.30 Letter Agreement dated as of September 29 l0-Q 000-27163 10.08 7/06/06

2005 by and among Kana Software Inc

NightWatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.31 Employment Offer Letter between Kana 8-K/A 000-27 163 10.01 11/23/05

Software Inc and Michael Fields dated as of

September 2005

10.32 Offer Letter to Jay Jones dated as of 10-Q 000-27 163 10.03 11/14/06

August 14 2006

10.33 Employment Agreement dated May 2007 10-Q 000-27163 10.02 8/14/07

between Kana Software Inc and Mark

Angel

10.34 Offer Letter to Michael Shannahan dated as of 10-K 000-27 163 10.37 3/17/08

February 28 2008

10.35 Offer Letter to Daniel Turano dated July 18 10-K/A 000-27 163 10.48 4/29/08

2006

10.36 Description of Director Cash Compensation 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 4/25/06

Arrangements adopted April 20 2006

10.37 Second Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Agreement dated March 28 2008

between Kana Software Inc and Bridge Bank

N.A

10.38 Patent License and Settlement Agreement dated 10-Q 000-27 163 10.02 5/14/07

March 23 2007 between Kana Software Inc

and Polaris IP LLCJ

10.39 Second Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Modification Agreement dated July 14
2008

10.40 Loan and Security Modification Agreement

dated March 17 2009

21.01 List of subsidiaries of Registrant

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

24.01 Power of Attorney included on page 90 of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

3102 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

These certifications accompany KANA Annual Report on Form 10-K they are not deemed filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in
any filing of KANA

under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act whether made before or after the date hereof and

irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Filed by Broadbase Software Inc

Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to portions of the exhibit Such portions were filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION

Michael Fields Chief Executive Officer of the registrant certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kana Software Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an Annual Report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated May 15 2009 Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION

Michael Shannahan Chief Financial Officer of the registrant certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kana Software Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and Sd- 151 for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an Annual Report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated May 15 2009 Is MICHAEL SHANNAHAN

Michael Shannahan

Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14b OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AND 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Kana Software Inc the Registrant on Form 10-K for the

annual period ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof the Report Michael Fields Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant certify in accordance with

Rule 3a- 14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that to the best of my
knowledge

The Report to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.01 fully complies with the

requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Dated May 15 2009 Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request



EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULE 3a- 14b OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AND 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Kana Software Inc the Registrant on Form 10-K for the

annual period ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof the Report Michael Shannahan Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant certify in accordance

with Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that to the best of my

knowledge

The Report to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.02 fully complies with the

requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Dated May 15 2009 Is MICHAEL SHANNAHAN

Michael Shannahan

Chief Financial Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors currently consists of five directors and is divided into three classes with

staggered three-year terms The names of our directors and certain biographical information about each

including their ages as of May 31 2009 are set forth below

Name Age Position

Michael Fields4 63 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

Jerry Batt234 58 Director

William Clifford124 62 Director

John Nemelka234 43 Director

Stephanie Vinella 34 54 Director

Member of the Audit Committee

Member of the Compensation Committee

Member of the Governance and Nominating Committee

Member of the Strategy Committee

Michael Fields Mr Fields joined our Board of Directors in June 2005 and since July 2005 has been

serving as our Chairman of the Board of Directors From July 2005 to August 2005 Mr Fields served as our

acting President In August 2005 Mr Fields was appointed as our Chief Executive Officer Mr Fields was

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Fields Group venture capital and management consulting firm

from May 1997 to December 2005 In June 1992 Mr Fields founded OpenVision Technologies Inc supplier

of computer systems management applications for open client/server computing environments and served as its

Chief Executive Officer from July 1992 to July 1995 and Chairman of its Board of Directors from July 1992 to

April 1997 Prior to these positions Mr Fields served as President at Oracle U.S.A Inc and managed sales

organizations at Applied Data Research and Burroughs Corporation Currently Mr Fields serves on the board of

directors of Imation Corporation NYSE IMN and has also served on the advisory board of the Ford Motor

Company Customer Service Division from 1999 through 2001 Mr Fields is Class III Director whose current

term expires at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2011

Jerry Batt Mr Batt joined our Board of Directors in August 2003 Mr Batt has served as Vice President

and Chief Information Officer of Pulte Homes Inc national home building and construction company since

September 2003 From July 2001 to July 2003 Mr Batt was Chief Information Officer and Vice President of

Sprint PCS communications company From April 2000 to July 2001 Mr Batt co-founded and was Chief

Executive Officer of Foxfire Consulting an IT consulting and systems integration firm specializing in the

telecommunications industry From 1973 to January 2000 Mr Batt held various positions at ATT
communications company where he was responsible for consumer long distance account management and

billing and customer service platforms Mr Batt holds B.S degrees in Industrial Engineering and Operations

Research from Virginia Tech University Mr Batt is Class II Director whose current term expires at the annual

meeting of stockholders to be held in 2010

William Clifford Mr Clifford joined our Board of Directors in December 2005 Since March of 2008
Mr Clifford has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Spencer Trask Co leading private equity and

venture capital firm From August 2005 until March of 2008 Mr Clifford served as Chairman of the Board of

Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Aperture Technologies Inc data center management software

solutions company He served on the Board of Directors of Aperture Technologies Inc from 2003 until his

appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer in August 2005 From 2001 to



2003 Mr Clifford served as General Partner ofFhe Fields Group From 1993 to 2000 Mr Clifford served as

President and Chief Executive Officer of Gartner Group Inc an information technology research and market

company Prior to these positions Mr Clifford was President of the Central and National Account divisions and

Corporate Vice President Information Systems Development at Automatic Data Processing Inc transaction

processing and data communication services company Mr Clifford holds B.A degree in Economics from the

University of Connecticut Mr Clifford also serves on the Board of Directors of GridApp Systems

Inc Mr Clifford is Class II Director whose current term expires at the annual meeting of stockholders to be

held in 2010

John Nemelka Mr Nemelka joined our Board of Directors in October 2005 pursuant to the terms of

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement between us and NightWatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd Mr Nemelka founded NightWatch Capital Group LLC an

investment management business and has served as its Managing Principal since its incorporation in July 2001

From 1997 to 2000 Mr Nemelka was Principal at Graham Partners private investment firm and affiliate of

the privately-held Graham Group From 2000 to 2001 Mr Nemelka was Consultant to the Graham Group

Mr Nemelka holds B.S degree in Business Administration from Brigham Young University and an M.B.A

degree from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania Mr Nemelka also serves on the Board of

Directors of privately-held company SanuWave Inc Mr Nemelka is Class III Director whose current term

expires at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2011

Stephanie Vinella Ms Vinella joined our Board of Directors in November 2004 Since November 2007

Ms Vinella has served as Chief Financial Officer of Panasas Inc computer hardware company From

November 2004 to September 2007 Ms Vinella served as Chief Financial Officer of Nextance Inc provider

of enterprise contract management solutions From November 1999 to August 2004 Ms Vinella served as Chief

Financial Officer of AiphaBlox Corporation business analytic software company From 1990 to 1999

Ms Vinella served as Chief Financial Officer of Edify Corporation software company Ms Vinella holds

B.S degree in Accounting from the University of San Francisco and an M.B.A degree from Stanford University

Ms Vinella is Class Director whose current term expires at this years annual meeting of stockholders

Executive Officers

The names of our current executive officers and one executive officer who retired in May 2009 and certain

biographical information about each including their ages as of May 31 2009 are set forth below

Position

Michael Fields 63 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

Michael Shannahan 60 Former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Mark Angel 50 Chief Technology Officer

William Bose 42 Vice President and General Counsel

Charles Isaacs 50 Chief Customer Officer

Jay Jones 54 Senior Vice President Chief Administrative Officer and Interim

Chief Financial Officer

Daniel Turano 60 Senior Vice President Worldwide Field Operations

Chad Wolf 38 Corporate Vice President and President of eVergance Partners LLC

Michael Fields Mr Fields biographical information appears above under the heading Board of

Directors



Michael Shannahan Mr Shannahan served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

from March 2008 until May 2009 when he retired Mr Shannahan was memberof our Board of Directors from

June 2005 to March 2008 From February 2005 to February 2008 Mr Shannahan served as Chief Financial Officer

of Medsphere Systems Corporation software company in the healthcare industry Mr Shannahan also has served

as Chief Financial Officer of Chordiant Software Inc management software company from October 2003 to

September 2004 Sanctum Inc web applications security company from October 2001 to November 2002
Broadband Office Inc communication services company from January 2001 to September 2001 and mySimon
Inc an e-commerce company from August 1999 to January 2001 Prior to these positions Mr Shannahan spent 18

years with KPMG Peat Marwick an accounting firmas Partner in the Information Communication and

Entertainment practice Mr Shannahan holds B.S degree in Business Administration with concentration in

Accounting and B.A degree from Rockhurst College Mr Shannahan also serves on the Board of Directors of

Critical Path Inc

Mark Angel Mr Angel has served as our Chief Technology Officer since August 2008 Mr Angel

joined KANA in May 2007 as our Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Strategy Prior to joining

KANA from January 1998 to March 2007 he served as Chief Technology Officer of KNOVA Software Inc
service resolution management software company that is now division of Consona Corporation Prior to

KNOVA Mr Angel founded and served as Chief Executive Officer of Papyrus Technology which was acquired

by Ernst Young in 1997 and Kanisa Inc which was acquired by ServiceWare Technologies Inc in 2005

William Bose Mr Bose has served as our Vice President and General Counsel since August 2006
Mr Bose served in number of legal positions at KANA from September 1999 to August 2006 Mr Bose holds

B.A degree from the University of California at Santa Barbara and J.D degree from Santa Clara University

School of Law Mr Bose is member of the California Bar

Charles Isaacs Since August 2008 Mr Isaacs has served as our Chief Customer Officer From August

2004 to August 2008 he served as our Chief Technology Officer From December 1999 to August 2004 Mr Isaacs

served as the Chief Technology Officer of Primus Knowledge Solutions an enterprise software company where he

was responsible for technology oversight Mr Isaacs holds B.S degree in Electrical Engineering from the

University of California at Santa Barbara and an M.B.A degree from California Lutheran University

Jay Jones Since September 2006 Mr Jones has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief

Administrative Officer In addition Mr Jones was appointed as our Interim Chief Financial Officer in May 2009

after Mr Shannahan retired Mr Jones served as Senior Vice President Chief Information Officer of VERITAS
Software Corporation an enterprise storage and performance company from September 2004 to December 2005

From January 1999 to September 2004 Mr Jones served as Chief Administrative Officer of VERITAS Software

Corporation and from March 1993 to January 1999 he served as Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

of VERITAS Software Corporation and OpenVision Technologies Inc which was acquired by VERITAS
Software Corporation Prior to OpenVision Technologies Inc Mr Jones was senior corporate counsel for

Oracle Corporation Mr Jones holds B.S degree in architecture from Howard University an M.S degree in

City Planning from the University of California at Berkeley and J.D degree from the University of California

at Berkeley Mr Jones is member of the California Bar

Daniel Turano Since July 2007 Mr Turano has served as our Senior Vice President Worldwide Field

Operations Mr Turano joined KANA in August 2006 as our Vice President Global Financial Services Solutions

and served in that position until his promotion to Senior Vice President Worldwide Field Operations in July

2007 From March 2005 to August 2006 Mr Turano served as the Vice President of Sales East of ClairMail

Inc software and wireless communications company From September 2003 to March 2005 Mr Turano

served as Senior Vice President Commercial Account Collections of Intellerisk Management Systems

collections agency Mr Turano previously served as the Executive Vice President Sales and Field Operations of

Dynamic Mobile Data software and wireless communications company from September 2002 to September

2003 Mr Turano holds B.S degree in Business Management from Saint Peters College and an M.B.A degree

in Marketing from Fairleigh Dickenson University



Chad Wolf Since June 2007 Mr Wolf has served as our Corporate Vice President and President of

eVergance Partners LLC management consulting and systems integration company acquired by KANA in June

2007 From August 2002 to June 2007 Mr Wolf served as President of eVergance Partners LLC Mr Wolf holds

an M.S degree in Industrial Engineering and Operations Management from Kansas State University and B.S

degree in Industrial Engineering

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

The members of our Board of Directors our executive officers and persons who hold more than 10% of our

outstanding common stock are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16a of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act which requires them to file reports with respect to their

ownership of our common stock and their transactions in such common stock Based solely on our review of

reporting forms filed by our directors executive officers and persons who hold more than 10% of our outstanding

common stock we believe that during 2008 such persons filed the reports required under Section 16a of the

Exchange Act on timely basis with the exception of late Form filed for John Nemelka on August 2008

to report the grant to Mr Nemelka of an option to purchase 10000 shares of our common stock on July 29 2008

Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted Code of Ethics and Conduct applicable to all of our directors officers

and employees as required by applicable securities laws and the rules of the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market copy of the Code of

Ethics and Conduct is posted in the Corporate Governance section of our Internet website at www.kana.com

under Investor Relations

Procedures by Which Security Holders May Recommend Nominees to the Board of Directors

There has been no material change by which the Governance and Nominating Committee will consider

stockiholder recommendations for director candidates The Governance and Nominating Committee has

established the following procedure for stockholders to submit such recommendations the stockholder should

send the name of the individual and related personal and professional information including list of references

to our Governance and Nominating Committee in care of the Corporate Secretary at our principal executive

office sufficiently in advance of the annual meeting to allow the Governance and Nominating Committee

appropriate time to consider the recommendation

Audit Committee

We have separately-designated standing Audit Committee of the Board of Directors established in

accordance with Rule 1OA-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act which is currently comprised of Ms Vinella

and Mr Clifford each of whom meets the independence and other requirements to serve on our Audit Committee

under applicable securities laws and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market

Our Board of Directors has determined that Ms Vinella is an audit committee financial expert as defined in the

rules ot tile StL

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee was formed in February 2008 The committee is not standing committee of the

Board of Directors and does not have formal charter The Strategy Committee was established to review

evaluate and recommend strategic relations and transactions and/or opportunities to us and to assist our

management in reviewing evaluating and recommending such strategic relations and transactions and/or

opportunities Each member of our Board of Directors serves on the Strategy Committee



ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

CoMPENsATIoN DIscussIoN AND ANALYSIS

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors the Compensation Committee is responsible for

developing and monitoring our compensation philosophy and for implementing that philosophy with respect to our

named executive officers For fiscal year 2008 our named executive officers were our Chief Executive Officer

former Chief Financial Officers the three other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as

executive officers at the end of the fiscal year and one former executive officer for whom disclosure would have

been provided but for the fact that she was no longer serving as an executive officer at the end of fiscal year 2008

These named executive officers are listed in the Summary Compensation Table that begins on page 15

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Compensation Committee believes that the most effective executive compensation program is one that

achieves our strategic goals rewards performance and innovation promotes accountability and aligns employee

interests with those of our stockholders Our executive compensation program is structured to provide incentives

and reward both short-term and long-term performance and is designed to motivate executive officers to achieve

our strategic goals Our executive compensation program has four primary elements base salary ii cash

bonuses under performance-based non-equity incentive plan and for certain named executive officers

commissions-based incentive plan described in more detail below under the heading Executive Compensation

Plan iiiequity awards under our equity incentive plans and iv other benefits

Setting Executive Compensation

The Compensation Committee with input from the Company utilizes data from the AON/Radford

Executive Compensation Salary Benchmark Data for the Bay Area and other relevant areas the Radford

Data to help assess our positioning and practices against the competitive market which it uses to evaluate the

elements of compensation for our executive officers Except for the use of the Radford Data and reference to

public filings of companies with which we compete for executive talent the Compensation Committee has not

used benchmarking against market indices or peer groups to establish the compensation of our executive officers

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions

Our Board of Directors has delegated to the Compensation Committee the primary authority to recommend

review and approve each element of our executive compensation program including performance-based

incentive awards and long-term incentive awards to our executive officers including our named executive

officers The Compensation Committee annually reviews the performance of our named executive officers and

assesses each component of their compensation as well as their overall compensation package When deciding

on how much to award under each element of our named executive officers compensation other than our Chief

Executive Officers compensation the Compensation Committee considers the recommendations of our Chief

Executive Officer The Compensation Committee with the assistance of our Chief Executive Officer and our

Chief Administrative Officer evaluated and decided on each of the compensation elements for 2008 Our Chief

Executive Office and our Chief Administrative Officer attended Compensation Committee meetings in order to

assist in these determinations Although our Chief Executive Officer participated in the confirmation of the

compensation elements the Compensation Committee alone is responsible for setting the Chief Executive

Officers compensation

2008 Executive Compensation Elements

For 2008 the elements of compensation for our named executive officers were

base salary

cash bonuses under performance-based non-equity incentive plan



equity awards under our equity incentive plans and

other benefits

Base Salary

We provide our named executive officers with base salary to compensate them for services rendered

during the fiscal year The base salary for our named executive officers is determined based on the named

executive officers position responsibilities level and experience The Compensation Committee also fixes our

named executive officers base salary at level that enables us to competitively attract and retain employees and

to reward individual performance and contribution to our business goals The Compensation Committee reviews

Radford Data certain public filings and recommendations from our Human Resources Department and our

Chief Executive Officer and considers the base salaries paid by the companies it believes are similar to us or that

are competing with us when setting the base salary of our named executive officers In addition each year the

Compensation Committee reviews each named executive officers performance our financial performance as

well as each named executive officers compensation individually and in relation to other employees when

determining base salary increases if any None of our named executive officers received base salary increase

in 2008 due to the Companys results and other market conditions

Cash Bcnuses Under Performance-Based Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Executive Compensation Plan

We utilize performance-based cash compensation plan the Executive Compensation Plan to encourage

our executive officers to support our goal of operating with sustainable profit and for executive officers

employed in our sales and marketing departments on growing revenue The Executive Compensation Plans

performance-based incentives serve to align the performance of our executive officers with the interests of our

stockholders by providing our executive officers with incentives to build stockholder value Under the Executive

Compensation Plan our named executive officers are eligible to receive quarterly and annual cash bonuses based

on our achievement of quarterly and annual operating profit targets and additionally for the named executive

officers in our sales and marketing departments cash commissions based on our achievement of quarterly and

annual revenue targets For Executive Compensation Plan purposes profit is defined to mean the net profit target

shown in the initial 2008 budget approved by the Board of Directors which excludes certain non-cash expenses

such as stock-based compensation expenses warrant expense if any and restructuring charges

In 2008 the Executive Compensation Plan was designed by us with the assistance of the Compensation

Committee to redirect our executive officers focus on our profit goals For that reason the Executive
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executive officers Rather cash bonuses under the Executive Compensation Plan are earned solely on our

achievement of operating profit targets and cash commissions are earned solely on our achievement of revenue

targets Each of our named executive officers was eligible to participate in the Executive Compensation Plan

except for Mr Thompson our former Chief Financial Officer who retired in February 2008 prior to the

Executive Compensation Plans approval Our Compensation Committee approved the Executive Compensation

Plan in April 2008 In October 2008 the Compensation Committee revised the Executive Compensation Plan to

redistribute cash bonus amounts allocated to two former executive officers who ceased employment with us

during 2008 among the remaining Executive Compensation Plan participants

Under the Executive Compensation Plan named executive officers are eligible to receive quarterly and

annual cash bonus awards that are certain percentage
of the named executive officers base salary the Base

Bonus Amount In addition named executive officers employed in our sales and marketing departments are

eligible to receive variable commission based on achievement of revenues during the relevant quarter or year at

fixed commission rate for all revenue up to the targets established by us for 2008 To incentivize achievement

in excess of the quarterly and annual revenue targets the commission rates are increased upon our achievement

of revenue in excess of the quarterly and annual revenue targets as described in more detail below under the

heading Commission Amount The percentage of the named executive officers annual base salary that



constitutes the Base Bonus Amount and the Commission Amount is based on the named executive officers

experience position and responsibilities and our annual financial and strategic goals For 2008 the

Compensation Committee reviewed and approved our Chief Executive Officers Base Bonus Amount

recommendation and Commission Amount recommendation for each of our named executive officers as

applicable Our Chief Executive Officer did not make recommendation for his own Base Bonus Amount which

was set and approved by the Compensation Committee without his input The Salary Base Bonus Amount and

the Commission Amount for each of our named executive officers for fiscal year 2008 were as follows

CEO

Michael

Fields

Salary $360000

Base Bonus

Amount $262750 $153600 $140950 63150 75550 $156100 N/A
Commission

Amount 56250 $157500 60000

Bonus %2 73% 56% 63% 28% 34% 78%
Commission %2 ... 25% 70% 30%

Mr Thompson did not participate in the Executive Compensation Plan as it was still under consideration

when Mr Thompson notified the Company of his retirement in February 2008

Amounts shown reflect bonuses and commissions as percentage of annual base salary

The total cash bonus amounts awarded to all executive officers under the Executive Compensation Plan

which includes the Base Bonus Amount the Commission Amount and the Participation Bonus as defined

below is not to exceed $3000000 in 2008

The Base Bonus Amount

The Base Bonus Amount is awarded if we achieve or exceed the Budgeted Operating Profit BOP and

Threshold Operating Profit TOP targets identified in the table below the maximum cash bonus amounts that

can be earned as result of achieving the BOP and TOP targets the Bonus Pool Amount Both the BOP and

TOP are measured each quarter and then on an annual basis in order to assess whether the Bonus Pool Amount is

earned for the applicable period Upon achievement of the BOP targets executive officers are eligible to receive

cash bonus from the Base Bonus Pool Upon achievement of the TOP targets the executive officers are

eligible to receive an additional cash bonus from the Threshold Bonus Pool In addition each named executive

officer may receive cash bonus in addition to the distributions from the Base and Threshold Bonus Pools the

Participation Bonus for any actual operating profit attained over and above the TOP such profit the

OTOP The Participation Bonus is calculated as percentage of OTOP The following table identifies the

BOP TOP and OTOP targets under the Executive Compensation Plan and the maximum aggregate bonus

amounts payable to all executive officers under the Executive Compensation Plan

QUARTER First Second Third Fourth Annual

OPERATING PROFIT TARGETS
Budgeted Operating Profit BOP $177000 $633000 $463000 $1909000 $3700000
Threshold Operating Profit TOP $410000 $980000 $640000 $2125000 $5500000
Over Threshold Operating Profit OTOP Actual Operating Profit attainment greater than the TOP

MAXIMUM BONUS POOL AMOUNTS1
Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 50000 $100000 50000
Tier TwoThreshold Bonus Pool $100000 $150000 25000
Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 30.00% 30.00% 20.00%

Interim CFO President

Former CFO and CAO eVergance

Michael Chad

Shannahan Jay Jones Wolf

$275000 $225000 $225000

SVP NW
Field Ops

Daniel

Turano

$225000

Former

CMO Former CFO

Marchai John

Bruchey Thompsonl

$200000

FY 2008

50000 420000

25000 No Pool2
20.00%



The maximum bonus pool amounts include amounts payable to executive officers who are not named

executive officers and for whom compensation disclosure is not provided herein

The Executive Compensation Plan includes Base Bonus Pool for annual achievement of the BOP target

but does not include Threshold Bonus Pool for achievement of the annual TOP target

The allocation of the aggregate Base Bonus Pool Threshold Bonus Pool and Participation Bonus percentage

among each of our named executive officers differs according to the named executive officers experience

position and responsibilities as set forth in the table below

First Second Third Fourth

Named Executive Officer Quarter1 Quarter Quarter Quarter Annual

Michael Fields

Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 25% $12500 $25000 $12500 $12500 $105000

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus Pool 25% $25000 $37500 6250 6250 No Pool2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 8.40% 8.40% 5.60% 5.60%

Michael Shannahan

Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 14% 7000 $14000 7000 7000 58800

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus Pool 14% $14000 $21000 3500 3500 No Pool2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 5.10% 5.10% 3.40% 3.40%

Jay Jones

Tier OneBase Bonus PoolS 13% 6500 $13000 6500 6500 54600

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus PoolS 13% $13000 $19500 3250 3250 No Pool2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 4.20% 4.20% 2.80% 2.80%

Chad Wolf

Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 6% 3000 6000 3000 3000 25200

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus Pool 6% 6000 9000 1500 1500 No Pool2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 2.10% 2.10% 1.40% 1.40%

Daniel Turano

Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 7% 3500 7000 3500 3500 29400

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus Pool 7% 7000 $10500 1750 1750 NoPool2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 1.20% 1.20% 0.80% 0.80%

Marchai Bruchey

Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 14% 7000 $14000 7000 N/A 58800

Tier Two-Threshold Bonus Pool 14% $14000 $21000 3500 N/A No PooI2

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP 2.70% 2.70% 1.80% N/A

John Thompson3
Tier OneBase Bonus Pool 0%

Tier TwoThreshold Bonus PoolS 0%

Tier ThreeParticipation Bonus of OTOP

The Tier-One Base Bonus Pool amounts for the first quarter reflect increases approved under the Executive

flQ 1.-.I- .4.- D.-...- D-d ri Cktr.h
LU11I1i1ISd.L1UI1 riaii 111 JLLUUI ZAJVO r1ILI1UU11 U1 JJa J.rn

2008 the bonuses earned and paid in the first quarter were compliant with the priorTier-One Base Bonus

Pool amounts approved in April 2008 For the first quarter Mr Fields earned $11000 Mr Shannahan

earned $6000 Mr Jones earned $5500 Mr Wolf earned $2500 Mr Turano earned $3000 Ms Bruchey

earned $7000

The Executive Compensation Plan includes Base Bonus Pool for annual achievement of the BOP target

but does not include Threshold Bonus Pool for achievement of the annual TOP target

Mr Thompson did not participate in the Executive Compensation Plan as it was still under consideration

when Mr Thompson notified the Company of his retirement in February 2008
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Each named executive officers total cash bonus award for 2008 can exceed the Base Bonus Amount if the

BOP and TOP targets are achieved in each quarter and annually and Participation Bonus is awarded in any

quarter for achievement of OTOP under the Executive Compensation Plan

The Commission Amount

Three of our named executive officers had an additional cash commission component tied to our

achievement of license maintenance and professional services revenue targets These individuals Mr Turano

Ms Bruchey and Mr Wolf are or were employed in our sales and marketing departments where revenue

generation is primary focus For Mr Turano his cash commission component is earned and paid upon our

achievement of both quarterly and annual license maintenance and professional services revenue targets

Whereas for Ms Bruchey and Mr Wolf their cash commission component is earned and paid upon our

achievement of annual license maintenance and professional services revenue targets The on-target commission

amounts that each named executive officer could earn in 2008 for achievement of our revenue targets were as

follows

Named Executive Officer Annual On-Target Commission Amount

Daniel Turano $157500

Marchai Bruchey 60000
Chad Wolf 56250

For 2008 the annual revenue targets for Mr Turano were $24.75 million from license revenues $29 million

from maintenance revenues and $21.5 million from professional services revenue For Ms Bruchey and

Mr Wolf the annual revenue targets for maintenance and professional services revenues were the same as for

Mr Turano but the annual revenue target from license revenues was $27.75 million In 2008 Mr Turano

Ms Bruchey and Mr Wolf earned commissions totaling $98729 $11238 and $12295 respectively The

amount of the commissions earned and paid to each named executive officer equals the actual quarterly or annual

license maintenance and professional services revenues achieved multiplied by percentage that varies for each

named executive officer depending on the source of revenue and the named executive officers contribution to

the achievement of the revenue target There was no minimum revenue requirement for payment of the

commissions except for commissions on professional services revenue payment of which is conditioned on

professional services operating at 12% gross margin In addition for Ms Bruchey and Mr Wolf to the extent

we exceed given revenue target their fixed commission rates increased by factor of one and one-third

For Mr Turano to the extent we exceeded given quarterly or annual revenue target he earned

percentage of the amount by which revenues exceeded the target amount For quarterly revenue targets the

above-target commission percentages for Mr Turano were 1.00% for license revenues 0.10% for maintenance

revenues and 0.25% for professional services revenues For annual revenue targets the above-target commission

percentages for Mr Turano were 2.00% for license revenues 0.25% for maintenance revenues and 0.50% for

professional services revenues

Bonus Payments

The Executive Compensation Plans targets were sufficiently challenging for our named executive officers

to achieve because such targets focused on our attainment of continual and growing operating profit In 2008
the BOP target was achieved in the first second and third quarters the TOP target was achieved only in the third

quarter and OTOP was achieved only in the third quarter The Company failed to achieve any other profit targets

during the year including the annual measurement amounts due to an unexpected drop in revenues in the fourth

quarter which caused the Company to miss its operating profit targets

In 2008 our named executive officers earned the following cash bonus awards under the Executive

Compensation Plan our Chief Executive Officer earned $64718 all of which was paid in 2008 our former Chief
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Financial Officer Michael Shannahan earned $36552 all of which was paid in 2008 our Interim Chief

Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer earned $33234 all of which was paid in 2008 the President

of eVergance earned $143506 with payment of $5314 occurring in 2009 our Senior Vice President of

Worldwide Field Operations earned $142706 with payment of $24276 occurring in 2009 our former Chief

Marketing Officer earned $71142 all of which was paid in 2008 and our former Chief Financial Officer John

Thompson earned $0 in 2008 For Mr Wolf the President of eVergance Mr Turano our Senior Vice

President of Worldwide Field Operations and Ms Bruchey our former Chief Marketing Officer the above

amounts include both commission amounts and bonus awards under the Executive Compensation Plan For

Mr Shannahan the above amount does not include the sign-on bonus of $11458 described below

Equity Awards Under Long-Term Equity Incentive Plans

Equity Incentive Program

We believe that equity awards are critical component in our ability to recruit and retain our executive

officers Equity awards also provide our named executive officers with long-term incentives to build stockholder

value Our equity incentive program strives to retain our named executive officers to motivate them to achieve

our annual strategic goals and to align the performance of our named executive officers with the interests of our

stockholders through grants of several forms of equity such as stock options performance-based stock options

and restricted stock

We maintain the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan and equity compensation plans assumed pursuant to

acquisitions of certain companies We may grant several different forms of an equity award under these plans

including stock options and restricted stock The Compensation Committee is responsible for approving equity

grants for our named executive officers Stock Options are typically granted to our named executive officers

when they first join the Company and in connection with annual re-fresh stock option grants based on merit and

performance In 2008 the Compensation Committee approved stock option award to Mr Shannahan to

purchase 350000 shares of our common stock in connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer

however no re-fresh stock option grants were made to any employees including our named executive officers

We have implemented standardized program for granting dates for stock options If there are stock option

grants to consider then on Monday of the second full week of each month we provide recommendation to the

Compensation Committee regarding stock option grants for the named executive officers and other employees

The Compensation Committee then reviews the proposed stock option grants and renders recommendation and

approval generally on the Thursday of such week with the exercise price of such stock option grants being the

closing price of our common stock on that Thursday

Other Benefits

401k Retirement Plan

We have 40 1k retirement plan which covers substantially all employees Eligible employees may make

salary deferral before tax contributions up to specified amount The Company at its discretion may make

additional matching contributions on behalf of the participants of the retirement plan but did not make any

matching contributions in 2008 and has not to date in 2009
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Other Benefits

We offer our named executive officers range of benefits including life medical dental vision and

disability programs in the geographical location where they are based In providing these benefit programs we

aim to provide an attractive set of benefits while managing business costs These benefits are similaror the same

benefits offered to all of our employees

Perquisites

We do not typically offer cash or non-cash perquisites to our named executive officers that are not available

to other employees During fiscal year 2008 other than as described below we did not provide any special

benefits or perquisites to any named executive officer that exceeded $10000 however in the future there may
be times when specific situation requires additional compensation to be given to named executive officer that

exceeds $10000 As disclosed by us in June 2007 the Company agreed to pay monthly housing costs rent of

our Chief Executive Officer The total amount of rent paid in 2008 was $64748

Ownership Guidelines

We currently have not adopted stock ownership guidelines While the Compensation Committee has

discussed stock ownership guidelines in the past and the potential benefit to us and our stockholders of

implementing such guidelines there are currently no plans to develop and implement stock ownership guidelines

in 2009

Severance or Change in Control Benefits

Our severance and change in control agreements are designed to facilitate our ability to attract and retain

executive officers in marketplace where such protections are commonly offered The severance provisions are

designed to ease an executive officers transition due to an unexpected tennination of employment for on-going

changes in our employment needs For description of the severance and change in control arrangements with

our named executive officers please see the section below entitled Potential Payments Upon Termination or

Change in Control

Tax and Accounting Implications

As part of its role the Compensation Committee reviews and considers the deductibility of executive

compensation under Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code which provides that we may not deduct

compensation of more than $1.0 million that is paid to our Chief Executive Officer and our three other most

highly compensated employees We believe that compensation paid under the executive compensation programs

is generally fully deductible for federal income tax purposes However in certain situations the Committee may

approve compensation that will not meet these requirements in order to ensure competitive levels of total

compensation for its executive officers

Since the first quarter of 2006 we have accounted for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS

No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R which requires the measurement and

recognition of compensation expense in the statement of operations for all share-based payment awards made to

employees and directors including employee stock options based on estimated fair values The estimated fair

value of the stock-based awards less expected forfeitures is amortized over requisite service period on

straight-line basis SFAS 123R requires us to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date

of grant using an option-pricing model The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in the statements of operations Because stock-based

compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is based on awards ultimately

expected to vest it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated

at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those

estimates
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For share-based payment awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of December 31 2005 the employee

stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations includes

compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions

of SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation SFAS 123 For the share-based payment

awards granted subsequent to December 31 2005 the stock-based compensation expense recognized in the

consolidated statements of operations includes compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated

in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The current members of our Compensation Committee are Messrs Batt Clifford and Nemelka No

members of our Compensation Committee were employees of KANA or its subsidiaries during 2008 or at any

time prior to 2008 During 2008 none of our executive officers served as member of the board of directors or

compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive officers serving as

member of our Board of Directors or our Compensation Committee

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion

and Analysis required by Item 402b of Regulation S-K with management and based on such review and

discussions the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation

Discussion and Analysis be included in the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended

December 31 2008

THE COMPENSATION COMMI1TEE

William Clifford Chairman

John Nemelka

Jerry Batt
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2008 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The table below summarizes the total compensation earned by each of the named executive officers for the

fiscal years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

Non-Equity

Option Incentive Plan All Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards1 Compensation2 Compensation Total

Michael Fields3 2008 $360000 397787 64718 $647484 887253

Chief Executive Officer and 2007 $360000 588876 35100 $25687 $1009663

Chairman of Board of 2006 $360000 $1022237 $455715 $1837952

Directors

John Thompson5 2008 $180929 94403 275333

Former Executive Vice 2007 $250000 110173 18750 378923

President and Chief 2006 $235000 146050 $227858 608908

Financial Officer

Michael Shannahan6 2008 $230224 $114587 61672 36552 339906

Former Executive Vice

President and Chief

Financial Officer

Daniel Turano8 2008 $225000 104269 $1427069 471975

Senior Vice President 2007 $202500 82067 $129236 413803

Worldwide Field

Operations

Chad Wolfl0 2008 $225000 37582 $14350611 406088

President of eVergance

Jay Jones 2008 $225000 92389 33234 350623

Senior Vice President 2007 $225000 93330 18750 337080

Chief Administrative 2006 68519 26154 43313 137986

Officer and Interim Chief

Financial Officer

Marchai Bruchey12 2008 $166667 65006 7114213 $5426714$ 357082

Former Senior Vice 2007 $200000 86220 30000 316220

President and Chief

Marketing Officer

The amounts reported represent the stock-based compensation expense excluding estimated forfeitures for

service-based vesting that was recognized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with SFAS

123R utilizing the assumptions discussed in Item Note Kana Software Inc and Summary of

Significant Accounting Policies Stock-based Compensation and Note Stockholders Equity Deficit

to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2008

The amounts reported reflect the cash awards paid to each of our named executive officers under the

Executive Compensation Plan described in more detail above under the heading Compensation Discussion

and Analysis

Mr Fields is Chairman of our Board of Directors and did not receive any compensation for his service as

director

The amount reported reflects the total value of payments made during 2008 for Mr Fields corporate

housing in Northern California pursuant to an arrangement that we entered into with Mr Fields in lieu of

salary increase and that is described in more detail above in the section Perquisites
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Mr Thompson retired from his position as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer effective as

of February 28 2008 Mr Thompson did not participate in the Executive Compensation Plan because it had

not been adopted at the time of his retirement

Mr Shannahan served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from March 2008 through

May 18 2009

The amount reported reflects the total value of one time non-refundable sign-on bonus made to

Mr Shannahan

Compensation information for 2006 is not included in the Summary Compensation Table for Mr Turano

because he was not named executive officer in 2006

The amount reported includes $98729 earned as commissions under the Executive Compensation Plan

10 Compensation information for 2006 and 2007 is not included in the Summary Compensation Table for

Mr Wolf because he was not named executive officer in either of those years

11 The amount reported includes $12295 earned as commissions under the Executive Compensation Plan

12 Compensation information for 2006 is not included in the Summary Compensation Table for Ms Bruchey

because she was not named executive officer in 2006 Ms Bruchey retired in October 2008

13 The amount reported includes $1 1238 earned as commissions under the Executive Compensation Plan

14 The amount reported reflects the severance payment and payment of accrued personal time made to

Ms Bruchey in conjunction with her retirement in October 2008

2008 GRANTs OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

All Other Option Grant Date

Awards Number Exercise or Fair Value
Estimated Possible Payouts Under Non-Equity of Securities Base Price of Stock

Grant
Incentive Plan Awards1

Underlying of Option and Option
Name3 Date Threshold Target Maximum6 Options2 Awards Awards

Michael Fields $167500 $262750

Michael Shannahan 93800 $153600

3/13/08 350000 $1.42 $218330

Daniel Turano 87100 $2330503

Chad Wolf 40200 $1 194004

Jay Jones 46900 $140950

MarchaiB.Bruchey 93800 $216lOO5

This column sets forth the threshold and target amounts for each named executive officers non-equity

incentive plan awards for the year ended December 31 2008 under the Executive Compensation Plan The

threshold amount represents the cash bonus payable to each named executive officer upon our achievement

of the BOP targets The target amount represents the cash bonus payable to each named executive officer

upon our achievement of the BOP and TOP targets and includes commissions amounts payable upon our

achievement of revenue targets for those named executive officers employed in the sales and marketing

departments The maximum amount payable to each named executive officer under the Executive

Compensation Plan is variable amount with no limit except for the limit placed on the total cash bonus

pool for all executive officers which is capped at $3000000 for 2008 The maximum amount payable

depends on our achievement of OTOP The Participation Bonus is paid as fixed percentage of OTOP

achieved and there is no cap on the amount of OTOP achievable The actual cash bonuses earned for the

year ended December 31 2008 for each named executive officer is set forth in the Summary Compensation

Table above and under the heading Compensation Disclosure and Analysis above

None of our named executive officers other than Mr Shannahan received equity-based awards under our

equity incentive plans in 2008

The target amount includes $157500 that could be paid out under Mr Turanos 2008 commissions-based

incentive plan
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The target amount includes $56250 that could be paid out under Mr Wolfs 2008 commissions-based

incentive plan

The target amount includes $60000 that could be paid out under Ms Brucheys 2008 commissions-based

incentive plan

The maximum amount payable to our named executive officers in the sales and marketing departments upon

achievement of our revenue targets is described in more detail above under the heading Compensation

Disclosure and Analysisthe Commission Amount

Material Terms of Employment Agreements

Michael Fields In November 2005 we formally entered into an employment offer letter with Mr Fields

for the position of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors effective as of August 26

2005 Pursuant to the terms of the employment offer letter if Mr Fields is terminated for any reason other than

cause then we will pay him an amount equal to six months of his annual base salary as in effect at the time of

termination In addition if change in control of 50% or more of our outstanding stock occurs and if following

the change in control Mr Fields is not offered position at the combined entity similar to the one he held prior

to the change in control then 100% of the unvested shares underlying the initial options granted to Mr Fields in

connection with his appointment as our Chief Executive Officer shall immediately vest

Michael Shannahan In February 2008 we entered into an employment offer letter with Mr Shannahan in

connection with his appointment as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to the

terms of the employment offer letter we agreed to pay Mr Shannahan an annual base salary of $275000 and

one time non-refundable sign-on bonus of $11458 In addition Mr Shannahan was eligible for an annual cash

incentive award of up to $137500 prorated to the length of Mr Shannahans service in 2008 and based upon his

achievement of individual objectives and our achievement of financial performance targets in 2008 In

connection with his employment with us the Compensation Committee granted Mr Shannahan an option to

purchase 350000 shares of our common stock on March 13 2008 at an exercise price equal to the fair market

value of our common stock on the date of grant 25% of the shares underlying the option vested on August 29

2008 with the remainder of the shares vesting in 42 equal monthly installments until fully vested on February 29

2012 subject to Mr Shannahans continuous employment with us Mr Shannahan retired in May 2009

On May 29 2009 we entered into separation agreement and release with Mr Shannahan Pursuant to this

agreement we paid Mr Shannahan $137500 which represented six months of his base salary less applicable

state and federal payroll deductions In addition we will pay Mr Shannahan $27552 less applicable state and

federal payroll deductions in six equal installments beginning on June 2009 and ending on September 15

2009 Lastly we agreed to pay Mr Shannahans health insurance premiums for six months under the

Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1995 COBRA should Mr Shannahan make the election to

continue the applicable health benefits under COBRA Mr Shannahan provided the Company with general

release of claims and covenant not to sue

Jay Jones In August 2006 we entered into an employment offer letter with Mr Jones Pursuant to the

terms of Mr Jones offer letter the Compensation Committee granted Mr Jones an option to purchase 200000

shares of our common stock In addition we agreed to enter into Change in Control Agreement with Mr Jones

which to date has not been entered into yet The Change in Control Agreement will provide Mr Jones with six

months accelerated vesting of any unvested shares subject to Mr Jones initial option grant to purchase 200000

shares of our common stock and separation pay equal to six months of Mr Jones annual base salary to be paid

over six-month period upon the occurrence of Change in Control Event as defined below

Daniel Turano In July 2006 we entered into an employment offer letter with Mr Turano Pursuant to the

terms of Mr Turano offer letter the Compensation Committee granted Mr Turano an option to purchase

180000 shares of our common stock In addition we agreed to enter into Change in Control Agreement with

Mr Turano which to date has not been entered into yet The Change in Control Agreement will provide
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Mr Turano with six months accelerated vesting of any unvested shares subject to Mr Turanos initial option

grant to purchase 180000 shares of our common stock and separation pay equal to six months of Mr Turano

annual base salary to be paid over six-month period upon the occurrence of Change in Control Event as

defined below

Chad Wolf In May 2007 we entered into an employment agreement with Mr Wolf Pursuant to the

terms of Mr Wolfs employment agreement the Compensation Committee granted Mr Wolf an option to

purchase 100000 shares of our common stock If Mr Wolf is terminated for Good Reason as defined below or

his employment is terminated at any
time without Cause as defined below or there occurs Change in Control

Event as defined below then Mr Wolf will receive lump sum payment equal to six months of his then-current

base salary lump sum payment of $6000 and 100% of the unvested shares underlying the then outstanding

options granted to Mr Wolf shall immediately vest

Definitions Used in Employment Agreements

Interim CFO
Former CFO and CAO

Michael Shannahan Jay Jones

Cause for termination will exist after the occurrence of one or

more of the following gross negligence or willful misconduct

in the performance of or his failure or refusal to perform his

duties with KANA as determined in good faith by our Board of

Directors ii unprofessional unethical or fraudulent conduct or

conduct that discredits KANA or is detrimental to KANAs

reputation character or standing iii dishonest conduct or

deliberate attempt to injure KANA iv breach of his Invention

Assignment and Confidentiality Agreements and/or duty of

confidentiality to KANA including without limitation the theft

misappropriation and/or misuse of KANAs proprietary

information failure or refusal to comply in any material

respect with the reasonable policies standards or regulations of

KANA vi any unlawful or criminal act which would reflect

badly on KANA in our reasonable judgment vii absence from

work without an approved leave or viii death

Cause for termination will exist after the

occurrence of one or more of the following

gross negligence or willful misconduct

in the performance of or his failure or

refusal to perform his duties with KANA
as determined by us in good faith or his

failure or refusal to perform his duties with

us for more than 30 days after there has

been delivered written demand describing

the duties he has failed or refused to

perform ii substantial and material failure

to meet the reasonable expectations of our

Board of Directors for his position which

failure is not the result of factors outside of

the Executives control and that continue

for more than 30 days after there has been

delivered written demand for

performance describing the specific

deficiencies and specific manner in which

his performance must be improved iii

failure or refusal to comply in any material

respect with the reasonable policies

standards or regulations of KANA which

continues for more than 30 days after there

has been delivered written demand

describing the specific compliance

deficiencies iv conviction of felony or

serious misdemeanor which reflects badly

on KANA in KANAs reasonable

judgment his absence from work apart

from vacation for more than 30 days

without an approved leave of absence plus

definitions iii and iv from the definition

of Cause set forth in the agreements for

Messrs Shannahan Jones and Turano

Cause

SVP WW Field

Ops

Daniel Turano

President eVergance

Chad Wolf
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Change in

Control Event

Interim CFO
Former CFO and CAO

Michael Shannahan Jay Jones

change in control of 50% or more

of our outstanding stock and

following which Mr Shannahan is

not offered the same or similar

position with the combined entity as

the one he held prior to the change

in control or if he is terminated

without Cause within six months of

the change in control

SVP WW Field

Ops

Daniel Turano

change in control of 50%

or more of our outstanding

stock and following which

they are not offered the same

or similar position at the

combined entity as the

position that they held prior

to the change in control

President eVergance

Chad Wolf

An Involuntary Termination as
defined below within 12 months after

the closing of consolidation or

merger of KANA with or into any
other corporation or corporations in

which the holders of KANAs
outstanding shares immediately

before such consolidation or merger
do not immediately after such

consolidation or merger retain stock

representing majority of the voting

power of the surviving corporation of

such consolidation or merger ii the

approval by KANAs stockholders of

plan of complete liquidation of

KANA or sale of all or

substantially all of the assets of the

Company

The relocation of the principal

location where Mr Wolf is required

to perform his duties to more than

fifty miles from Overland Park

Kansas ii the occurrence of an

Involuntary Termination as defined

below

An involuntary termination is defined

as material reduction of his

duties position or responsibilities

relative to his duties position or

responsibilities in effect immediately

prior to such reduction without his

express written consent ii his

removal from his duties position and

responsibilities unless he is provided

with substantially comparable duties

position and responsibilities

provided however that reduction in

duties position or responsibilities

solely by virtue of KANA being

acquired and being made part of

larger entity is not an Involuntary

Termination

Separation Agreements

John Thompson In February 2008 Mr Thompson retired from his position as Chief Financial Officer

From February 2008 to September 2008 Mr Thompson provided transitional services to us During the

transitional period Mr Thompson continued to receive his annual base salary but was no longer eligible for

cash incentive bonus Mr Thompsons options also continued to vest until September 2008 in accordance with

their terms and Mr Thompson was given until March 2009 to exercise any vested options Mr Thompson did not

exercise any options prior to March 2009 and as result the vested options were then cancelled

Marchai Bruchey In February 2008 we entered into letter agreement to amend Ms Brucheys offer

letter dated December 15 2000 the amendment agreement that provided Ms Bruchey with severance

benefits Pursuant to the terms of the amendment agreement Ms Bruchey received lump-sum separation

payment of six months annual base salary in connection with her retirement in October 2008

Good Reason N/A

Involuntary N/A

Termination
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

Number of Securities Number of Securities

Underlying Unexercised Underlying Unexercised

Options Options

Option Exercise Option Expiration

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date

Michael Fields 384000 2.95 9/7/2016

838282 1676571 2.95 9/7/2016

Michael Shannahan 72971 2770832 1.42 3/13/2018

Jay Jones 112500 875003 2.95 9/7/2016

14076 159244 3.10 1/31/2017

Daniel Turano 101250 787505 2.95 9/7/2016

90000 281256 3.00 9/12/2017

Chad Wolf 37500 625007 3.10 6/13/2017

Marchai Bruchey8 2322 6.67 12/17/2009

1575 8.76 4/11/2011

41 8.76 4/11/2011

162 8.76 4/11/2011

1210 8.76 4/11/2011

756 8.76 4/11/2011

5250 18.76 6/28/2011

1875 0.10 10/12/2011

21699 14.41 12/13/2011

3301 14.41 12/13/2011

3000 9.48 5/1/2012

750 1.63 8/1/2012

10000 3.32 1/21/2013

50000 3.38 4/26/2014

895839 10417 1.591 3/2/2015

24600 1.87 3/24/2015

6250010 37500 2.95 9/8/2016

131251 16875 3.10 2/1/2017

Option fully vested as of December 31 2008

Option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlying it on February 26 2006 and as to 1/48th

of the underlying shares monthly thereafter until fully vested on August 26 2009

Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on

February 29 2012

Option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlying it on March 2007 and as to 1/48Eh of

the underlying shares monthly thereafter until fully vested on September 2010

Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on

January 12011
Option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlying it on March 2007 and as to l/48t of

the underlying shares monthly thereafter until fully vested on September 2010

Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on

September 13 2011

Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on June 14

2011

Ms Bruchey retired from KANA effective as of October 31 2008 All outstanding equity awards held by

Ms Bruchey as of December 31 2008 were cancelled in January 2009

Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on March

2009

10 Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on April 20

2010

11 Option vests monthly as to 1/48th of the shares of common stock underlying it until fully vested on

January 12011
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2008 OvnoNs EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

None of our named executive officers acquired shares of our common stock pursuant to the exercise of

options during our fiscal year ended December 31 2008

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

Pursuant to the terms of our named executive officers employment agreements as described in more detail

above in the section Material Tenns of Employment Agreements certain of the stock options held by certain

of our named executive officers provide for acceleration of vesting and exercisability with respect to unvested

shares upon change in control and if that named executive officer is not offered similaror same position in

the combined entity The following table summarizes the potential payments and benefits payable to each of our

named executive officers upon termination of employment or change iii control under each situation listed

below assuming in each situation that our named executive officers were terminated on December 31 2008 and

the price per share of our common stock was $0.70 the closing bid price of our common stock on December 31

2008 which was the last trading day for our common stock in 2008 The amounts shown do not include the value

of payments or benefits that would have been earned or any amounts associated with equity awards that would

have vested absent the triggering event

None of our named executive officers would be entitled to the separation benefits listed in the event of

voluntary termination or termination for cause death or disability Mr Thompson and Ms Bruchey are not

included in the table below due to their retirements in September 2008 and October 2008 respectively

No Change in Control Following Change in Control

Termination Other Termination Other

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination Than for Cause Than for Cause

Michael Fields

Base Salary $180000 $180000

Bonus

Medical continuation

Value of Accelerated Stock Options 117360

Michael Shannahan1
Base Salary $137500 $167500

Bonus

Medical continuation

Value of Accelerated Stock Options

Jay Jones

Base Salary $112500

Bonus

Medical continuation

Value of Accelerated Stock Options 61250

Daniel Turano

Base Salary $112500

Bonus

Medical continuation

Value of Accelerated Stock Options 55125

Chad Wolf

Base Salary $112500 $112500

Bonus 60002 60002
Medical continuation

Value of Accelerated Stock Options 43750 43750
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The amounts payable to Mr Shannahan in connection with his retirement in May 2009 are described above

under the heading Material Terms of Employment Agreements
In addition Mr Wolf has the right to pro rata portion of his annual bonus in the event his employment is

terminated without Cause prior to the end of the fiscal year bonus period

Compensation for Directors

In 2008 we paid each of our non-employee directors an annual fee of $15000 and ii an additional

$2500 for each of the four regularly scheduled Board of Directors meetings that such director attended We paid

the chairperson of the Audit Committee an additional $25000 the chairpersons of the Compensation Committee

and the Governance and Nominating Committee an additional $10000 and the chairperson of the Strategy

Committee an additional $15000

Our non-employee directors are eligible to receive discretionary stock option grants and stock issuances

pursuant to the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as amended When non-employee director is first elected or

appointed as member of the Board of Directors he or she is automatically granted stock option grant to

purchase 40000 shares of common stock On the date of each annual stockholders meeting each continuing

non-employee director will automatically be granted stock option grant to purchase 10000 shares of common

stock provided that such director has served as non-employee director for at least six months The

non-employee directors are also eligible to receive other types of awards under the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive

Plan as amended that are discretionary and not automatic All options granted to non-employee directors will

have an exercise price equal to the current fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant and

will be nonqualified stock options In the event of merger or sale of substantially all of our assets in connection

with the liquidation or dissolution of our company all of the shares subject to the automatic initial and annual

stock option grants will accelerate and become exercisable in full

We reimburse our directors for reasonable travel and other
expenses

incurred in connection with attending

the meetings of the Board of Directors

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR 2008

The table below summarizes the compensation that we paid our nonemployee directors for the ended

December 31 2008

Fees Earned

or Paid in Option
Name1 Cash Awards2 Total

Jerry Batt $32500 6320 $38820

William Clifford $45000 $22504 $67504

John Nemelka $23750 $22525 $46275

Stephanie Vinella $47500 $14163 $61663

Mr Fields our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors is not included in this table

as he is an employee of KANA and thus received no compensation for his services as Chairman of the

Board of Directors The compensation received by Mr Fields as an employee of KANA is shown above in

the Summary Compensation Table

The amounts reported represent the stock-based compensation expense that was recognized for financial

reporting purposes in accordance with SFAS 123R utilizing the assumptions discussed in Item Note

Kana Software Inc and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Stock-based Compensation and

Note Stockholders Equity Deficit to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 without giving effect to estimated forfeitures
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The aggregate number of option awards outstanding for each of our non-employee directors as of

December 31 2008 is provided in the table below

Number of Options

Non-Employee Director Outstanding

Jerry Batt 160000

William Clifford 90000

John Nemelka 70000

Stephanie Vinella 145000

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The table below sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of

April 30 2009 by the following individuals or groups

each person or entity who is known by us to own beneficially more than five percent of our outstanding

stock

each of our named executive officers

each of our directors and

all current directors and executive officers as group

Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment

power with respect to securities Applicable percentage ownership in the following table is based on 41214666

shares of common stock outstanding as of April 30 2009 as adjusted to include options and warrants exercisable

within 60 days of April 30 2009 held by the indicated stockholder or stockholders

Unless otherwise indicated the principal address of each of the stockholders below is do Kana Software

Inc 181 Constitution Drive Menlo Park CA 94025 Except as otherwise indicated and subject to applicable

community property laws the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with

respect to all shares of common stock held by them To determine the number of shares beneficially owned by

persons
other than our directors executive officers and their affiliates we have relied on beneficial ownership

reports filed by such persons with the SEC

Percentage

Number of of Shares

Shares Beneficially

Beneficially Owned

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Owned

Executive Officers and Directors

Michael Fieldsl 1341923 3.2%

Michael Shannahan2 109376

Jay Jones3 155247

Daniel Turano4 163125

Chad WolfS 372045

Marchai Bruchey

John Thompson 100000

Jerry Batt6 160000

William Clifford7 81000

John Nemelka8 7977725 19.3%

Stephanie Vinella9 145262

All 11 current directors and executive officers as group10 10896775 24.9%

5% Stockholders

NightWatch Capital Management LLCl 7912725 19.2%

KVO Capital Management LLC12 3354343 8.1%
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Less than one percent of our outstanding coinnion stock

Includes 1341923 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 109376 subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 155247 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 163125 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 50000 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 160000 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 80000 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

Includes 65000 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009 and

7912725 shares beneficially owned by NightWatch Capital Management LLC NWCM based solely

on information contained in an amended Schedule 3D/A filed by NWCM on May 22 2007 See footnote

11 below for additional information on the shares beneficially held by NWCM
Includes 145000 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

10 Includes 2625678 shares subject to stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of April 30 2009

and 7.9 12.725 shares beneficially owned by NWCM as described in more detail in footnote 11 below

11 Based solely on information contained in an amended Schedule 13D/A filed by NWCM on May 22 2007

with the SEC reporting beneficial ownership of 7912725 shares Includes 6317273 shares of common

stock held by NightWatch Capital Partners LP and NightWatch Capital Partners II LP collectively NW
Funds and warrants to purchase 1.595.452 shares of common stock by NW Funds Pursuant to Advisory

Agreements with NW Funds and acting through its managing member NightWatch Capital Group LLC

NWCG NightWatch Capital Advisors LLC NWCA has the sole power to vote or direct the vote

and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities Accordingly NWCA may be deemed to be

the beneficial owner of these securities Acting through its managing member NightWatch Management
LLC NWM and in its capacity as the managing member of NWCA NWCG has the sole power to vote

or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities Accordingly NWCG may
be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities Acting through its managing member JFN

Management LLC JFNM and in its capacity as the managing member of NWCG NWM has the sole

power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities

Accordingly NWM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities Acting through its

managing member Mr Nemelka and in its capacity as the managing member of NWM JFNM has the

sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities

Accordingly JFNM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities In his capacity as

managing member of JFNM Mr Nemelka has the sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or

to direct the disposition of these securities Accordingly Mr Nemelka may be deemed to be the beneficial

owner of these securities Mr Nemelka and each of the aforementioned NightWatch entities disclaim

beneficial ownership of the shares held by NW Funds except to the extent of any indirect pecuniary interest

within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act The principal business address of NWCM is

5314 River Run Drive Suite 350 Provo Utah 84604

12 Based solely on information contained in Schedule 3D/A filed by KVO Capital Management LLC

KVO Kernan Oberting and Robert Ashton with the SEC on May 12 2009 reporting beneficial

ownership of 3354343 shares KVO has sole voting and dispositive power over these shares Mr Oberting

is the Managing Member of KVO By reason of the provisions of Rule 3d-3 of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 Mr Oberting may be deemed to beneficially own all of the shares that KVO is deemed to

beneficially own Mr Oberting disclaims beneficial ownership of any of these shares The shares that KVO
beneficially owns includes 354675 shares held in private account on behalf of Mr Ashton portfolio

manager of KVO over which KVO has both voting and dispositive power pursuant to contract KVOs
voting and dispositive power over these shares is revocable only if Mr Ashton tenninates his employment

with KVO at which time the right to vote and dispose of those shares will revert to him The shares that

KVO beneficially owns also includes 2986418 shares held in other private accounts over which KVO has

both voting and dispositive power pursuant to contract KVOs voting and dispositive power over these

shares is revocable on or after December 31 2010 The principal business address of KVO Capital

Management LLC and Messrs Oberting and Ashton is 44 Main Street Box 17 Hanover NH 03755
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31 2008 with respect to the shares of KANA

common stock that may be issued under existing equity compensation plans The category Equity compensation

plans approved by security holders in the table below consists of the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as

amended the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan The category Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders in the table below consists of the Broadbase Software Inc 1999 Equity Incentive Plan the Broadbase

1999 Plan and the Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive Plan the Broadbase 2000 Plan The

Broadbase 1999 Plan and the Broadbase 2000 Plan were assumed by KANA in connection with the merger with

Broadbase Software Inc in June 2001 and have not been subsequently approved by our stockholders

The table does not include information with respect to shares subject to outstanding awards granted under

other equity compensation arrangements assumed by KANA in connection with
mergers

and acquisitions of the

companies that originally granted those awards

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized

for issuance as of December 31 2008

Weighted-

average Number of securities

Number of securities exercise price of remaining available for

to be issued upon outstanding future issuance under

exercise of options equity compensation plans

outstanding options warrants excluding securities

warrants and rights and rights reflected in column

Plan category

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders12 6377487 $4.58 4731258

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders34 1581604 $3.08 11168719

Total 7959091 $4.28 15899977

Under the terms of the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan on the first trading day of January of each year the

aggregate number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance there under is increased

automatically by number of shares equal to 4.25% of the total number of shares of our outstanding

common stock on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year up to

maximum of 10000000 shares per year

Excludes options warrants and other equity rights outstanding under the KANA 1997 Stock Option Plan

and KANA 1999 Special Stock Option Plan which are our inactive shareholder approved plans under which

no additional awards may be granted As of December 31 2008 total of 50363 shares of our common

stock were issuable upon exercise of outstanding options under those shareholder approved plans The

weighted-average exercise price of those options is $153.08

Represents outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock under the Broadbase 1999 Plan and

the Broadbase 2000 Plan which were assumed by us in connection with our merger with Broadbase

Software Inc in June 2001 Under the terms of the Broadbase 1999 Plan on the first trading day of January

of each year the aggregate number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under the plan is

increased automatically by number of shares equal to 5% of the total number of shares of our outstanding

common stock on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year Please see

below for more detailed description of our equity compensation plans that do not require the approval of

and have not been approved by our stockholders

Excludes options warrants and other equity rights assumed by KANA in connection with mergers and

acquisitions other than those awards issued under assumed plans i.e the Broadbase 1999 and 2000 Plans

As of December 31 2008 total of 23082 shares of our common stock were issuable upon exercise of
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outstanding options under these other assumed arrangements The weighted-average exercise price of these

outstanding options is $98.85 No additional awards may be granted under these assumed arrangements

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved By Stockholders

We assumed the Broadhase 1999 Plan and the Broadbase 2000 Plan in connection with our merger with

Broadbase Software Inc in June 2001 The Broadbase 1999 Plan permits the grant of nonqualified stock options

restricted stock and stock bonuses to our employees consultants and directors The Broadbase 2000 Plan permits

the grant of nonqualified stock options and restricted stock to our employees consultants and directors

The Broadbase 1999 Plan and the Broadbase 2000 Plan allow the Compensation Committee to specify the

specific conditions of grants including but not limited to the vesting period option period termination

provisions and transferability provisions Options granted under both plans typically have an exercise price not

less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant although both plans permit grants at

lower exercise prices Options granted under both plans generally become exercisable over four-year period

based on continued service and expire ten years after the grant date subject to earlier termination in the event of

participants termination of service with KANA

As of December 31 2008 total of 9823676 and 1345043 shares remained available for grant under the

Broadbase 1999 Plan and the Broadbase 2000 Plan respectively Under the terms of the Broadbase 1999 Plan on

the first trading day of January of each year the aggregate number of shares of our common stock reserved for

issuance thereunder is increased automatically by number of shares equal to 5% of the total number of shares of

our outstanding common stock on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year

The Broadbase 1999 Plan expires in July 2009 at which time the shares currently available for grant thereunder

will no longer be eligible for grant

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions

Our Audit Committee is responsible for the review approval or ratification of related-person transactions

between KANA or its subsidiaries and related persons Other than the compensation arrangements that are

described above in Material Terms of Employment Agreements and Potential Payments Upon Termination or

Change in Control since January 2008 except as described below there have not been and there are not

currently proposed any transactions or series of similar transactions in which we were or will be participant in

which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120000 and in which any director executive officer

holder of 5% or more of any class of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of any of the

foregoing persons had or will have direct or indirect material interest

During 2008 we employed the daughter of Michael Fields our Chief Executive Officer as our Director of

Legal Services Ms Fields received total compensation of $150709 in 2008 The $150709 consisted of

$130000 in annual base salary $15000 earned as variable compensation upon achievement of personal

objectives during each quarter of 2008 and $5709 in stock-based compensation expense excluding estimated

forfeitures for service-based vesting that was recognized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with

SFAS No 123R

Independence of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has determined after considering all the relevant facts and circumstances that each

of Messrs Batt Clifford and Nemelka and Ms Vinella are independent directors as independence is defined

in the marketplace rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market
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ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Fiscal 2008 and 2007 Audit Firm Fee Summary

Burr Pilger Mayer LLP BPM has served as our current independent registered public accounting firm

and audited our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 Set forth

below are the aggregated fees in thousands billed for audit and other services provided by BPM for 2008 and

2007

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Audit fees1 $617 $972

Audit-related fees2 22

Tax fees

All other fees

Total fees $617 $994

Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual consolidated financial

statements and review of our quarterly condensed consolidated financial statements and services such as

consents and review of SEC comment letters that are normally provided by BPM in connection with

statutory and regulatory filing engagements

Includes fees related to due diligence and accounting consultation in connection with comfort letter and an

acquisition

Our Audit Committee considers at least annually whether the provision of non-audit services by our

independent registered public accounting firm is compatible with maintaining auditor independence This
process

includes

Obtaining and reviewing on at least an annual basis letter from the independent registered public

accounting firm describing all relationships between the independent registered public accounting firm

and the Company required to be disclosed by Independence Standards Board Standard No reviewing

the nature and scope
of such relationships discussing these relationships with the independent

registered public accounting firm and discontinuing any relationships that the Audit Committee

believes could compromise the independence of the registered public accounting firm

Obtaining reports of all non-audit services proposed to be performed by the independent registered

public accounting firm before such services are performed reviewing and approving or prohibiting as

appropriate any non-audit services not permitted by applicable law The Audit Committee may

delegate authority to review and approve or prohibit non-audit services to one or more members of the

Audit Committee and direct that any approval so granted be reported to the Audit Committee at

following meeting of the Audit Committee

All services provided by the Companys independent registered public accounting firm in fiscal years 2007

and 2008 were approved in advance by the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

All audit and permitted non-audit services to be performed for the Company by its independent registered

public accounting firm must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee to assure that the provision of such

services do not impair the firms independence The Audit Committee does not delegate its responsibility to

pre-approve services performed by the independent auditors to management

The annual audit services engagement terms and fees are subject to the specific pre-approval of the Audit

Committee The Audit Committee will approve if necessary any changes in terms conditions and fees resulting

from changes in audit scope or other matters All other audit services not otherwise included in the annual audit

services engagement must be specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

3.01 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-27 163 3.1 5/4/00

Incorporation as amended by the Certificate of

Amendment dated April 18 2000

3.02 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-8 333-64552 4.02 7/3/0

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

April 18 2001

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-3 333-77068 4.03 1/18/02

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on

December 112001

3.04 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended 8-A 000-27 163 3.04 1/31/06

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

November 21 2005

3.05 Amended and Restated Bylaws as currently in 8-K 000-27163 3.1 1/13/09

effect

3.06 Certificate of Designation of Series Junior 8-K 000-27163 3.01 1/31/06

Participating Preferred Stock as filed with the

Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27

2006

4.01 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-i/A 333-82587 4.01 9/21/99

4.02 Form of Rights Certificate 8-K 000-27163 4.01 1/31/06

4.03 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as 8-K 000-27 163 4.1 1/13/09

of January 13 2009 by and between Kana

Software Inc and Computershare Trust Company
N.A

10.01 Kana Software Inc 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as 10-Q 000-27163 10.01 11/14/06

amended

10.02 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.01 3/14/00

riali

10.03 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.02 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement4-year vesting

10.04 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.03 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement30-month vesting

10.05 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive 10-Q 000-27 163 10.02 11/14/06

Plan as amended

10.06 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive S-8 333-32460 4.09 6/02/00

PlanRelated Forms of Agreement
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.07 Broadbase Software Inc 1999 Equity Incentive S-4/A 333-4896 4.09 11/09/00

Plan as amended November 2000

10.08 Kana Software Inc 1997 Stock Option Plan 5-1 333-82587 10.1 7/09/97

10.09 Lease Agreement dated December 23 1999 10-Q 000-27163 10.03 5/11/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Bohannon

Trusts Partnership II

10.10 Amendment to Lease dated February 2007 10-K 000-27 163 10.10 5/15/09

between Bohannon Trusts Partnership II and Kana

Software Inc

10.11 Lease Agreement dated August 112000 between 10-Q 000-27163 10.4 11/13/00

Broadbase Software Inc and Robert

Wheatley and Roger Fields d.b.a

Properties

10.12 Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of 8-K 000-27163 99.1 11/21/02

Lease dated November 11 2002 between the

Registrant and Robert Wheatley and Roger

Fields d.b.a Properties

10.13 Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana 8-K/A 000-27 163 99.01 12/13/01

Software Inc TCV IV L.P and TCV IV

Strategic Partners L.P dated as of November 28

2001

10.14 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated 10-K 000-27163 10.20 3/19/04

December 10 2003 between Kana Software Inc

and IBM

10.15 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27163 10.01 6/30/05

dated as of June 25 2005 by and among Kana

Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 8-K 000-27 163 10.02 6/30/05

25 2005 by and among Kana Software Inc and

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.17 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana 8-K 000-27163 10.03 6/30/05

Software Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as

of June 25 2005

10.18 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27163 10.01 10/03/05

dated as of September 29 2005 by and among

Kana Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005 between Kana Software Inc

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.20 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana

Software Inc to Nightwatch Capital Partners LP

and NightWatch Capital Partners II LP in

connection with the Common Stock and Warrant

Purchase Agreement dated as of September 29

2005

10.21 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd in connection with

the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase

Agreement dated as of September 29 2005

10.22 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement

dated September 29 2005

10.23 Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase

Warrant issued by Kana Software Inc to

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP and Night Watch
dated September 29 2005

10.24 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant

issued by Kana Software Inc to RHP Master Fund

Ltd dated September 29 2005

10.25 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.26 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software

inc to INlgntWatcn Lapital 1-artners 11 LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.27 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Softwarc

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd dated October 25

2005 in connection with the Common Stock and

Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of September

LJ LtJUJ

10.28 Second Amendment to Registration Rights

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among Kana

Software inc NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master

Fund Ltd

Exhibit

Number

10.19

Filing Filed

Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 000-27163 10.02 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.03 10/03/05

8-K 000-27 163 10.04 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.05 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.06 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.07 10/03/05

8-K 000-27163 10.01 10/31/05

8-K 000-27163 10.02 10/31/05

8-K 000-27163 10.03 10/31/05

8-K 000-27163 10.01 5/11/06
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.29 First Amendment to Registration Rights 8-K 000-27 163 10.02 5/11/06

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among

Kana Software Inc NightWatch Capital

Partners LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP

and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.30 Letter Agreement dated as of September 29 10-Q 000-27 163 10.08 7/06/06

2005 by and among Kana Software Inc

NightWatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.31 Employment Offer Letter between Kana 8-K/A 000-27 163 10.01 11/23/05

Software Inc and Michael Fields dated as of

September 2005

10.32 Offer Letter to Jay Jones dated as of 10-Q 000-27 163 10.03 11/14/06

August 14 2006

10.33 Employment Agreement dated May 2007 10-Q 000-27163 10.02 8/14/07

between Kana Software Inc and Mark

Angel

10.34 Offer Letter to Michael Shannahan dated as of 10-K 000-27163 10.37 3/17/08

February 28 2008

10.35 Offer Letter to Daniel Turano dated July 18 10-K/A 000-27163 10.48 4/29/08

2006

10.36 Description of Director Cash Compensation 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 4/25/06

Arrangements adopted April 20 2006

10.37 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security 10-K 000-27 163 10.37 5/15/09

Agreement dated March 28 2008 between Kana

Software Inc Bridge Bank NA.

10.38 Patent License and Settlement Agreement dated 10-Q 000-27163 10.02 5/14/07

March 23 2007 between Kana Software Inc

and Polaris IP LLC.1

10.39 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security 10-K 000-27163 10.39 5/15/09

Modification Agreement dated July 14 2008

10.40 Loan and Security Modification Agreement 10-K 000-27163 10.40 5/15/09

dated March 17 2009

10.41 Loan and Security Modification Agreement l0-Q 000-27163 10.41 5/28/09

dated May 26 2009

10.42 Employment Agreement by and between Kana

Software Inc and Chad Wolf dated as of May

2007

21.01 List of subsidiaries of Registrant 10-K 000-27163 21.01 5/15/09

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public 10-K 000-27163 23.01 5/15/09

Accounting Firm
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

24.01 Power of Attorney included on page 90 of the 10-K 000-27 163 24.01 5/15/09

Annual Report on Form 10-K

1.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

These certifications accompany KANAs Annual Report on Form 10-K they are not deemed filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of KANA
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act whether made before or after the date hereof and

irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Filed by Broadbase Software Inc

Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to portions of the exhibit Such portions were filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the city of

Menlo Park state of California on June 15 2009

KANA SOFTWARE INC

Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Date June 15 2009 By
Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Principal Executive Officer

Date June 15 2009 By Is JAY JONES

Interim Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Date June 15 2009 By Is WILLIAM FEICHTMANN

Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Date June 15 2009 By Is JERRY BArr

Jerry Batt

Director

Date June 15 2009 By Is STEPHANIE VINELLA

Stephanie Vinella

Director

Date June 15 2009 By Is WILLIAM CLIFFORD

William Clifford

Director

Date June 15 2009 By Is JOHN NEMELKA

John Nemelka

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

3.01 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-27 163 3.1 5/4/00

Incorporation as amended by the Certificate of

Amendment dated April 18 2000

3.02 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended 33364552 4.02 7/3/01

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

April 18 2001

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended S-3 333-77068 4.03 1/18/02

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on

December 112001

3.04 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended 8-A 000-27 163 3.04 1/31/06

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

November 21 2005

3.05 Amended and Restated Bylaws as currently in 8-K 000-27 163 3.1 1/13/09

effect

3.06 Certificate of Designation of Series Junior 8-K 000-27163 3.01 1/31/06

Participating Preferred Stock as filed with the

Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27
2006

4.01 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-i/A 333-82587 4.01 9/21/99

4.02 Form of Rights Certificate 8-K 000-27163 4.01 1/31/06

4.03 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as 8-K 000-27163 4.1 1/13/09

of January 13 2009 by and between Kana

Software Inc and Computershare Trust Company
N.A

10.01 Kana Software Inc 1999 Stock Incentive Plan as lO-Q 000-27 163 10.01 11/14/06

amended

10.02 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.01 3/14/00

Plan

10.03 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.02 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement.4-year vesting

10.04 Kana Software Inc 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 99.03 3/14/00

PlanForm of Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement30-month vesting

10.05 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive lO-Q 000-27 163 10.02 11/14/06

Plan as amended

10.06 Broadbase Software Inc 2000 Stock Incentive S-8 333-32460 4.09 6/02/00

PlanRelated Forms of Agreement

10.07 Broadbase Software Inc 1999 Equity Incentive S-4/A 333-4896 4.09 11/09/00

Plan as amended November 2000
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.08 Kana Software Inc 1997 Stock Option PIan 5-1 333-82587 10.1 7/09/97

10.09 Lease Agreement dated December 23 1999 10-Q 000-27163 10.03 5/11/00

between Broadbase Software Inc and Bohannon

Trusts Partnership II

10.10 Amendment to Lease dated February 2007 10-K 000-27 163 10.10 5/15/09

between Bohannon Trusts Partnership II and Kana

Software Inc

10.11 Lease Agreement dated August 11 2000 between 0-Q 000-27163 10.4 11/13/00

Broadbase Software Inc and Robert

Wheatley and Roger Fields d.b.a

Properties

10.12 Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of 8-K 000-27163 99.1 11/21/02

Lease dated November 11 2002 between the

Registrant and Robert Wheatley and Roger

Fields d.b.a Properties

10.13 Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana 8-K/A 000-27163 99.01 12/13/01

Software Inc TCV IV L.P and TCV IV

Strategic Partners L.P dated as of November 28

2001

10.14 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated 10-K 000-27 163 10.20 3/19/04

December 10 2003 between Kana Software Inc

and IBM

10.15 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 6/30/05

dated as of June 25 2005 by and among Kana

Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RI-IP

Master Fund Ltd

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 8-K 000-27163 10.02 6/30/05

25 2005 by and among Kana Software Inc and

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.17 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana 8-K 000-27 163 10.03 6/30/05

Software Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as

of June 25 2005

10.18 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 8-K 000-27 163 10.01 10/03/05

dated as of September 29 2005 by and among
Kana Software Inc Nightwatch Capital Partners

LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP

Master Fund Ltd
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

10.19 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of 8-K 000-27163 10.02 10/03/05

September 29 2005 between Kana Software Inc

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.20 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana 8-K 000-27 163 10.03 10/03/05

Software Inc to Nightwatch Capital Partners LP

and NightWatch Capital Partners 11 LP in

connection with the Common Stock and Warrant

Purchase Agreement dated as of September 29

2005

10.21 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27 163 10.04 10/03/05

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd. in connection with

the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase

Agreement dated as of September 29 2005

10.22 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement 8-K 000-27163 10.05 10/03/05

dated September 29 2005

10.23 Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase 8-K 000-27163 10.06 10/03/05

Warrant issued by Kana Software Inc to

Nightwatch Capital Partners LP and NightWatch

dated September 29 2005

10.24 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 000-27 163 10.07 10/03/05

issued by Kana Software Inc to RHP Master Fund

Ltd dated September 29 2005

10.25 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27163 10.01 10/31/05

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.26 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27163 10.02 10/31/05

Inc to NightWatch Capital Partners II LP dated

October 25 2005 in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of

September 29 2005

10.27 Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software 8-K 000-27 163 10.03 10/31/05

Inc to RHP Master Fund Ltd dated October 25

2005 in connection with the Common Stock and

Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of September

29 2005

10.28 Second Amendment to Registration Rights 8-K 000-27163 10.01 5/11/06

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among Kana

Software Inc NightWatch Capital Partners LP
NightWatch Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master

Fund Ltd
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

First Amendment to Registration Rights

Agreement dated May 2006 by and among
Kana Software Inc NightWatch Capital

Partners LP NightWatch Capital Partners II LP

and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.30 Letter Agreement dated as of September 29

2005 by and among Kana Software Inc

NightWatch Capital Partners LP NightWatch

Capital Partners II LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd

10.31 Employment Offer Letter between Kana

Software Inc and Michael Fields dated as of

September 2005

10.32 Offer Letter to Jay Jones dated as of

August 14 2006

10.33 Employment Agreement dated May 2007

between Kana Software Inc and Mark

Angel

10.34 Offer Letter to Michael Shannahan dated as of

February 28 2008

10.35 Offer Letter to Daniel Turano dated July 18

2006

10.36 Description of Director Cash Compensation

Arrangements adopted April 20 2006

10.37 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security

Agreement dated March 28 2008 between Kana

Software Inc Bridge Bank N.A.

10.38 Patent License and Settlement Agreement dated

March 23 2007 between Kana Software Inc

and Polaris IP LLC.t

10.39 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security

Modification Agreement dated July 14 2008

10.40 Loan and Security Modification Agreement

dated March 17 2009

10.41 Loan and Security Modification Agreement

dated May 26 2009

10.42 Employment Agreement by and between Kana

Software Inc and Chad Wolf dated as of May
2007

21.01 List of subsidiaries of Registrant

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

24.01 Power of Attorney included on page 90 of the

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibit

Number

10.29

Filing

--

Filed

Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 000-27163 10.02 5/11/06

10-Q 000-27163 10.08 7/06/06

8-K/A 000-27163 10.01 11/23/05

10-Q 000-27163 10.03 11/14/06

10-Q 000-27 163 10.02 8/14/07

10-K 000-27 163 10.37 3/17/08

10-K/A 000-27 163 10.48 4/29/08

8-K 000-27163 10.01 4/25/06

10-K 000-27163 10.37 5/15/09

10-Q 000-27163 10.02 5/14/07

10-K 000-27163 10.39 5/15/09

10-K 000-27163 10.40 5/15/09

lO-Q 000-27163 10.41 5/28/09

10-K 000-27163 21.01 5/15/09

10-K 000-27163 23.01 5/15/09

10-K 000-27163 24.01 5/15/09

37



Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Herewith

31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31 .02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

These certifications accompany KANAs Annual Report on Form 10-K they are not deemed filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of KANA
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act whether made before or after the date hereof and

irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Filed by Broadbase Software Inc

Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to portions of the exhibit Such portions were filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION

Michael Fields Chief Executive Officer of the registrant certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Kana Software Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and Sd-i 5f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an Annual Report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated June 15 2009 Is MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION

Jay Jones Interim Chief Financial Officer of the registrant certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Kana Software Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 15d- 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an Annual Report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal conirol over financial reporting

Dated June 15 2009 Is JAY JONES

Jay Jones

Interim Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULE 13a-14b OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AND 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Kana Software Inc the Registrant on Form 10-K/A for the

annual period ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof the Report Michael Fields Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant certify in accordance with

Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that to the best of my

knowledge

The Report to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.01 fully complies with the

requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Dated June 15 2009 1sf MICHAEL FIELDS

Michael Fields

Chief Executive Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request



EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULE 13a-14b OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AND 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Kana Software Inc the Registrant on Form 10-K/A for the

annual period ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof the Report Jay Jones Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant certify in accordance

with Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that to the best of my

knowledge

The Report to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.02 fully complies with the

requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Dated June 15 2009 /5/ JAY JONES

Jay Jones

Interim Chief Financial Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will he retained by the Registrant and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request


